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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@raéwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporath and its consolidated subsidiaries. This
Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statementsahanot historical in nature, are predictive itun@, or that depend upon or refer to future
events or conditions or otherwise contain forwaroking statements within the meaning of Sectio®the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

as amended, and the Private Securities LitigatiefofRn Act of 1995. These include, among other thjrsiatements regarding:

our expectation that we will continue to acquirenpanies, products, services and technoloy

our beliefs regarding how our acquisitions, investis and innovations will help us achieve our -term strategic plan:
continued realization of gains or losses with respe our foreign currency exposur:

our expectation that our software and cloud bus’ total revenues generally will continue to incret

our belief that software license updates and prosiugport revenues and margins will grc

our expectation that our hardware business wileHawer operating margins as a percentage of regethan our software and cloud
business

our international operations providing a significportion of our total revenues and expen

our expectation that we will continue to make digant investments in research and developmentelated product opportunities,
including those related to hardware products amdaes, and our belief that research and developeféorts are essential to
maintaining our competitive positio

the sufficiency of our sources of funding for agjtions, dividends, stock repurchases and othetenss
our expectation that we will continue paying congte cash dividends on a quarterly bz

our belief that we have adequately provided for @asonably foreseeable outcomes related to owrudits and that any tax
settlement will not have a material adverse effecbur consolidated financial position or resuftejgerations, and our assumptions
regarding the potential U.S. income tax liabiligsaciated with any repatriation of our undistriltéarnings held by our foreign
subsidiaries

our estimates and current intentions regardingntiatiefuture goodwill impairment losses, if ar

our belief that the outcome of certain legal praiiegs and claims to which we are a party will modividually or in the aggregate,
result in losses that are materially in excesswdunts already recognized, if at

our expectations regarding the timing and amoumixpenses relating to the Fiscal 2015 Oracle Rasiting Plan and the improved
efficiencies in our operations that such Plan halVe;

the timing and amount of our stock repurcha
our expectation that seasonal trends will continuée future;

our expectation that we will continue to dependtord party manufacturers to build certain hardwsystems products and third party
logistics providers to deliver our produc

our expectation that to the extent customers rengwort contracts or cloud software as a servideptatform as a service contracts,
we will recognize revenues for the full contri values over the respective renewal perit

our ability to predict quarterly hardware systemsenues

the timing of customer orders and delays in oulitglib manufacture or deliver a few large trangats substantially affecting the
amount of hardware systems products revenues, sgp@md operating margins that we will rep

as well as other statements regarding our futuegatipns, financial condition and prospects, arsir®ss strategies. Forward-looking
statements may be preceded by, followed by or dethe words “expects,”
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LINTH ” LINTH

“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “sksg,” “estimates,” “will,” “should,” “is designed toand similar expressions. We claim the
protection of the safe harbor for forward-lookirigtements contained in the Private Securities afitin Reform Act of 1995 for all forward-
looking statements. We have based these forwaldAgstatements on our current expectations anggiions about future events. These
forward-looking statements are subject to riskgeutainties and assumptions about our businessadiiéd affect our future results and could
cause those results or other outcomes to diffeeradlly from those expressed or implied in the fardrlooking statements. Factors that might
cause or contribute to such differences includeabeinot limited to, those discussed in “Risk Begtincluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report and as may be updated in filings we makm fime to time with the U.S. Securities and Excla@gmmission (the SEC), including the
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by useun fiscal year 2016, which runs from June 1, 2@iMay 31, 2016.

We have no obligation to publicly update or re\asg forward-looking statements, whether as a reguiew information, future events or
risks, except to the extent required by applicakleurities laws. If we do update one or more fodAaoking statements, no inference shoul
drawn that we will make additional updates withpess to those or other forward-looking statemelesw information, future events or risks
could cause the forward-looking events we discnghis Annual Report not to occur. You should natp undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which reflect our expectationly as of the date of this Annual Report.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business

Oracle Corporation provides products and servicasdddress all aspects of corporate informatiohrtelogy (IT) environments—application,
platform and infrastructure—and are available tstemers either via cloud computing or premises deployment models. Our products inc
database and middleware software, application soéycloud infrastructure software and hardwaréesys (Oracle Engineered Systems,
servers, storage, networking and industry spepificlucts), along with support and related servigés offer over 400,000 worldwide
customers a choice of deployment models to bestteir needs including (1) the deployment of otoduicts via our Oracle Cloud offerings,
(2) the acquisition of Oracle products and servfoesn on-premises IT environment or (3) a mixhase two models.

For customers opting for a cloud computing modefd® offers a wide range of services in all tipgmary layers of the cloud: Software as a
Service (SaaS), Platform as a Service (PaaS) drabtructure as a Service (laaS). Our Oracle Clftetings are designed to be: rapidly
deployable to enable customers shorter time toviation; easily maintainable to reduce integratiod testing work; and cost effective by
requiring lower upfront customer investment. Oua€e Cloud offerings integrate the software, hamdvwend services on the customers’ behal
in IT environments that we deploy, support and rngarfar the customer. We are a leader in the catet@ogies of cloud IT environments,
including database and middleware software asage#interprise applications, virtualization, clusigrlarge-scale systems management and
related infrastructure. Our products and servicegtee building blocks of our Oracle Cloud servjaas partners’ cloud services and our
customers’ cloud IT environments.

In addition to offering a broad spectrum of cloudgucts and services, Oracle for decades has gmetknd sold its products and services to
our customers worldwide for use in their globalade¢nters and opremises IT environments. An important elementwfaorporate strategy

to continue our investments in, and innovation wébpect to, our products and services that we tffeugh our software and cloud, hardware
and services businesses. In fiscal 2015, 2014 @h8, 2ve invested $5.5 billion, $5.2 billion and $4illion, respectively, in research and
development to enhance our existing portfolio afdurcts and services and to develop new productsemvites. We have a deep understar
as to how all components within IT environments—agagion, platform and infrastructure—interact dndction with one another. We focus
our development efforts on improving the performegraperation and integration of these differindhtesdogies to make them more cost-
effective and easier to deploy, manage and maifdaiour customers and to improve their computiegigrmance relative to our competitors.
After purchasing Oracle products and servicesornsts can continue to take advantage of Oracls&areh and development investments an
deep IT expertise by purchasing and renewing Omagbport offerings, which may include product erdeanents that we periodically delivel
our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, PeopleSoftlanBdwards application software products, amoherst or by renewing their SaaS, PaaS
and laaS contracts with us.

Oracle customers are increasingly electing to heir iT environments using our suite of Oracle @aidferings. As customers deploy with the
Oracle Cloud, many are adopting a hybrid IT modetreby certain of their IT resources are deployatimanaged through the Oracle Cloud,
while other of their IT resources are deployed ar@haged on-premises, and both sets of resourcdsecamanaged as one. We focus the
engineering of our products and services to bewstect these different deployment models to endblébility, ease, agility, compatibility,
extensibility and seamlessness.

A selective and active acquisition program is aaptmportant element of our corporate strategy.deve our acquisitions enhance the
products and services that we can offer to custsnespand our customer base, provide greater srakxelerate innovation, contribute to our
revenues and earnings, and increase stockholdgz.Mal recent years, we have invested billionsafibds to acquire a number of companies,
products, services and technologies that add éoc@mnplementary to, or have otherwise enhancedxisting offerings. We expect to continue
to acquire companies, products, services and téotiies to further our corporate strategy.
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We have three businesses that deliver our apgitagplatform and infrastructure technologies: safeevand cloud, hardware systems, and
services. These businesses can be further dividedertain operating segments (Note 16 of Noté&3awsolidated Financial Statements,
included elsewhere in this Annual Report, providdditional information related to our operatingrsegts):

» our software and cloud business is comprised ektloperating segments: (1) new software licensgé€land software subscriptions,
which includes our SaaS and PaaS offerings, (2)dciofrastructure as a service and (3) softwaenke updates and product support.
Our software and cloud business represented 77%,afl 75% of our total revenues in fiscal 2015,428d4d 2013, respectivel

» our hardware systems business is comprised of pgoating segments: (1) hardware systems produdt¢2armardware systems
support. Our hardware systems business represg#¥adf our total revenues in each of fiscal 2018,£and 2013; an

» our services business is comprised of the remaiofdeur operating segments and offers consultimgiees, enhanced support servi
and education services. Our services businesssaqed 9%, 10% and 11% of our total revenues @alfid015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslawsre corporation and is the successor to opastioiginally begun in June 1977.

Application, Platform and Infrastructure Technologies

Oracle’s comprehensive portfolio of applicatiomtfilrm and infrastructure technologies addressrganization’s business, infrastructure and
development IT requirements. Our applications fptat and infrastructure technologies are based updunstry standards and are designed to
be enterprise grade, reliable, scalable and sereffer these technologies through our softwai doud, hardware and services businesse
and deliver them through flexible and interoperatdployment models that enable customer choicédbaatimeet customer IT needs.

Application and Platform Technologies

Our application and platform technologies consistamprehensive software and cloud offerings initigdbur SaaS and PaaS offerings, Oracl
Applications, Oracle Database, Oracle Fusion Middie and Java, among others, and related support.

Our application and platform technologies are sarislly built on standards-based architecturesdahadesigned to help customers reduce th
cost and complexity of their IT infrastructure. Gammitment to industry standards results in safévthat works in customer environments
with Oracle or non-Oracle hardware or software congmts and that can be adapted to meet specifistrydor business needs. This approach
is designed to support customer choice and redustermer risk. Our software offerings are substidntibesigned to operate on both single
server and clustered server configurations foralouon-premises IT environments, and to suppohace of operating systems including
Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Windows ahdd party UNIX products, among others.

Our application and platform technologies are mizdkesold and delivered through our software andabusiness, which includes our new
software licenses and cloud software subscriptsgggnent and software license updates and prodppbgusegment, among others. New
software licenses and cloud software subscriptiesnues represented 26% of our total revenuesdal 2015 and 28% in each of fiscal 2014
and 2013. Software license updates and produciosumyenues represented 49%, 47% and 46% of talrrevenues in fiscal 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

Application Technologie:

Our application technologies are available throtighpurchase of an on-premises software licens@aaubscription to our Oracle SaaS
offerings. Regardless of the deployment model seteour application technologies are designee@dace the risk, cost and complexity of our
customers’ IT infrastructures, while supportingtonser choice with flexible deployment models tresdily enable agility, compatibility and
extendibility.
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Our application technologies are designed usingdustry standards-based architecture to managawatodhate core business functions acros
the enterprise, as well as to help customers difftiaite and innovate in those processes unigueetoihdustries or organizations. In addition tc
applications that are deployable to meet a numbkusiness automation requirements across a besagerof industries, we also offer industry
specific applications through a focused strategypedéstments in internal development and stratagguisitions. Our industry specific
applications provide solutions to customers indgbmmunications, engineering and construction, fire@rservices, healthcare, hospitality and
retail, manufacturing, public and utilities sect@siong others. Our ability to offer applicationsatidress industry specific complex processes
provides us an opportunity to expand our custonersiviedge of our broader product offerings andrasisl customer specific technology
challenges.

Oracle Software as a Service (SaaS)

Our broad spectrum of SaaS offerings provides ousts a choice of software applications that arveledd via a cloud-based IT environment
that we host, manage and support. Our SaaS offearggbuilt upon open industry standards such ds $a and HTML5 for easier
application portability, integration and developmédur SaaS offerings include a broad suite of nergmext-generation cloud software
applications that span core business functionsidticg human capital management (HCM), customer mampee (CX), enterprise resource
planning (ERP), enterprise performance managens?¥lj and supply chain management (SCM), among ®thée also offer a number of
cloud-based industry solutions to address spewifitomer needs within certain industries.

We believe the comprehensiveness of our SaaSmffeprovides greater benefit to our customers #fetehtiates us from many of our
competitors that offer more limited or specializéoud-based applications. Our SaaS offerings asgded to be interoperable with one
another, thereby limiting the integration and tunaf multiple cloud applications from multiple veard. Our SaaS offerings are designed to
deliver secure data isolation and flexible upgradeH-service access controls for users, a Se@itented Architecture (SOA) for integration
with on-premises systems, built-in social, mobitel dusiness insight capabilities, and a high peréarce, high availability infrastructure basec
on our infrastructure technologies including Ordefgineered Systems. These SaaS capabilities signed to simplify IT environments and
enable customers to focus resources on busineastgopportunities.

Oracle Human Capital Management Cloud

Our HCM cloud applications are designed to be cetephnd integrated to help organizations find, gaow retain the best talent, enable
collaboration, provide complete workforce insighitgrease operational efficiency and enable petmpt®nnect from any device. Oracle HCM
Cloud delivers global human resources, workforeearels, workforce management and talent managenrd services.

Oracle Enterprise Resource Planning Cloud

Our ERP cloud applications are designed to be cei@ind integrated to help organizations achieg@bas insight, improve workforce
productivity and operate globally. Oracle ERP Claledivers financial management, financial reportimgocurement and project portfolio
management cloud services.

Oracle Customer Experience Cloud

Our CX cloud applications are designed to be cotefad integrated to help organizations deliverststant and personalized customer
experiences across all channels, touch pointsraadaictions. Our CX cloud applications include, agothers:

» Oracle Marketing Cloud, which is designed to peadiae customer experiences on a consistent platfotto increase customer
engagement, advocacy, and revenue generating pitissilusing crossshannel, content, and social marketing solutiorth imtegrate«
data management and activati

» Oracle Sales Cloud, which is designed to enabksgabms to engage with their customers earliet@gdnerate customer orders
more frequently via a platform that equips sal@sn® with processes, tools, resources, and intetiigéo leverage as a part of the sale
cycle;
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» Oracle Commerce Cloud, which is designed to ensdateire customer transactions through almost angeleo be scalable and to
support personalized customer experiences througfiomer search, merchandising, promotions, ancdenbnmanagement capabilitie

» Oracle Services Cloud, which is designed to prodidmified web, social, and contact center platftrat is used to understand
customer needs, to resolve customer problems aeudstare the delivery of accurate information tarsisand

» Oracle Configure, Price and Quote Cloud, whichesigned to help sales teams, channels, and ecomsigrs sell faster, more easily,
and more accurately through almost any de\
Oracle Enterprise Performance Management Cloud
Our EPM cloud applications are designed to be nateg to help organizations improve and simplifiegorise performance reporting and
enterprise planning processes. Oracle EPM Cloudatslfinancial and management reporting and plegnaind budgeting cloud services.
Oracle Supply Chain Management Cloud

Our SCM cloud applications are designed to helgoizations optimize their supply chain and innoyateducts quickly. Oracle SCM Cloud
delivers transportation and global trade managenmargntory and cost management, innovation managéeand product development cloud
services.

Oracle Cloud Industry Solutions

Oracle Cloud Industry Solutions are industry spe@faS applications that are designed to addnesdistinct requirements of the
communications, financial services, healthcarepttality and retail, manufacturing and utilitiescsars, among others.

Oracle Data as a Service

Oracle Data as a Service (DaaS) provides a cergthivay to source, manage and furnish externaltddtasiness users through a cloud sel
for marketing and customer intelligence purposeacte DaaS offerings connect business users aritaigns to a rich set of information to
inform business actions with a vendor-agnostic @a@in so customers can activate the data in ancagiplh or engine of choice.

Oracle Applications

We license Oracle Applications software for usenirpremises, data center and related IT environsrtertnanage and automate core busines
functions across the enterprise including humatitalagind talent management; customer experienceastdmer relationship management;
financial management and governance, risk and damgd; procurement; project portfolio managemepp$y chain management; business
analytics and enterprise performance managemediindustry specific applications, among others. Otacle Applications software strategy
is designed to provide customers with completeahand a secure path to benefit from the latebhtdogy advances.

Our Oracle Applications Unlimited program is Orasleommitment to ongoing investment and innovatioour current application offerings
including our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, Reqft and JD Edwards application software produatsong others. Since announcing the
Oracle Applications Unlimited program in 2005, wavh delivered major releases of all applicatiordpot lines by combining business
functionality with innovative technologies, providj customers with more adaptive industry procednesiness intelligence and optimal end-
user productivity.

Platform Technologies

Our comprehensive platform technologies includerige and subscription based database, middlewdr@earlopment software offerings
including Oracle Database software, the world’'s tpogular enterprise database, and Java, the cemipdustry’s most widely-used software
development language, among others.
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Our platform technologies are designed to providesi-effective, standards-based, high-performaietéorm for running and managing
business applications for midsize businesses, dsw/karge, global enterprises. Our customersrameasingly focused on reducing the total
cost of their IT infrastructure and we believe tbat platform technologies help them achieve tlialg

Our platform technologies are designed to accommeadiemanding, non-stop business environments ehistered middleware and database
servers and storage. These clusters are desigisedltincrementally as required to address ouomess’ IT capacity requirements, satisfy
their planning and procurement needs, support theimess applications with a standardized platfarchitecture, reduce their risk of data los:
and IT infrastructure downtime and efficiently it available IT resources to meet quality of seréxpectations.

Oracle Platform as a Service (PaaS)

Oracle PaaS is designed to deliver Oracle Datalasa,and other platform services in the clouchttbée developers to extend applications,
including Oracle Saa$S applications, or build newliaptions. Customers and partners can use our, gpemdards based platform services that
are based on Oracle WebLogic Server and our Obxaflabase Cloud service, including tools for ragiglization development, flexible cloud-
based file sharing and collaboration, intuitiveibass analysis and reporting, and mobile devicaectivity.

We believe our PaaS offerings are a large oppdstdoi us to expand our software and cloud busindssbelieve customers increasingly
recognize the value of access to Oracle DatabaseleOFusion Middleware and Java via a low coglidtg deployable, flexible and
interoperable services model that we manage andtanaion their behalf. We believe we can marketsalbour PaasS offerings to our
extensive installed base of database and middlegusmtemers, and current and future users of ounlpogava software development langu
among others.

Oracle Database Cloud Services

Oracle Database Cloud Service provides customéhsagtcess to the Oracle Database via a cloud camgpidt model and a customer choice
a dedicated database instance with direct netwamkections and full administrative control or aidated schema with a full development anc
deployment platform managed by Oracle.

Oracle Database Backup Service is a secure, seataidemand storage solution for backing up Ordatabases to an off-site storage locatio
in the cloud.

Oracle Business Intelligence Cloud Service

Oracle Business Intelligence Cloud Service is adibased, enterprise-class analytics platform feating business intelligence applications
that are designed to convert customer data intméss insight, upon which these customers can g@#inecision-making.

Oracle Java Cloud Service

Oracle Java Cloud Service is a complete platforchiafrastructure cloud solution for building, depileg and managing Java EE applications.
Oracle Java Cloud Service provides easy, rapidagild deployment of any Java application—all ondadmfrastructure provided by Oracle.
Oracle Developer Cloud Service

Oracle Developer Cloud Service is an easy-to-usenaatically provisioned enterprise developmentfptan deployed in the cloud that
supports the complete software development lifecycl

Oracle Documents Cloud Service

Oracle Documents Cloud Service is an enterprisel Jeontent collaboration solution that enablesrimfation to be accessed, uploaded and
shared via a cloud computing IT environment thgiressided and secured by Oracle.
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Oracle Messaging Cloud Service

Oracle Messaging Cloud Service is a cloud-basédbte messaging service that enables communicagbmeen software components both
on-premises and in the Oracle Cloud using stanidéedaces.

Oracle Database

We license our Oracle Database software to custmaiich is designed to enable reliable and sestorage, retrieval and manipulation of all
forms of data, including: transactional data, besminformation and analytics; semi-structuredamtructured data in the form of weblogs,
text, social media feeds, XML files, office docunteenmages, video and spatial images; and othaiamed forms of data, such as graph date
Oracle Database software is used for a varietyugigses, including with packaged applications amstam applications for transaction
processing, data warehousing and business intetd@and as a document repository or specializedslate. Security continues to be a critical
characteristic of the Oracle Database and ourtla&sion, Oracle Database 12c, includes a numi@raurity enhancements and new feature:s
including, among others, encryption of data in mticonditional auditing, real application secyréand transparent sensitive data protection.
All security capabilities available are compatiblith Oracle Database 12¢’s new Oracle Multitenaohidecture option, which enables
customers to quickly and efficiently address thigjue security requirements of each of their dataliastances.

A number of optional addn products are available with Oracle Databaserfrise Edition software to address specific custorequirements
including:

» a comprehensive portfolio of advanced defenseepthdsecurity solutions that safeguard data asdlbiece including Oracle Advanced
Security, Oracle Database Vault, and Oracle Dataldvig and Subsetting, as well as detective secapitipns including Oracle Audit
Vault and Database Firewall. Oracle Database sgaytions are designed to ensure data privacyepragainst insider threats, and
enable regulatory compliance for both Oracle am-Oracle database

 in the areas of cloud computing and consolidatiem pffer a new Oracle Multitenant software optibattis designed to make it easier
to consolidate multiple databases quickly and marthgm as a cloud service, which enables custotmeasily consolidate multiple
databases into one without changing their appboati Our Oracle Multitenant architecture optioreddfthe efficiency and cost savir
of managing many databases at one time, yet rataénisolation and resource prioritization of sepaidatabases that is necessary for
multitenant cloud services; al

* in the areas of performance and scalability, wero@iracle Real Application Clusters, Oracle DatadiasMemory, Oracle Advanced
Compression and Oracle Partitioning software opti@eploying Oracle Database Memory option with virtually any existing Oras
Database compatible application requires no agmicahanges as it is fully integrated with Orablgtabase’s scale-up, scale-out,
storage tiering, availability and security techryiés, which makes any Oracle-memory database enterp-ready.

In addition to Oracle Database, we also offer dfpliw of specialized database software productsddress particular customer requirements,
including the following:

» MySQL, the world’s most popular open source datapdssigned for high performance and scalabilitwelh applications and
embedded applications, available in Enterpriseyd&ted, Classic, Cluster and Community editic

» Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database, designed toataleal-time data management and transactionegeieg speeds for
performance-critical applications. Oracle TimesTreiMemory Database can serve as a cache to acee@racle Database and can
work as a standalone database at the applicaéai

» Oracle Berkeley DB, a family of open source, emladdig, relational, XML and key-value (NoSQL) datadmdesigned for developers
to embed within their applications and devices;

» Oracle NoSQL Database, a distributed key-valuebdasta designed for high availability and massivéabdiy of high volume
transaction processing with predictable -latency.
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Big Data

Oracle offers big data solutions to complementextdnd its Oracle Database software offerings.daig generally refers to a massive amoun
of unstructured, streaming and structured dataisted large that it is difficult to process usinaditional IT techniques. As businesses drive
more of their critical operations and informatioamagement through IT solutions, the volume of daita generated by businesses is increasit
at unprecedented levels.

We believe most businesses view big data as avagle source of business intelligence that cansiee to gain new insights into customer
behavior, anticipate future demand more accuragdign workforce deployment with business actifiyecasts and accelerate the pace of
operations, among others. Oracle offers a compedeportfolio of products and services to helpegmtises capture, manage, and analyze bi
data alongside an enterprise’s existing enterigkstreaming data.

Our big data solutions for capturing unstructusttbaming and structured data complement existitagl® Database environments and includ
Oracle NoSQL Database and popular open source a@tsuch as the Hadoop File System. Oracle Daggriaion and Oracle Big Data
Connectors are designed to easily and non-invasintdgrate data from Hadoop file systems or Or&td&QL databases and Oracle database
to enable a data warehouse to further organizéyzamanterpret, report on and act on informatioomf these high volume data sources.

We offer Oracle Business Analytics products thatdesigned to leverage big data and enterprisetalataable organizations to analyze the
data and discover new ways to strategize, plamnig® business operations and capture new marketramities. Oracle Business Analytics
products include data discovery software, entegerformance management and analytic applicatiiware, business intelligence software,
and predictive analytics and self-learning decisiptimization software. The Oracle Exalytics In-MamMachine is designed to run analytic
environments at optimal performance and scale, lwisieddeal for use with big data environments.

Oracle Fusion Middleware

We license our Oracle Fusion Middleware softwareictv is a broad family of integrated applicatiofrastructure software products. These
products are designed to form a reliable and skafalondation on which customers can build, deps@gure, access and integrate business
applications and automate their business proceBséswith our Java technology platform, Oraclestkan Middleware products can be used ac
a foundation for custom, packaged and compositécapipns—or applications that can be deployediaud environments.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is designed taqmt customers’ IT investments and work with b@tlacle and non-Oracle database,
middleware and application software through itsropechitecture and adherence to industry stand8mixcifically, Oracle Fusion Middleware
software is designed to enable customers to inte@eacle and non-Oracle business applicationsy@ate business processes, scale
applications to meet customer demand, simplify sgcand compliance, manage lifecycles of documants get actionable, targeted business
intelligence; all while continuing to utilize thedisting IT systems. In addition, Oracle Fusiordieware software supports multiple
development languages and tools, which enabledafsrs to build and deploy web services, websfiegals and web-based applications.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is availableamious software products and suites, includingoiewing:

» Oracle WebLogic Server and Oracle Cloud Applicatt@undation, designed to be the most complete;didsteed platform for
developing cloud application

» Oracle SOA Suite of software products used to eredgploy and manage applications on a Se-Oriented Architecture

» Oracle Data Integration software products, whighdesigned to enable pervasive and continuous ateé¢isnely and trusted data
across heterogeneous systems, including real-tmddalk data movement, transformation, bi-direciaeplication, data services and
data quality for customer and product doma
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» Oracle Business Process Management Suite softwadeqts that are designed to enable businessdd gndfessionals to design,
implement, automate and evolve business processksarkflows within and across organizatio

» Oracle WebCenter software products, a completefsgeb experience management, portals, content gegment and social networks
software, designed to help people work togethernadficiently through contextual collaboration tedhat optimize connections
between people, information and applications arehture users have access to the right informatithe context of the business
process in which they are engag

» Oracle Business Intelligence Suite, a comprehersavef analytic software products designed to igeeustomers with the
information they need to make better business merss

» Oracle Identity Management software, which is des@jto enable customers to manage internal andhekigsers, to secure corporate
information from potential software threats andti@amline compliance initiatives while lowering ttotal cost of their security and
compliance initiatives; an

» Development Tools for application development, dase development and business intelligence, ingju@iracle JDeveloper, an
integrated software environment designed to fatditrapid development of applications using Or&cigion Middleware and popular
open source technologie

Mobile Computing

Among its other middleware offerings, Oracle pr@dd wide range of software for mobile computingddress the development needs of
businesses that are increasingly focused on deliyenobile device applications to their customé&@. example, Oracle Mobile Platform
enables developers to build and extend enterppigkcations for popular mobile devices from a siengbde base. Oracle Mobile Platform
supports access to native device services, enafflie® applications and is designed to protecegmise investments from future technology
shifts. Oracle Mobile Security offers comprehengivebile identity and application management fovsioning of trusted access. Oracle
Business Intelligence Mobile provides businesdligence functionality, from interactive dashboatddocation intelligence, while enabling
users to initiate business processes from a mdbilee.

Java

Java is the computer industry’s most widely-usdtivere development language and is viewed as aagkibndard. The Java programming
language and platform together represent one ahtb& popular and powerful development environmantse world, one that is used by
millions of developers globally to develop businapslications. Oracle Fusion Middleware softwaredpicts and certain of our Oracle
Applications are built using our Java technologgtfoirm, which we believe is a key advantage fortlmsiness.

Java is designed to enable developers to writevaodton a single platform and run it on many otliferent platforms, independent of
operating system and hardware architecture. Javaden adopted by both independent software verii®v3 that have built their products on
Java and by enterprise organizations building eastpplications or consuming Java-based ISV products

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’raumeestments in Oracle application and platfoechnologies by offering proactive and
personalized support services, including Oracletiriie Support and product enhancements and upgradfiware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades and maintenance releases and pattbasac during the term of the support
period. Product support includes internet and tedep access to technical support personnel logatear global support centers, as well as
internet access to technical content through “Mgclr Support”Software license updates and product support atieteae generally priced
a percentage of the net new software license Sdsstantially all of our customers purchase softiaense updates and product support
contracts when they acquire new software licensds@new their software license updates and proslymport contracts annually.
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Cloud Infrastructure as a Service (laaS)

Our Oracle laaS offerings, which are a part of snftware and cloud business and represented 2&tadfrévenues in fiscal 2015 and 1% of
total revenues in each of fiscal 2014 and 2013yigeodeployment and management offerings for ofimswe and hardware and related IT
infrastructure, including:

» comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services for customer IT infrastructore stated term that is
hosted at our Oracle data center facilities, sqladiner data centers or physically-premises at customer facilitie

« virtual machine instance services in which we dgpdecure, provision, manage and maintain certe@uohardware products for our
customers to provide them with a set of cloud-based infrastructure capabilities like elastic cartgpand storage services to run
workloads in the cloud; ar

» hardware and related support services offeringsda@in of our Oracle Engineered Systems thatlepboyed at our customers’ data
centers for a monthly fee that includes the optibalastic compute capacity on demand and OraclénRim and PlatinumPlus
Services for a higher level of support and advisagices designed to ensure these hardware peodotin configured and tuned
correctly with quarterly automated assessmentpddiormance, availability and securi

Infrastructure Technologies

Oracle infrastructure technologies consist of andiwvare systems products including Oracle Engink8gstems, servers, storage, networking
industry specific hardware, virtualization softwapperating systems, management software and ddiatelware services including support.
We also offer Oracle laaS, which provides elastimpute and storage capabilities, among others.

Our infrastructure technologies help customers mamgowing amounts of data and business requiremerget increasing compliance and
regulatory demands and reduce energy, space angtiopal costs. Our infrastructure technologiespsupmany of the world’s largest on-
premises and cloud IT environments, including thad Cloud. Our infrastructure technologies arsgteed to seamlessly connect on-
premises and cloud IT environments to further emalieroperability, interchangeability and exterildip We design our infrastructure
technologies to work in customer environments thay include other Oracle or non-Oracle hardwargoftivare components. Our flexible and
open approach provides Oracle customers with adtmarage of choices in how they deploy our infrasiee technologies, which we believe is
a priority for our customers.

We focus the operation and integration of our isifnacture technologies to make them easier to gieptlanage and maintain for our customer:
and to improve computing performance relative toammpetitors’ offerings. For example, our OracteglBeered Systems are designed to
integrate multiple Oracle technology componentwaok together to deliver improved performance, kiity, security and operational
efficiency relative to our competitors’ producthiebe same Oracle technology components are tegfethér and supported together to
streamline system deployment and maintenance cylesalso engineer our hardware systems with \ir@@on and management capabilities
to enable the rapid deployment and efficient mamaage of cloud and on-premises IT infrastructures.

Our infrastructure technologies are substantiallykated, sold and delivered through our hardwasinless, which includes our hardware
systems products segment and hardware systemsrsgpgment. Our hardware systems products reveepessented 8% of our total
revenues in each of fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013.Hatdware systems support revenues represented 66 ttal revenues in each of fiscal
2015, 2014 and 2013.
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Oracle Engineered Systems

Oracle Engineered Systems are core to our infretstrel technology offerings and are important eleiehour data center and cloud
computing offerings including the Oracle Cloud. $éreintegrated products are designed to integrate piel@®racle technology compone
to work together to deliver improved performancaitability, security and operational efficiencyatve to our competitors’ products, to be
upgraded effectively and efficiently and to simplihaintenance cycles by providing a single soluf@rsoftware patching. They are tested
before they are shipped to customers and delivexadly-to-run, enabling customers to shorten the torproduction. Oracle’s Engineered
Systems include:

Servers

Oracle Exadata Database Machine, a family of irtiegr software and hardware products that combimedatabase, storage and
operating system software with our server, stomgknetworking hardware and is designed to proaitligh performance database
system for online transaction processing and datakwousing application

Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, an engineered systerhcombines Oracle Fusion Middleware softwarth wur server, storage and
networking hardware to run Java and -Java applications and provide customers with atiggtipns platform for cloud computin

Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machine, a single seret is designed to be configured fommemory analytics for business intellige
workloads;

Oracle SuperCluster, a general purpose enginegstehs that combines the optimized database perfwenaf Oracle Exadata store
and the accelerated middleware and applicationgssiog of the Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud on AB@/Solaris platform

Oracle Private Cloud Appliance, an engineered systelivering converged infrastructure for virtualizenvironments that is designed
to be simple to use, rapidly deployable and capabtanning almost any application built upon Lindicrosoft Windows or Oracle
Solaris operating systen

Oracle Database Appliance, an integrated, faulieassystem of database, operating system artdalization software, servers,
storage and networking hardware in a single bokithéesigned to deliver high availability databasevices for a wide range of
homegrown and packaged online transaction proag$8hTP) and data warehousing applicatic

Oracle Big Data Appliance, a scalable, engineeystbm designed for acquiring, organizing and logdinstructured data into a
Hadoop file system or Oracle NoSQL Database anidmgity integrating that data with Oracle Databagdw key components of a |
data platform are integrated into the Oracle BigaD®ppliance to reduce deployment, integration mxahagement risks in comparison
to custor-built solutions; anc

Oracle Zero Data Loss Recovery Appliance, an emgetesystem that is integrated with Oracle Databasdds designed to eliminate
data loss exposure for databases without impagptiaduction environment:

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&RC microprocessor, which are designed to beréiffigated by their reliability, security
and scalability. Our SPARC-based T5 mid-range seamd M6 high-end servers, for example, are design®ffer better performance and
lower total cost of ownership than mainframe systéon business critical applications and for custsrhaving more computationally intens
needs. Measurably increasing computing performandereliability, these servers are ideal platfofarsuilding cloud computing IT
environments. We also offer servers using micropseors from Intel Corporation (Intel). By offeringstomers a range of microprocessors
intend to offer our customers maximum flexibility ¢hoosing the types of hardware systems thatlibbgve will be most appropriate and
valuable for their particular IT environments.

Our SPARC servers run the Oracle Solaris operatystem and are designed for mission critical enapenvironments. SPARC servers are
also a core component of the Oracle SuperClusterpobour Oracle Engineered Systems.
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Our Intel-based enterprise x86 servers are compatiith Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Wdiows and other operating systems. Our
x86 servers are also a core component of manyroDoacle Engineered Systems including Oracle ExabDatabase Machine, Oracle Exalogic
Elastic Cloud, Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machirmedahe Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Storage

Our storage products are designed to securely neapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive sofveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems enviranimeéOur storage products are designed to imprate alvailability by providing fast da
access and dynamic data protection for back-ugestdration and secure archiving for compliance. €dorage products are co-engineered
with Oracle software and designed to provide pemtorce benefits for our customers in Oracle DatabadeOracle Applications environmer
as well as to work with multi-vendor applicationdasystems environments to maximize performancesfficdiency while minimizing
management overhead and lowering the total costvokrship.

Our Oracle ZFS Storage Appliance is designed todwg Network Attached Storage (NAS) performance madiageability and lower total
cost of ownership by combining our advanced stomgmrating system with high-performance controJlBiRAM and flash-based caches and
disks. The foundation of our Oracle FS1 flash gfersystem, targeted at flash Storage Area Netw®AN] environments, is a patented quality
of-service architecture designed to meet busingssat service level agreements for dynamic, mafiplication workloads and enable
customers to consolidate storage applicationsdrgimgle data center storage solution.

Our tape storage product line includes Oracle §®Fek libraries, drives, virtualization systemsdimeand associated software packages that
provide data lifecycle management, deep analytidsfide access through the familiar “drag-and-drpptadigm. In addition to serving in tape’
traditional role as enterprise data backup, thesdyzts are intended to provide robust, scalallgisas at a lower total cost of ownership for
long-term data archiving and preservation in vattiodustries such as communications, energy, ineg and internet, among others.

Networking and Data Center Fabric Produc

Our networking and data center fabric productduitiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Infd@nd and Ethernet products, are used
with our server and storage products and are iatedrinto our management tools to help enterpriseomers improve infrastructure
performance, reduce cost and complexity and sinptifirage and server connectivity.

Industry Specific Hardware Offering:

We offer hardware products and services designesbfecific industries. Our point-of-sale hardwafferings include point-of-sale terminals
and related hardware that are designed for mandugisigesses within the food and beverage, hotetetad industries, among others. Our
hardware products and services for communicatietsarks include network signaling, policy contraldasubscriber data management
solutions, and session border control technologgrey others.

Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux Operating Systemsrtualization and Other Hardware-Related Software

The Oracle Solaris operating system is designguideide a reliable, secure and scalable operatisgem environment through significant
kernel feature development, networking, security] file system technologies as well as close imtégm with hardware features. This design
provides us with an ability to combine Oracle Sislarith our own hardware components to achieveageferformance and efficiency
advantages in comparison to our competitors. Theel®iSolaris operating system is based on the Uipk¢ating system, but is unique among
UNIX systems in that it is available on our SPAREZvers and x86 servers. We also support OracleiSaleployed on other companies’
hardware products.
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The Oracle Linux operating system with Oracle’s téatkable Enterprise Kernel is a Linux operatingeysfor enterprise workloads including
databases, middleware and applications. Oracletgaskable Enterprise Kernel is designed to work wigh Oracle products and enables
users to patch core operating systems without dovent

Oracle provides a broad portfolio of virtualizatisolutions from the desktop to the data centercl@rdM is server virtualization software for
both Oracle SPARC and x86 servers and supports@atble and non-Oracle applications. Oracle VMwaft is designed to enable different
applications to share a single physical systenmifginer utilization and efficiency and simplify setire deployment by enabling pre-configured
software images to be created and rapidly depleyittbut installation or configuration errors. Indition, Oracle Solaris 11 provides
comprehensive, built-in virtualization capabilities both SPARC and x86 servers, networking antagi® resources.

In addition to Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux @tierg systems and Oracle’s virtualization software,also develop a range of other
hardware-related software, including developmealstaccompilers, management tools for servers amdge, diagnostic tools and file systems.

Management Softwar

Oracle invests in a range of management technaagid products in order to meet the needs of cus®huilding and efficiently operating
complex IT environments, including both end usarsg] service providers’ cloud environments. OracieeEprise Manager is a comprehensive
management solution for all Oracle infrastructptatform and applications technologies and provatemtegrated view of the entire IT
lifecycle including deployment, monitoring, ancelifycle management. Oracle Enterprise Manager capjtied to traditional on-premises,
cloud, and hybrid cloud environments in a seamieasner via a single interface, which acceleratstocoer deployment of and transition to
the cloud with Oracle products. Oracle also enhsiacel integrates with certain key open technolagiesiding OpenStack, which is broadly
supported by Oracle products for customers thatiregeamless integration with this method of clmahagement and provisioning. The
combination of Oracle’s comprehensive solutionsiardstments in open standards allows Oracle custoio manage Oracle products
efficiently across a range of IT offerings fromditgonal on-premises environments to the most adedrtloud architectures.

Hardware Systems Suppc

Our hardware systems support offerings provideotuets with software updates for software componisisare essential to the functionality
of our hardware products, such as Oracle Soladscartain other software products, and can inchrdduct repairs, maintenance services anc
technical support services. We continue to evobsellvare systems support processes that are intémgedactively identify and solve quality
issues and to increase the amount of new and reheardware systems support contracts sold in cdiomewith the sales of our hardware
systems products. Hardware systems support cosiaetgenerally priced as a percentage of theandiMare systems products fees.

Services

We offer services solutions to help customers arthprs maximize the performance of their investimenOracle application, platform and
infrastructure technologies. We believe our sewviae differentiated based on our focus on Oradertologies, extensive experience and
broad sets of intellectual property and best ptastiOur services business represented 9%, 10%18aaf our total revenues in fiscal 2015,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Our services busingsish is comprised of the remainder of our opegiegments, offers the following:

» consulting services that are designed to help ostoeners and global system integrator partners sugeessfully architect and deploy
our products, including IT strategy alignment, eptise architecture planning and design, initi@darct implementation and
integration, and ongoing product enhancements pgcades. We utilize a global, blended delivery neadeptimize value for our
customers and partners, consisting of on-premisesuitants from local geographies, industry spestgaand consultants from our
global delivery and solution cente
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» advanced customer support services, which are gedvdn-premises and remotely to our customersablernincreased performance
and higher availability of their Oracle productslaervices; an

» education services for Oracle products and seryvioekiding training and certification programstthge offered to customers, partners
and employees through a variety of formats, incigdnstructor led classes at our education ceriteesyirtual training, self-paced
online training, private events and custom train

Marketing and Sales

We directly market and sell our products and ses/to businesses of many sizes and in many indssgovernment agencies and educations
institutions. We also market and sell our prodticteugh indirect channels. No single customer actzifor 10% or more of our total
revenues in fiscal 2015, 2014 or 2013.

In the United States, our sales and services erapigire based in our headquarters and in fieldesfthroughout the country. Outside the
United States, our international subsidiaries sefhport and service our products and offeringhéir local countries as well as within other
foreign countries where we do not operate throudhext sales subsidiary. Our geographic coverdige/sius to draw on business and
technical expertise from a global workforce, pr@gdtability to our operations and revenue streaméfset geography specific economic
trends and offers us an opportunity to take adggntd new markets for our products. Our internatl@perations subject us to certain risks,
which are more fully described in “Risk Factorstlinded in Item 1A of this Annual Report. A summaifyour domestic and international
revenues and long-lived assets is set forth in N6tef Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemertluded elsewhere in this Annual Report.

We also market our products worldwide through iedichannels. The companies that comprise ourdaidadhannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. The Oracle Partner Netis a global program that manages our busireationships with a large, broad-based
network of companies, including independent sofenaard hardware vendors, system integrators antierssiihat deliver innovative solutions
and services based upon our product offerings.fi&ying our partners access to our product offesjreglucational information, technical
services, marketing and sales support, the Oraotmé Network program extends our market reacprbyiding our partners with the
resources they need to be successful in delivaohgions to customers globally. The majority of bardware systems products are sold
through indirect channels including independentritlistors and value added resellers.

Seasonality and Cyclicality

Our quarterly revenues have historically been &féby a variety of seasonal factors, includingstiacture of our sales force incentive
compensation plans, which are common in the tedyydhdustry. Our total revenues and operating margre typically highest in our fourth
fiscal quarter and lowest in our first fiscal qeartThe operating margins of our businesses arergky affected by seasonal factors in a sin
manner as our revenues (in particular, our newso# licenses and cloud software subscriptions sagjnas certain expenses within our cost
structure are relatively fixed in the short terreeSSelected Quarterly Financial Data” in Item #ho$é Annual Report for a more complete
description of the seasonality and cyclicality af cevenues, expenses and margins.

Competition

We face intense competition in all aspects of ausitess. The nature of the IT industry createsnapetitive landscape that is constantly
evolving as firms emerge, expand or are acquireteehnology evolves and as customer demands amgetitive pressures otherwise change.

Our customers are demanding less complexity andrdetal cost in the implementation, sourcing, gméion and ongoing maintenance of t
enterprise software and hardware systems. Ourgigersoftware and cloud and hardware offeringspimdirectly with some offerings from
some of the largest and most competitive companigee world, including Microsoft Corporation (Misoft), International Business Machir
Corporation (IBM), Intel, Hewlett-Packard Compatif) and SAP AG and smaller companies like
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salesforce.com, inc. and Workday, Inc., as wethasy others. In addition, due to the low barriersiitry in many of our market segments,
new technologies and new and growing competit@guently emerge to challenge our offerings. Ourmetitors range from companies
offering broad IT solutions across many of our dieé business to vendors providing point solutiarmfferings focused on a specific
functionality, product area or industry. In additi@as we expand into new market segments, we ad# fncreased competition as we will
compete with existing competitors, as well as fitiret may be partners in other areas of our busiaed other firms with whom we have not
previously competed like Amazon.com, Inc. Moreoweg,or our competitors may take certain strategimas—including acquisitions,
partnerships and joint ventures, or repositionihgroduct lines—which invite even greater competitin one or more product categories.

Key competitive factors in each of the segmentshiich we currently compete and may compete in titré include: total cost of ownership,
performance, scalability, reliability, securitynfttionality, efficiency, ease of management andityuaf technical support. Our product and
service sales (and the relative strength of oudyets and services versus those of our competi#wesalso directly and indirectly affected by
the following, among other things:

» the adoption of cloud based IT offerings includgéaftware as a service, platform as a service anasimucture as a service offeriny
* total cost of ownershig
» ease of deployment, use and maintenance of ouupt®dnd services offering

» compatibility between Oracle products and servisggoyed within on-premises IT environments andipuboud IT environments,
including our Oracle Cloud environmen

 the adoption of commaodity servers and microproass

 the broader “platformtompetition between our industry standard Javani@olgy platform and the .NET programming environteh
Microsoft;

» operating system competition among our Oracle $oéard Linux operating systems, with alternativeduding Microsoft's Windows
Server, and other UNIX and Linux operating syste

 the adoption of open source alternatives to comialesoftware by enterprise software custom
» products, features and functionality developedrivetly by customers and their IT sta

» products, features or functionality customized emplemented for customers by consultants, systategiators or other third parties;
and

* attractiveness of offerings from business procegssutsourcers
For more information about the competitive risksfage, refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” includedealhere in this Annual Report.

Manufacturing

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrdernal manufacturing operations as well agltparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgjicontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers, storage systems and networking pradeectsll other manufacturing, we
generally rely on third party manufacturing partter produce our hardware related components amiivage products and we may involve
internal manufacturing operations in the final asisly, testing and quality control processes fostheomponents and products. We distribute
most of our hardware products either from our faesd or partner facilities. Our manufacturing peeses substantially are based on
standardization of components across product tyqegralization of assembly and distribution cestard a “build-to-order” methodology in
which products generally are built only after cmséns have placed firm orders. Production of oudWware products requires that we purchase
materials, supplies, product subassemblies an@d$skmblies from a number of vendors. For mostiohardware products, we have existing
alternate sources of supply or such sources adiyevailable.
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However, we do rely on sole sources for certaiowfhardware products. As a result, we continusvaduate potential risks of disruption to
supply chain operations. Refer to “Risk Factorg€luded in Item 1A within this Annual Report for atiohal discussion of the challenges we
encounter with respect to the sources and avatiabil supplies for our products and the relatetgito our business.

Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our produatsrnally. In addition, we have extended our prcicbfferings and intellectual property
through acquisitions of businesses and technolofiesalso purchase or license intellectual propegtyts in certain circumstances. Internal
development allows us to maintain technical cortk@r the design and development of our producesh@éve a number of United States and
foreign patents and pending applications thatedtatarious aspects of our products and technolyle we believe that our patents have
value, no single patent is essential to us or yoadour principal business segments. Researctdamdlopment expenditures were $5.5 billion,
$5.2 billion and $4.9 billion in fiscal 2015, 20a4d 2013, respectively, or 14% of total revenudisal 2015 and 13% of total revenues in
each of fiscal 2014 and 2013. Rapid technologidahaces in hardware and software development, expbtandards in computer hardware
and software technology, changing customer needisraquent new product introductions and enhancéseraracterize the software and
cloud and hardware markets in which we competepl&fe to continue to dedicate a significant amodmesources to research and
development efforts to maintain and improve ourenirproduct and services offerings.

Employees

As of May 31, 2015, we employed approximately 180,€ull-time employees, including approximatelyB®) in sales and marketing,
approximately 11,000 in software license updatesmnduct support, approximately 6,000 in our cl@aAS, PaaS and laaS operations,
approximately 1,000 in the manufacturing of ourdweare systems products, approximately 5,000 invharel systems support, approximately
23,000 in services, approximately 38,000 in redeara development and approximately 13,000 in gémed administrative positions. Of
these employees, approximately 49,000 were employdte United States and approximately 83,000 wenployed internationally. None of
our employees in the United States is representedi@bor union; however, in certain foreign sulzsiés labor unions or workers’ councils
represent some of our employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporisForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdgto those reports filed
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seesifiixchange Act of 1934, as amended, are availfibleof charge, on our Investor Relati
website at www.oracle.com/investor as soon as redsyp practicable after we electronically file sunhterial with, or furnish it to, the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission (SE@)infbrmation posted on or accessible through alysite is not incorporated into this
Annual Report.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Safra A. Cat: Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Mark V. Hurd Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Lawrence J. Ellisol Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors ande€hechnology Office
Jeffrey O. Henle Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Direct

Thomas Kuriar President, Product Developme

John Fowlel Executive Vice President, Systel

Dorian E. Daley Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sy

William Corey Wes Executive Vice President, Corporate Controller @mikf Accounting Office

Ms. Catz, 53, has been our Chief Executive Offgirce September 2014. She served as our Presidentlanuary 2004 to September 2014,
our Chief Financial Officer most recently from A@2D11 until September 2014 and a Director sinctoer 2001. She was previously our
Chief Financial Officer from November 2005 until@dember 2008 and our Interim Chief Financial Offirem April 2005 until July 2005.
Prior to being named our President, she held vartiier positions with us since joining Oracle @99. She also currently serves as a directol
of HSBC Holdings plc.

Mr. Hurd, 58, has been our Chief Executive Offisiice September 2014. He served as our PresidentSeptember 2010 to September 2014
and a Director since September 2010. Prior tofgjnis, he served as Chairman of the Board of Qirea@f HP from September 2006 to
August 2010 and as Chief Executive Officer, Prasided a member of the Board of Directors of HPnfulapril 2005 to August 2010.

Mr. Ellison, 70, has been our Chairman of the Baard Chief Technology Officer since September 26{eiserved as our Chief Executive
Officer from June 1977, when he founded Oraclei] Geptember 2014. He has served as a Directoe shane 1977. He previously served as
our Chairman of the Board from May 1995 to JanzQ94.

Mr. Henley, 70, has served as our Vice ChairmaheBoard since September 2014. He previously deageour Chairman of the Board from
January 2004 to September 2014 and has serveDiasctor since June 1995. He served as our Exexittive President and Chief Financial
Officer from March 1991 to July 2004.

Mr. Kurian, 48, has been our President, Productel@ment since January 2015. He served as our Exedlice President, Product
Development from July 2009 until January 2015. Eivad as our Senior Vice President of Developmamh fFebruary 2001 until July 2009.
Mr. Kurian worked in Oracle Server Technologied/a President of Development from March 1999 uR¢ibruary 2001. He also held
various other positions with us since joining Oesicl 1996.

Mr. Fowler, 54, has been Executive Vice Presidépstems since February 2010. Prior to Oracle’siaitaun of Sun Microsystems, Inc.,
Mr. Fowler served as Sun’s Executive Vice Presid8pstems Group from May 2006 to February 201&xasutive Vice President, Network
Systems Group from May 2004 to May 2006 and asfQi@ehnology Officer, Software Group from July 20@2Viay 2004.

Ms. Daley, 56, has been our Executive Vice Presjdgéeneral Counsel and Secretary since April 201tbveas our Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary from October 20@ptid 2015. She served as our Vice President, Lefysdociate General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary from June 2004 to October 289Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secfedan October 2001 to June 2004 ¢
as Associate General Counsel from February 20@ctober 2001. She held various other positions wstlsince joining Oracle’s Legal
Department in 1992.

Mr. West, 53, has been our Executive Vice Presjdeotporate Controller and Chief Accounting Offisémce April 2015. He served as our
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting Officer from February 2008 to AprP5 and served as our Vice President,
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officesrh April 2007 to February 2008. His previous exgece includes 14 years with Arthur
Andersen LLP, most recently as a partner.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in rapidly changing economic and teatgichl environments that present numerous riskeyméwhich are driven by factors that
we cannot control or predict. The following disdoss as well as our “Critical Accounting PoliciesdaEstimates” discussion in Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations (Iltem 7), highlights soméhese risks. The risks described below
not exhaustive and you should carefully considesérisks and uncertainties before investing inseaurities.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our business, results of operations dimdhncial condition, including our
revenue growth and profitability, which in turn cdd adversely affect our stock price. Our business is influenced by a range of factioat
are beyond our control and that we have no comparatlvantage in forecasting. These include:

» general economic and business conditi

» overall demand for enterprise software, cloud a@ffgs, hardware systems and servi
» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending priorities; a

» general political developmen

Macroeconomic developments like the continued glaae of economic recovery in Europe and partsefihited States, Asia and South
America could negatively affect our business, ofpegaresults, financial condition and outlook, winién turn, could adversely affect our stock
price. Any general weakening of, and related déedjrcorporate confidence in, the global economghercurtailment of government or
corporate spending could cause current or potetuigtomers to reduce or eliminate their informaterhnology (IT) budgets and spending,
which could cause customers to delay, decreasanmet purchases of our products and services seagaustomers not to pay us or to delay
paying us for previously purchased products andces.

In addition, political unrest in places like UkrajrSyria and Iraq and the related potential impaaglobal stability, terrorist attacks and the
potential for other hostilities in various partstioé world, potential public health crises and reltdisasters continue to contribute to a climate
of economic and political uncertainty that couldexdely affect our results of operations and fim@mondition, including our revenue growth
and profitability. These factors generally have strengest effect on our sales of new softwarenfies, hardware systems products, hardware
systems support and related services and, to @rlegtent, also may affect our renewal rates féimswe license updates and product support
and our subscription-based cloud offerings.

We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&isanges in currency exchange rates can adversdéfgct customer demand and our
revenue and profitability. We conduct a significant number of transactiang hold cash in currencies other than the U.3ab&hanges in
the values of major foreign currencies, particyldne Euro, Japanese Yen and British Pound, relatithe U.S. Dollar can significantly affect
our total assets, revenues, operating results astd flows, which are reported in U.S. Dollars. #mtjgular, the economic uncertainties relating
to European sovereign and other debt obligations caase the value of the Euro to fluctuate relativthe U.S. Dollar. Fluctuations in foreign
currency rates, most notably the recent strengtigenf the U.S. Dollar against the Euro, adverséflgcts our revenue growth in terms of the
amounts that we report in U.S. Dollars after cotimgrour Euro-based results into U.S. Dollars anterms of actual demand for our products
and services as these products become relativaly expensive for Euro-based enterprises to purchas&dition, currency variations can
adversely affect margins on sales of our product®untries outside of the United States. Generally revenues and operating results are
adversely affected when the dollar strengthensivel#o other currencies and are positively affdatdren the dollar weakens. In addition, our
reported assets generally are adversely affectes wie dollar strengthens relative to other cuismnas a significant portion of our
consolidated cash and bank deposits, among otketsasire held in foreign currencies. The U.Sadalirengthened relative to other currenc
including the Euro, in fiscal 2015, which is retied in our results.

Certain of our international subsidiaries operatedonomies that have been designated as higieyianfary. We have incurred foreign
currency losses associated with the devaluati@muencies in these highly inflationary economiglative to the U.S. Dollar and we may
continue to incur such losses in these countriegh®r emerging market countries where we do basine
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In addition, we incur foreign currency transactgains and losses, primarily related to sublicerss find other intercompany agreements
among us and our subsidiaries that we expect to s=ttle in the near term, which are charged agearings in the period incurred. We have
a program which primarily utilizes foreign currerfoyward contracts designed to offset the risk®eissed with certain foreign currency
exposures. We may suspend the program from tirtimén As a part of this program, we enter into fgnecurrency forward contracts so that
increases or decreases in our foreign currencysexpe are offset at least in part by gains or kbesethe foreign currency forward contracts in
an effort to mitigate the risks and volatility asgded with our foreign currency transaction gaingosses. A large portion of our consolidated
operations are international, and we expect thawileontinue to realize gains or losses with msto our foreign currency exposures, net of
gains or losses from our foreign currency forwasdtcacts. For example, we will experience foreigrrency gains and losses in certain
instances if it is not possible or cost effectiwédhedge our foreign currency exposures, if our hrefgfforts are ineffective, or should we
suspend our foreign currency forward contract progrOur ultimate realized loss or gain with respeaurrency fluctuations will generally
depend on the size and type of cross-currency expsshat we enter into, the currency exchange essociated with these exposures and
changes in those rates, whether we have enteefbirgign currency forward contracts to offset thegposures and other factors. All of these
factors could materially impact our results of @giems, financial position and cash flows.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dt@inaccurate sales forecasts or other factors.Our revenues, particularly our new
software licenses revenues and hardware systerasues, are difficult to forecast. As a result, quarterly operating results can fluctuate
substantially.

We use a “pipeline” system, a common industry jicacto forecast sales and trends in our busirf@@gssales personnel monitor the status of
all proposals and estimate when a customer willareagurchase decision and the dollar amount ofdle These estimates are aggregated
periodically to generate a sales pipeline. OurIpipeastimates can prove to be unreliable bothparsicular quarter and over a longer perior
time, in part because the “conversion rate” or Sal@ rate” of the pipeline into contracts can by @ifficult to estimate. A reduction in the
conversion rate, or in the pipeline itself, couddise us to plan or budget incorrectly and advews##yt our business or results of operation:
particular, a slowdown in IT spending or econontaditions generally can unexpectedly reduce theexmion rate in particular periods as
purchasing decisions are delayed, reduced in amawancelled. The conversion rate can also betaifleby the tendency of some of our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peliimthe hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwhian also impede our ability to negotiate,
execute and deliver upon these contracts in ayimelnner. In addition, for newly acquired companves have limited ability to predict how
their pipelines will convert into sales or revenfmsa number of quarters following the acquisiti@onversion rates post-acquisition may be
quite different from the acquired companies’ higtarconversion rates. Differences in conversidag@an also be affected by changes in
business practices that we implement in our newtjuaed companies. These changes may negativegtaffistomer behavior.

A substantial portion of our new software licenagd hardware systems contracts is completed ilatteg part of a quarter and a significant
percentage of these are larger orders. Becaugmificsint portion of our cost structure is largéked in the short-term, sales and revenue
shortfalls tend to have a disproportionately negaitnpact on our profitability. The number of langew software licenses transactions and,
lesser extent, hardware systems products tranaadtioreases the risk of fluctuations in our quéyrteesults because a delay in even a small
number of these transactions could cause our glyestedes, revenues and profitability to fall siigantly short of our predictions.

Our Oracle Cloud strategy, including our Oracle Swofare as a Service (SaaS), Platform as a Servicaa@®), Infrastructure as a Service
(laaS) and Data as a Service (DaaS) offerings, nzayersely affect our revenues and profitability. We offer customers a full range of
consumption models including the deployment ofnaducts via our cloud based SaaS, PaaS, laaS @l &fferings. These business model
continue to evolve, and we may not be able to coeneffectively, generate significant revenues omadn the profitability of our cloud
offerings. Additionally, the increasing prevalerafecloud and SaaS delivery models offered by us@amdcompetitors may unfavorably impact
the pricing of our on-premises enterprise softwaferings and our cloud offerings, and has a danmgeimpact on overall demand for our on-
premises software product and service
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offerings, which could reduce our revenues andifataifity, at least in the near-term. If we do soiccessfully execute our cloud computing
strategy or anticipate the cloud computing needsuofcustomers, our reputation as a cloud seryio@gder could be harmed and our revenue
and profitability could decline.

Our cloud offerings are generally purchased byamsts on a subscription basis and revenues frose thiéerings are generally recognized
ratably over the term of the subscriptions. Thesdefl revenue that results from sales of our ctitetings may prevent any deterioration in
sales activity associated with our cloud offerifigen becoming immediately observable in our cortiaitd statement of operations. This is in
contrast to revenues associated with our new soétliGenses arrangements whereby new softwaresi@serevenues are generally recognized
in full at the time of delivery of the related se#tre licenses. We incur certain expenses associatedhe infrastructures and marketing of our
cloud offerings in advance of our ability to recagnthe revenues associated with these offeringsustomer demand for our cloud offerings
increases, we experience volatility in our reporegenues and operating results due to the diff@®in timing of revenue recognition betw:
our new software licenses arrangements and cldedrmg arrangements.

We have also acquired a number of cloud computimgpanies, and the integration of these companiesoir Oracle Cloud strategy may not
be as efficient or scalable as anticipated, whakictadversely affect our ability to fully realifee benefits anticipated from these acquisitions

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services. Rapid technological advances and evolving standardsmputer hardware and software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and inéneg sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the industries in whecbompete. If we are unable to develop new orasfitly differentiated products and
services, enhance and improve our products andsuggrvices in a timely manner or position andgour products and services to meet
demand, customers may not purchase or subscrilngr ®oftware, hardware or cloud offerings or reseftware support, hardware support or
cloud subscriptions contracts. Renewals of thestracts are important to the growth of our busingsaddition, we cannot provide any
assurance that the standards on which we choate/tdop new products will allow us to compete dffexdy for business opportunities in
emerging areas.

We have continued to refresh and release new offemf our software and cloud and hardware prodardsservices, including our Database
Multitenant, Database INemory, SaaS, PaaS, laaS, DaaS and Oracle Enginggstems offerings. Our business may be advesdtygted if:

» we do not continue to develop and release thesther new or enhanced products and services wittieianticipated time frame
 there is a delay in market acceptance of a newarargd or acquired product line or servi

 there are changes in information technology trehdswe do not adequately anticipate or addreds ouit product development
efforts;

« we do not timely optimize complementary producefirand services;
« we fail to adequately integrate, support or enhaucgiired product lines or servic

If our security measures for our software, hardwargervices or Oracle Cloud offerings are comprontdsend as a result, our data, ot
customers’ data or our IT systems are accessed opprly, made unavailable, or improperly modifiedjroproducts and services may be
perceived as vulnerable, our brand and reputatiosutd be damaged, the IT services we provide to customers could be disrupted, ai
customers may stop using our products and serviedispf which could reduce our revenue and earningscrease our expenses and expose
us to legal claims and regulatory actions. We are in the information technology business] our products and services, including our O1
Cloud offerings, store, retrieve, manipulate anchage our customers’ information and data, extetatd, as well as our own data. We have a
reputation for secure and reliable product offesingd related services and we have invested adgahof time and resources in protecting the
integrity and security of our products, serviced #re internal and external data that we manage.
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At times, we encounter attempts by third partieslémtify and exploit product and service vulnelitibs, penetrate or bypass our security
measures, and gain unauthorized access to our austomers’, partners’ and suppliers’ softwaredihare and cloud offerings, networks and
systems, any of which could lead to the comprorafggersonal information or the confidential infortioa or data of Oracle or our customers.
Computer hackers and others may be able to deagldmleploy IT related viruses, worms, and otheiaioals software programs that could
attack our products and services, exploit potesgalrity vulnerabilities of our products and seegi create system disruptions and cause
shutdowns or denials of service. This is also tanghird party data, products or services incogped into our own. Data may also be accesse
or modified improperly as a result of customer tipar, employee or supplier error or malfeasancethind parties may attempt to fraudulently
induce customers, partners, employees or supjtigrslisclosing sensitive information such as ussnes, passwords or other information in
order to gain access to our data, our customerpplers’ or partners’ data or the IT systems cée, its customers, suppliers or partners.

High-profile security breaches at other companisgehincreased in recent years, and security indegperts and government officials have
warned about the risks of hackers and cyber-att@eleting information technology products and besses. Although this is an industry-wide
problem that affects other software and hardwampamies, it affects Oracle in particular becausepmder hackers tend to focus their efforts
on the most prominent IT companies, and they mayg@n Oracle because of our reputation for, ardtetiag efforts associated with, having
secure products and services. These risks wilkas® as we continue to grow our cloud offeringssdogk and process increasingly large
amounts of data, including personal information andcustomers’ confidential information and datd ather external data, and host or
manage parts of our customers’ businesses in ddasdd IT environments, especially in customer sed@twolving particularly sensitive data
such as health sciences, financial services angahernment. We also have an active acquisitiognamm and have acquired a number of
companies, products, services and technologiestbearears. While we make significant efforts toreds any IT security issues with respect
to our acquired companies, we may still inheritrstisks when we integrate these companies withacf@r

If a cyber-attack or other security incident desed above were to allow unauthorized access toodiifioation of our customers’ or suppliers’
data, other external data or our own data or owyBtems or if the services we provide to our qusis were disrupted, or if our products or
services are perceived as having security vulniétiabj we could suffer significant damage to owaridl and reputation. Customers could lose
confidence in the security and reliability of ouogucts and services, including our cloud offeriraged perceive them to be not secure. This ir
turn could lead to fewer customers using our prtgland services and result in reduced revenue ammihgs. The costs we would incur to
address and fix these security incidents wouldease our expenses. These types of security insidentd also lead to lawsuits, regulatory
investigations and claims and increased legalliigpbincluding in some cases contractual costatesl to customer notification and fraud
monitoring.

Our business practices with respect to the collestiuse and management of personal information cagjive rise to liabilities or
reputational harm as a result of governmental regtion, legal requirements or industry standards aghg to consumer privacy and data
protection. As regulatory focus on privacy issues continuesteease and worldwide laws and regulations coriegrtie handling of
personal information expand and become more comptaential risks related to data collection ane within our business will intensify. U.S.
and foreign governments have enacted or are coirgidenacting legislation or regulations, or mayha near future interpret existing
legislation or regulations, in a manner that caidphificantly impact the ability of Oracle and atrstomers and data partners to collect,
augment, analyze, use, transfer and share perandalther information that is integral to certaénvices Oracle provides and data services.
This could be true particularly in those jurisdicts where privacy laws or regulators take a broaidsv of how personal information is
defined, therefore subjecting the handling of sdata to heightened restrictions that may be ohisteito the operations of Oracle and its
customers and data providers. This impact may b&aes countries that have passed or are consglpassing legislation that requires data to
remain localized “in country”, as this imposes finl costs on any service provider that is reglicestore data in jurisdictions not of its
choosing and nonstandard operational processearthdifficult and costly to integrate with glolpabcesses. Regulators globally are also
imposing greater monetary fines for privacy viaas, and the European
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Union (EU) is considering legislation that wouldpose fines for privacy violations based on a paagmof global revenues. Changes in laws
or regulations associated with the enhanced pioteof certain types of sensitive data, such adinesre data or other personal information,
could greatly increase our cost of providing owdurcts and services or even prevent us from offes@rtain of our services in jurisdictions
that we operate. Additionally, public perceptiomatandards related to the privacy of personarimédion can shift rapidly, in ways that may
affect Oracle’s reputation or influence regulatmrgnact regulations and laws that may limit Oracibility to provide certain products. Any
failure, or perceived failure, by Oracle to compligh U.S. federal, state, or foreign laws and ragahs, including laws and regulations
regulating privacy, data security, or consumergxtion, or other policies, public perception, s&mad, self-regulatory requirements or legal
obligations, could result in lost or restricted iness, proceedings, actions or fines brought agaser levied by governmental entities or
others, or could adversely affect our businesstemch our reputation.

We might experience significant coding, manufactng or configuration errors in our software, hardwarand cloud offerings. Despite
testing prior to their release and throughout tfeeycle of a product or service, software, hardwand cloud offerings sometimes contain
coding or manufacturing errors that can impactrtheiction, performance and security, and resutithrer negative consequences. The
detection and correction of any errors in releas#tivare, hardware or cloud offerings can be timesaming and costly. Errors in our
software, hardware or cloud offerings could aftbetr ability to properly function or operate witkher software, hardware or cloud offerings,
could delay the development or release of new misdor services or new versions of products orisesy could result in creating security
vulnerabilities in our products or services, andldadversely affect market acceptance of our prtsdar services. This includes third party
software products or services incorporated intocoun. If we experience errors or delays in relegsiar software, hardware or cloud offerings
or new versions thereof, our sales could be affeatel revenues could decline. In addition, we rumcl®’s business operations as well as ¢
and other services that we offer to our customersw products and networks. Therefore, any flamdd affect our ability to conduct our
business operations and the operations of our mes® Enterprise customers rely on our softwarehamdware products and services to run
their businesses and errors in our software, hanelaacloud offerings could expose us to prodwdtility, performance and warranty claims as
well as significant harm to our brand and reputgtighich could impact our future sales.

If we are unable to compete effectively, the resudf operations and prospects for our business coik harmed. We face intense
competition in all aspects of our business. Theneadf the IT industry creates a competitive laagigcthat is constantly evolving as firms
emerge, expand or are acquired, and as technolagyes. Many vendors develop and market databasésl|eware products, application
development tools, business applications, collamrgproducts and business intelligence productsrey others, that compete with our
software and cloud offerings. These vendors inclusipremises software companies and companiesfieatcloud based SaaS, PaaS, laaS
and Daas$ offerings and business process outsoU8PQ) as competitive alternatives to buying sofenand hardware. Our competitors that
offer business applications and middleware prodonatg influence a customer’s purchasing decisioniferunderlying database in an effort to
persuade potential customers not to acquire owlyats. We could lose customers if our competito®duce new competitive products, add
new functionality, acquire competitive productsjuee prices or form strategic alliances with ott@npanies. We may also face increasing
competition from open source software initiativesvhich competitors may provide software and ietelial property for free. Existing or new
competitors could gain sales opportunities or qusits at our expense.

Our hardware systems business competes with, agtbegs, (i) systems manufacturers and resellesgsiEms based on our own
microprocessors and operating systems and thasgr @ompetitors, (ii) microprocessor/chip manufaets, (iii) providers of storage products
and (iv) certain industry-specific hardware mantfeers including those serving communications, habty and retail industries. Our
hardware systems business causes us to competeestéin companies that historically have beemgast Some of these competitors may
have more experience than we do in managing a leedusiness. A large portion of our hardware petslare based on our SPARC
microprocessor and Oracle Solaris operating syglatform, which has a smaller installed base thetain of our competitors’ platforms and
which may make it difficult for us to win new custers that have already made significant investmandsir competitorsplatforms. Certain ¢
these competitors also
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compete very aggressively on price. A loss in ampgetitive position could result in lower revenwegprofitability, which could adversely
impact our ability to realize the revenue and padiility forecasts for our hardware systems busines

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ourenating results. We derive a substantial
portion of our revenues from, and have signifiagmerations, outside of the United States. Our liational operations include software and
hardware systems development, manufacturing, adgesattes, customer support, consulting and otbeices and shared administrative
service centers.

Compliance with international and U.S. laws andutations that apply to our international operationgeases our cost of doing business in
foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulatiordude U.S. laws and local laws which include gataacy requirements, labor relations laws,
tax laws, anteompetition regulations, prohibitions on paymentgdvernmental officials, import and trade resimics and export requiremer
Violations of these laws and regulations could ltasufines, criminal sanctions against us, ouiagfs or our employees, and prohibitions on
the conduct of our business. Any such violationg@oesult in prohibitions on our ability to offeur products and services in one or more
countries, could delay or prevent potential acgjoiss and could also materially damage our repaathur brand, our international expansion
efforts, our ability to attract and retain employeeur business and our operating results. Congdiarith these laws requires a significant
amount of management attention and effort, whicl digert managemerg’attention from running our business operatiomsculd harm ou
ability to grow our business, or may increase ogreases as we engage specialized or other additeswurces to assist us with our
compliance efforts. Our success depends, in parduo ability to anticipate these risks and martagse difficulties. We monitor our operatic
and investigate allegations of improprieties ralgtio transactions and the way in which such tretitsas are recorded. Where circumstances
warrant, we provide information and report our fimgb to government authorities, but no assurannéeagiven that action will not be taken
such authorities.

We are also subject to a variety of other risks @mallenges in managing an organization operatingrious countries, including those related
to:

» general economic conditions in each country oraieg
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates and relmgécts to customer demand and our operatingtee

- difficulties in transferring funds from or convexgj currencies in certain countries such as Venazhet have led to a devaluation of
our net assets, in particular our cash assethatrcbuntr’s currency

 regulatory changes, including government austenigyasures in certain countries that we may not ketatsufficiently plan for or
avoid that may unexpectedly impair bank depositstiber cash assets that we hold in these coumtritgat impose additional taxes
that we may be required to pay in these count

 political unrest, terrorism and the potential ftner hostilities, including those in Ukraine, Syiieag and Yemer
* natural disaster:

» longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtiaccounts receivabl

» overlapping tax regime:

* our ability to repatriate funds held by our foregubsidiaries to the United States at favorableadtes;

* public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operations; a

» reduced protection for intellectual property rigimsome countries

The variety of risks and challenges listed abowddalso disrupt or otherwise negatively impactshpply chain operations for our hardware
systems products segment and the sales of our gieodnd services in affected countries or regions.

As the majority shareholder of Oracle FinanciahM8&s Software Limited (OFSS), a publicly tradedhpany in India, and Oracle Corporation
Japan (NOKK), a publicly traded company in Japamave faced with several additional risks, inclgdieing subject to local securities
regulations and being unable to exert full continak we would otherwise have if OFSS or NOKK welgly owned subsidiaries.
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Acquisitions present many risks and we may not iealthe financial and strategic goals that were ¢emplated at the time of a transactio

In recent years, we have invested billionsaifadls to acquire a number of companies, prodsetsjices and technologies. A selective and
active acquisition program is an important elentérdur overall corporate strategy and we expecbiatinue to make acquisitions in the futt
Risks we may face in connection with our acquisifiwogram include:

our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesm@igt’'s attention may be diverted by acquisiticemgition or integration
activities;

we may have difficulties (i) managing an acquirechpany’s technologies or lines of business; (iteeng new markets where we
have no or limited direct prior experience or whesenpetitors may have stronger market positiongijipretaining key personnel
from the acquired companie

an acquisition may not further our business strategwe expected, we may not integrate an acquaoegbany or technology as
successfully as we expected or we may overpayfartherwise not realize the expected return onjrauestments, which could
adversely affect our business or operating resmitspotentially cause impairment to assets thateeerded as a part of an acquisition
including intangible assets and goodw

our operating results or financial condition mayalwersely impacted by claims or liabilities tha assume from an acquired
company or technology or that are otherwise reltezh acquisition, including, among others, clafrosn government agencies,
terminated employees, current or former custoniersjer stockholders or other third parties; preserg contractual relationships of
an acquired company that we would not have othereigered into, the termination or modificatiomdfich may be costly or
disruptive to our business; unfavorable revenuegasition or other accounting treatment as a rexudin acquired company’s
practices; and intellectual property claims or disg;

we may fail to identify or assess the magnitudeesfain liabilities, shortcomings or other circuargtes prior to acquiring a company
or technology, which could result in unexpecteiddition or regulatory exposure, unfavorable acdognreatment, unexpected
increases in taxes due, a loss of anticipateddarfits or other adverse effects on our busingssating results or financial conditic

we may not realize the anticipated increase inrevenues from an acquisition for a number of regsmtluding if a larger than
predicted number of customers decline to renewvswé or hardware support contracts or cloud-basbsdcsiption contracts, if we are
unable to sell the acquired products or serviceroffis to our customer base or if contract mode@acquired company do not allc
us to recognize revenues on a timely be

we may have difficulty incorporating acquired tecluyies, products, services and their related sugiphin operations with our
existing lines of business and supply chain infrattire and maintaining uniform standards, architeg controls, procedures and
policies;

we may have multiple product lines or servicesraifgs as a result of our acquisitions that areretfepriced and supported differen
which could cause customer confusion and de

we may have higher than anticipated costs in cam@support and development of acquired producgervices, in general and
administrative functions that support new busimasslels, or in compliance with associated regulatitiat are more complicated than
we had anticipatec

we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frontay otherwise have certain limitations, restoics, penalties or other sanctions
imposed on us by, worker councils or similar bodirder applicable employment laws as a result afcuisition, which could
adversely affect our integration plans in certaimsdictions and potentially increase our integnatand restructuring expens

we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgorernmental authorities under competition andausti laws on a timely basis, if
at all, which could, among other things, delay mvent us from completing a transaction, otherwéstrict our ability to realize the
expected financial or strategic goals of an actjaisior have other adverse effects on our currasirtess and operatior
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» our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintfitso potential uses of our cash, including stogurehases, dividend payments and
retirement of outstanding indebtedne

* we may significantly increase our interest expetesesrage and debt service requirements if we iadditional debt to pay for an
acquisition and we may have to delay or not proeeéita substantial acquisition if we cannot obtie necessary funding to
complete the acquisition in a timely manner or avofable terms

 to the extent that we issue a significant amourdopfity securities in connection with future acgigss, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decrease

* we may experience additional or unexpected chaimgesw we are required to account for our acquisgipursuant to U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, including arrangemthat we assume from an acquisiti

The occurrence of any of these risks could havaimnal adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition or cash flo
particularly in the case of a larger acquisitiorseveral concurrent acquisitions.

Our periodic workforce restructurings, including krganizations of our sales force, can be disruptive We have in the past restructured or
made other adjustments to our workforce, includingdirect sales force on which we rely heavilyrésponse to management changes, pr
changes, performance issues, acquisitions and intieenal and external considerations. In the pghste types of sales force restructurings
have resulted in increased restructuring costseased sales and marketing costs and temporargaéguoductivity while the sales teams
adjusted to their new roles and responsibilitinsaddition, we may not achieve or sustain the etgulegrowth or cost savings benefits of these
restructurings, or do so within the expected timefe. These effects could recur in connection withré acquisitions and other restructurings
and our revenues and other results of operationisl &z negatively affected.

Our hardware systems revenues and profitability tbdecline if we do not manage the risks associatéth our hardware systems business.

Our hardware systems business may adversegtaftir overall profitability if we do not effecély manage the associated risks. We ma
achieve our estimated revenue, profit or othemfiie projections with respect to our hardware eyst business in a timely manner or at all
due to a number of factors, including:

» as we develop and introduce new versions or nextrg¢ions of our hardware systems products, custmay defer or delay
purchases of existing hardware systems productsvaitdor these new releases, all of which couldeasely affect our hardware
systems revenues in the short te

» our hardware systems business has higher expehsgsancentage of revenues, and thus has beeprdditable, than our software a
cloud business

» we have focused on our more profitable Oracle Egied Systems, such as our Oracle Exadata Datitzadene, Oracle Exalogic
Elastic Cloud, Oracle Exalytics In-Memory MachimaaOracle SuperCluster products, which are in ¢hatively early stages of
adoption by our customers, and the de-emphasiardbwer profit margin commaodity hardware systemsdoicts could adversely
affect our hardware systems revenues becausewlee poofit systems have historically constitutedrger portion of our hardware
systems revenue

» we face a greater risk of potential write-downs angairments of inventory, higher warranty expertbes in our software and cloud
and services businesses, and amortization andtftiempairment of intangible assets associateth witr hardware systems business.
Any of these items could result in material chargled adversely affect our operating rest

* we may not be able to increase sales of hardwatersg support contracts or such increase may ¢aigei than we anticipate, which
could result in lower revenues and profitability stower than expected growth of such revenuegaaiitability; and

* we may acquire hardware companies that are stecatggimportant to us but (i) operate in hardwansihesses with historically lower
operating margins than our own; (ii) have differlegiacy busines
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practices and go-to-market strategies that we riiaya@s a part of our integration efforts, whichynségnificantly impact our estimated
revenues and profits from the acquired company;l€verage different platforms or competing tedogies that we may encounter
difficulties in integrating; or (iv) utilize unigumanufacturing processes that affect our abilitgdale these acquired products within
our own manufacturing operatior

Our hardware systems offerings are complex produetsd if we cannot successfully manage this comftigxthe results of our hardware
systems business will suffer. Designing, developing, manufacturing and introdgaiew hardware systems products are complicated
processes. The development process for our hardwatems products is uncertain and requires albigh of innovation. After the
development phase, we must be able to forecasirestdemand and manufacture new hardware systedagis in sufficient volumes to
meet this demand and do so in a cost effective sra@ur “build-to-order” manufacturing model, in iwh our hardware systems products
generally are not built until after customers placgers, may from time to time experience delaydealivering our hardware systems products
to customers in a timely manner. These delays coalde our customers to purchase hardware progodtservices from our competitors. We
must also manage new hardware product introductiodgransitions to minimize the impact of custohelayed purchases of existing
hardware systems products in anticipation of nemhliare systems product releases. It is also pesgibt we could experience design or
manufacturing flaws which could delay or prever pinoduction of the components for which we hawwijausly committed to pay or need to
fulfill orders from customers and could also preivitie production of our hardware products or causehardware products to be returned,
recalled or rejected resulting in lost revenuesrgases in warranty costs or costs related to riati@a efforts, damage to our reputation,
penalties and litigation.

We depend on suppliers to design, develop, manufaeind deliver on a timely basis the necessahntdogies and components for our
hardware products, and there are some technolagttsomponents that can only be purchased fromgéesiendor due to price, quality,
technology, availability or other business constmiAs a result, our supply chain operations cteldisrupted or negatively impacted by
natural disasters, political unrest, port stoppagesther transportation disruptions or slowdownstber factors affecting the countries or
regions where these single source component veagelscated or where the products are being stipffe may be unable to purchase these
items from the respective single vendors on acbéptarms or may experience significant delaysuality issues in the delivery of necessary
technologies, parts or components from a partiotdador. If we had to find a new supplier for thésghnologies, parts and components,
hardware systems product shipments could be delsyddh would adversely affect our hardware systegeenues. We could also experience
fluctuations in component prices which, if unangated, could negatively impact our hardware systenseess cost structure. Additionally,
could experience changes in shipping and logisticair hardware products, which could result ircfliations in prices and negatively impact
our hardware systems margins. These factors mayg rmhdkficult for us to plan and procure appropei@omponent inventory levels in a tim
fashion to meet customer demand for our hardwaréyats. Therefore, we may experience componenhiowe shortages which may result in
production delays or customers choosing to purcfeser hardware products from us or systems preduei our competitors. We negotiate
supply commitments with vendors early in the maatufidng process to ensure we have sufficient teldgies and components for our
hardware products to meet anticipated customer démé&le must also manage our levels of older commutangentories used in our hardware
products to minimize inventory write-offs or writeswns. If we have excess inventory, it may be regsto write-down the inventory, which
would adversely affect our operating results. I @am more of the risks described above occurshardware systems business and related
operating results could be materially and adveraffcted.

We are susceptible to third party manufacturing akajistics delays, which could result in the losksales and customers. We outsource
the design, manufacturing, assembly and delivegedfin of our hardware products to a varietyafipanies, many of which are located
outside the United States. Our reliance on these plarties reduces our control over the desigmufacturing and delivery process, exposing
us to risks, including reduced control over quadissurance, product costs, product supply andedglielays as well as the political and
economic uncertainties and natural disasters oiftieenational locations where certain of thesedtpiarty manufacturers have facilities and
operations. Some countries may raise national ggaencerns or
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impose market access restrictions based on locatioranufacture or sourcing. Any manufacturing wigion or logistics delays by these third
parties could impair our ability to fulfill ordefsr these hardware systems products for extendeddseof time. If we are unable to manage
relationships with these third parties effectivaly jf these third parties experience delays, gisoms, capacity constraints, regulatory issues o
quality control problems in their operations, ait fa meet our future requirements for timely deliy, our ability to ship and deliver certain of
our hardware systems products to our customersl dmiimpaired and our hardware systems business belharmed.

We have simplified our supply chain processes bycing the number of third party manufacturing pars and the number of locations where
these third party manufacturers build our hardvegstems products. We therefore have become moendept on a fewer number of these
manufacturing partners and locations. If thesengastexperience production problems or delays mnaameet our demand for products, we
may not be able to find alternate manufacturing®esiin a timely or cost effective manner, if atlilwe are required to change third party
manufacturers, our ability to meet our scheduled\vare systems products deliveries to our custowmukl be adversely affected, which cc
cause the loss of sales and existing or potenigtbmers, delayed revenue recognition or an inergasur hardware systems products
expenses, all of which could adversely affect tleegims of our hardware business.

These challenges and risks also exist when we @cgampanies with hardware products and relateglguhain operations. In some cases
may be dependent, at least initially, on these isedwcompanies’ supply chain operations that wdese familiar with and thus we may be
slower to adjust or react to these challenges iskd.r

Our software indirect sales channel could affectroiuture operating results. Our software indirect channel network is corsgdi primarily

of resellers, system integrators/implementers, witarsts, education providers, internet service jolens, network integrators and independent
software vendors. Our relationships with these nbhparticipants are important elements of oungarfé marketing and sales efforts. Our
financial results could be adversely affected if contracts with channel participants were tern@daif our relationships with channel
participants were to deteriorate, if any of our petitors enter into strategic relationships withaoquire a significant channel participant, if the
financial condition or operations of our channettiggpants were to weaken or if the level of demé&mdour channel participants’ products and
services were to decrease. There can be no assuhatave will be successful in maintaining, expagar developing our relationships with
channel participants. If we are not successfulmag lose sales opportunities, customers and regenue

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, confidentiality
procedures, controls and contractual commitmenpsdtect our intellectual property rights. Despite efforts, these protections may be
limited. Unauthorized third parties may try to camyreverse engineer portions of our products bemtise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidiatécumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinduture patent applications, whethe
not being currently challenged, may not be issuitd the scope of the claims we seek, if at alladitlition, the laws of some countries do not
provide the same level of protection of our intefilel property rights as do the laws and courthefUnited States. If we cannot protect our
intellectual property rights against unauthorizedying or use, or other misappropriation, we matyramain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, majaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights and/or breach of license
agreement provisions. We periodically receive notices from, or haaesuits filed against us by, others claiming irdement or other
misuse of their intellectual property rights anddoeach of our agreements with them. These thirtlgsanclude entities that do not have the
capabilities to design, manufacture, or distripieducts or services or that acquire intellectwapprty like patents for the sole purpose of
monetizing their acquired intellectual propertyoiingh asserting claims of infringement and misuse.ékpect the number of such claims will
increase as:

* we continue to acquire companies and expand intolnsinesses
» the number of products and competitors in our itrgusegments grow:
» the use and support of third party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in thustiry
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» the volume of issued patents continues to incresss
« the proliferation of no-practicing entities asserting intellectual propentyingement claims increase
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itsligl could:
» be time consuming, costly and result in litigati
« divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin
* require us to pay monetary damages or enter iptaltyoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find acceptable
 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdiour products
 require us to release source code to third pag@ssibly under open source license tel
* require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢
» otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash floy

We may lose key employees or may be unable todni@igh qualified employees. We rely on the continued service of our senior
management, including our Executive Chairman oBbard of Directors, Chief Technology Officer amaifider, our Chief Executive Office
other members of our executive team and other kgyl@yees and the hiring of new qualified employéeshe technology industry, there is
substantial and continuous competition for highdled business, product development, technical @hér personnel. In addition, acquisitions
could cause us to lose key personnel of the aatjewenpanies or at Oracle. We may also experierareased compensation costs that are no
offset by either improved productivity or highetesa We may not be successful in recruiting neveganel and in retaining and motivating
existing personnel. With rare exceptions, we dohaste long-term employment or non-competition agreets with our employees. Members
of our senior management team have left Oracle iveyears for a variety of reasons, and we caasgire you that there will not be additic
departures, which may be disruptive to our openatio

We continually focus on improving our cost struetbly hiring personnel in countries where advaneetriical expertise and other expertise
available at lower costs. When we make adjustntentsir workforce, we may incur expenses associatttdworkforce reductions that delay
the benefit of a more efficient workforce structée may also experience increased competitioerfgsloyees in these countries as the trenc
toward globalization continues, which may affect employee retention efforts and increase our es@ein an effort to offer a competitive
compensation program. Our general compensatiorrgmocludes stock options and restricted stocksuSUs), which are important tools
in attracting and retaining employees in our indudf our stock price performs poorly, it may adsely affect our ability to retain or attract
employees. In addition, because we expense ak-4tased compensation, we have changed and mag ftilire change our stock-based and
other compensation practices. For example, inlfd@a5, we introduced RSU grants for certain of enployees and performance related s
unit grants for certain of our executives. We oo to evaluate our compensation practices and ofttamges we consider from time to time
include a reduction in the number of employeestgerquity awards, a reduction in the number afkstiptions or RSUs granted per empic
and alternative forms of stock-based compensadibof which may have an impact on our ability &ain employees and also impact the
amount of stock-based compensation expense thegawed. Any changes in our compensation practicehanges made by competitors coulc
affect our ability to retain and motivate existipgrsonnel and recruit new personnel.

Our sales to government clients subject us to besis volatility and risks, including government bueting cycles and appropriations, early
termination, audits, investigations, sanctions apénalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the lgdvernment, state and local
governments, and foreign governments and theies@ agencies, which may terminate most of tleeséracts at any time, without cause.
There is increased pressure for governments amdatpencies, both domestically and internationabtiyseduce spending. Further, our U.S.
federal government contracts are subject to theoappof appropriations made by the U.S. Congredard the expenditures under these
contracts. Similarly, our contracts at the state lacal levels in the U.S. and our contracts wittefgn governments and their agencies are
generally subject to government
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funding authorizations. Additionally, governmenttmcts are generally subject to audits and ingastins which could result in various civil
and criminal penalties and administrative sanctiomduding termination of contracts, refund of@ton of fees received, forfeiture of profits,
suspension of payments, fines and suspensiondarrdent from future government business.

We may need to change our pricing models to competecessfully. The intense competition we face in the salesuofproducts and
services and general economic and business camglitin put pressure on us to change our pricear kompetitors offer deep discounts on
certain products or services or develop productsttie marketplace considers more valuable, wemaay to lower prices or offer other
favorable terms in order to compete successfully such changes may reduce margins and could adyeféect operating results.
Additionally, the increasing prevalence of cloudl &aaS delivery models offered by us and our caitopgimay unfavorably impact the
pricing of our on-premises enterprise softwareririfs and our cloud offerings, as well as overalhand for our opremises software produ
and service offerings, which could reduce our reesnand profitability. Our software license updated product support fees and hardware
systems support fees are generally priced as amage of our net new software licenses fees andawve hardware systems products fees,
respectively. Our competitors may offer lower prigcion their support offerings, which could put gres on us to further discount our product
or support pricing.

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricitigipe could cause our revenues to decline or teeydd as our sales force implements and
our customers adjust to the new pricing policiesm8 of our competitors may bundle products for prthomal purposes or as a long-term
pricing strategy or provide guarantees of pricaed @oduct implementations. These practices cowdr time, significantly constrain the prices
that we can charge for certain of our productsidfdo not adapt our pricing models to reflect clesnig customer use of our products or
changes in customer demand, our revenues couldaierThe increase in open source software distnibmay also cause us to change our
pricing models.

We may not receive significant revenues from ourri@nt research and development efforts for seveyahbrs, if at all. Developing

software, cloud and hardware offerings is expenanathe investment in the development of thesarioffs often involves a long return on
investment cycle. An important element of our cogpe strategy is to continue to make significamestments in research and developmen
related product and service opportunities bothu@hointernal investments and the acquisition afliattual property from companies that we
have acquired. Accelerated product and serviceduttions and short software and hardware lifeas/obquire high levels of expenditures for
research and development that could adverselytaftecoperating results if not offset by revenueréases. We believe that we must continue
to dedicate a significant amount of resources taresearch and development efforts to maintaincoampetitive position. However, we do not
expect to receive significant revenues from thasestments for several years, if at all.

Business disruptions could adversely affect our méng results. A significant portion of our critical businesperations are concentratec

a few geographic areas. We are a highly automatsthéss and a disruption or failure of our systemdd cause delays in completing sales
and providing services, including some of our clofférings. A major earthquake, fire or other catgshic event that results in the destruction
or disruption of any of our critical business ordyistems could severely affect our ability to cartdwormal business operations and, as a resu
our future operating results could be materiallg adversely affected.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busire: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgafion can be lengthy, expensive and
disruptive to our operations, and can divert ounaggment’s attention away from running our corertass. The results of our litigation also
cannot be predicted with certainty. An adversesienicould result in monetary damages or injunatélief that could affect our business,
operating results or financial condition. Additibir#formation regarding certain of the lawsuits are involved in is discussed under Note 1
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incluesewhere in this Annual Repc

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.As a multinational corporation, we are subjedncome taxes as well as non-income
based taxes, in both the United States and vaftwagyn jurisdictions. Significant judgment is réxpd in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. We @agularly under audit by tax authorities and thasthorities often do not agree with positions
taken by us on our tax returns.
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Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a Bagritly adverse impact on our effective tax r&ter example, the United States, many
countries in the EU, and other countries where wbukiness, are actively considering changes @vaal tax, accounting and other laws,
regulations and interpretations, including chartgesx laws applicable to corporate multinationalhijch, if enacted, could have a significant
adverse impact on our effective tax rate. Furtimethe ordinary course of a global business, theeemany intercompany transactions and
calculations where the ultimate tax determinat®ancertain. Our intercompany transfer pricing tesn and is currently being reviewed by
U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and by foréggnjurisdictions and will likely be subject to atilonal audits in the future. Although, we
have negotiated certain unilateral Advance Pridiggeements with the IRS and certain selected bdht#sdvance Pricing Agreements that
cover some of our intercompany transfer pricingéssand preclude the relevant tax authorities fmaking a transfer pricing adjustment
within the scope of these agreements, these agregme not cover substantial elements of our terficing. In recent periods, transfer
pricing audits in many foreign jurisdictions havecbme increasingly contentious. Similarly, cerjansdictions are increasingly raising
concerns about certain withholding tax mattersddition, our provision for income taxes could deexrsely affected by earnings being lower
than anticipated in jurisdictions which we consittebe indefinitely reinvested outside the Unitédt&s that have lower statutory tax rates anc
earnings being higher than anticipated in jurisditt that have higher statutory tax rates.

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,asiphyroll, sales, use, valadeed, net worth, property and goods and servicest in bot
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioffe are regularly under audit by tax authoritiéthwespect to these non-income based taxe
and may have exposure to additional non-incomedbiseliabilities. Our acquisition activities hawereased our non-income based tax
exposures, particularly with our entry into thedvaare systems business, which increased the vaumie€omplexity of laws and regulations
that we are subject to and with which we must cgmpl

Although we believe that our income and rinoeme based tax estimates are reasonable, theoeaissurance that the final determination o
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psdwns and accruals.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions maglversely affect our operating results. Under business combination accounting
standards pursuant to ASC 8@aisiness Combinationave recognize the identifiable assets acquiresl|itibilities assumed and any non-
controlling interests in acquired companies geteedltheir acquisition date fair values and, icleaase, separately from goodwill. Goodwil

of the acquisition date is measured as the exceresmat of consideration transferred, which is alsnegally measured at fair value, and the net
of the acquisition date amounts of the identifisddsets acquired and the liabilities assumed. €limates of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whiclnhegently uncertain. After we complete an acdigisi the following factors could result in
material charges and adversely affect our operaéiaglts and may adversely affect our cash flows:

 costs incurred to combine the operations of congsawie acquire, such as transitional employee ergearsd employee retention,
redeployment or relocation expens

» impairment of goodwill, in particular within our gsulting reporting unit, or impairment of intangtdssets, both of which we have
added to significantly in recent years and may iooietto increase in the futur

» amortization of intangible assets acquir
» areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

+ identification of, or changes to, assumed contingjehilities, both income tax and noneome tax related, after our final determina
of the amounts for these contingencies or the csimh of the measurement period (generally up ®yaar from the acquisition dat
whichever comes firs

» charges to our operating results to maintain aedaplicative pre-merger activities for an extengedod of time or to maintain these
activities for a period of time that is longer thaa had anticipated, charges to eliminate certaplicative pre-merger activities, and
charges to restructure our operations or to reduc€ost structure
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» charges to our operating results due to expenseasréd to effect the acquisition; a
» charges to our operating results due to the expgmdicertain stock awards assumed in an acquis

Substantially all of these costs will be accourftechs expenses that will decrease our net incardesarnings per share for the periods in
which those costs are incurred. For example, wegized a goodwill impairment loss in the fourttager of fiscal 2015 relating to our
hardware systems reporting unit. Charges to ouratipg results in any given period could differ stamtially from other periods based on the
timing and size of our future acquisitions and ¢lxeent of integration activities. A more detailddadission of our accounting for business
combinations and other items is presented in th@it@l Accounting Policies and Estimates” sectafrManagemens$ Discussion and Analys
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationerl 7).

There are risks associated with our outstanding afiudiure indebtedness. As of May 31, 2015, we had an aggregate ofGBflion of
outstanding indebtedness that will mature betwedendar year 2016 and calendar year 2055 and wermoayadditional indebtedness in the
future. Our ability to pay interest and repay thiegpal for our indebtedness is dependent uporability to manage our business operations,
generate sufficient cash flows to service such dalbtthe other factors discussed in this sectiber@ can be no assurance that we will be abl
to manage any of these risks successfully.

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtanting debt as it matures. There is a risk thainag not be able to refinance existing debt
or that the terms of any refinancing may not bé&wsesrable as the terms of our existing debt. Funtiuee, if prevailing interest rates or other
factors at the time of refinancing result in higherest rates upon refinancing, then the integgpense relating to that refinanced indebtec
would increase. Should we incur future increasdstarest expense, our ability to utilize certairoor foreign tax credits to reduce our U.S.
federal income tax could be limited, which couldaworably affect our provision for income taxes afigctive tax rate. In addition, changes
by any rating agency to our outlook or credit rgttould negatively affect the value of both ourtdsid equity securities and increase the
interest amounts we pay on outstanding or futube. denese risks could adversely affect our finanoiadition and results of operations.

Environmental and other related laws and regulatisisubject us to a number of risks and could redualsignificant liabilities and costs.
Some of our cloud and hardware systems operatiensudject to state, federal and international lgexgerning protection of the environment,
proper handling and disposal of materials usedhfese products, human health and safety, the usertain chemical substances and the labo
practices of suppliers. We endeavor to comply Wittse environmental and other laws, yet compliavitethese environmental and other |z
could increase our product design, developmentyseament, manufacturing, delivery and administratiosts, limit our ability to manage
excess and obsolete non-compliant inventory, changsales activities, or otherwise impact futunarcial results of our cloud and hardware
systems businesses. Any violation of these lawssoaject us to significant liability, including &s, penalties and possible prohibition of sales
of our products and services into one or more stateountries and result in a material adversecetin the financial condition or results of
operations of our cloud and hardware systems bssése

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission hgstedialisclosure requirements for companies thatedain “conflict

minerals” (commonly referred to as tantalum, timgsten and gold) in their products. Our supplyirckmulti-tiered, global and highly
complex. As a provider of hardware systems endymtsi] we are several steps removed from the maingsmelting or refining of any confl
minerals in our supply chain. Accordingly, our &jito determine with certainty the origin and ahaf custody of conflict minerals is limited.
Our relationships with customers and suppliersasuffer if we are unable to describe our prodastéconflict-free.” We may also face
increased costs in complying with conflict minerdisclosure requirements.

A significant portion of our hardware systems raxemcome from international sales. Environmentgslation, such as the EU Directive on
Restriction of Hazardous Substances (RoHS), thé\Eidte Electrical and Electronic Equipment Direc(WEEE Directive) and China’s
regulation on Management Methods for ControllingflRimn Caused by Electronic Information Productsy increase our cost of doing
business internationally and impact our hardwastesys revenues from the EU, China and other casnivith similar environmental
legislation as we endeavor to comply with and impdat these requirements. The cumulative impaattefmational environmental legislation
could be significant.
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Our stock price could become more volatile and yauwestment could lose value. All of the factors discussed in this sectiomldoaffect ou
stock price. The timing of announcements in theipubarket regarding new products, product enhamegsor technological advances by our
competitors or us and any announcements by usqoiigiions, major transactions, or management absueguld also affect our stock price.
Changes in the amounts and frequency of shareaiepses or dividends could adversely affect outkgpoice. Our stock price is subject to
speculation in the press and the analyst commuttignges in recommendations or earnings estimgtsancial analysts, changes in
investors’ or analysts’ valuation measures forgiock, our credit ratings and market trends unedléd our performance. A significant drop in
our stock price could also expose us to the riskecbirities class actions lawsuits, which couldltés substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which calidraely affect our business.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devedspintonsulting, manufacturing and
administrative personnel. Our headquarters fadilitysists of approximately 2.0 million square feeRedwood City, California, substantially
all of which we own. We lease our principal intdrmanufacturing facility for our hardware systemedqucts in Hillsboro, Oregon. We also
own or lease other office facilities for curreneuwnsisting of approximately 25.6 million squagetfin various other locations in the United
States and abroad. We believe our facilities agoid condition and suitable for the conduct of lousiness. Approximately 2.5 million square
feet, or 9%, of total owned and leased space ilesabis being actively marketed for subleaseispakition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 18 of Notes to Cdigsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this B&alnrReport on Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART Il
ltem 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&hiaxge under the symbol “ORCL”. Prior to July 1612, our common stock traded on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symboR@L.". According to the records of our transfer agere had 11,383 stockholders of
record as of May 31, 2015. The following table setth the low and high sale prices per share ofommmon stock, based on the last daily
sale, in each of our last eight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarter $41.47 $44.7: $37.5( $42.2(
Third Quarte! $39.9¢ $ 46.27 $33.2¢ $ 39.11
Second Quarte $37.5¢ $ 42.4] $32.02 $ 35.2¢
First Quarte! $39.61 $ 42.81 $29.9¢ $ 34.4(

We declared and paid cash dividends totaling $ar&il$0.48 per outstanding common share over theseai fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014,
respectively.

In June 2015, our Board of Directors declared atqus cash dividend of $0.15 per share of our aunding common stock payable on July 29
2015 to stockholders of record as of the closeusfriess on July 8, 2015. We currently expect tdicoa paying comparable cash dividends

a quarterly basis; however, future declarationdigiiends and the establishment of future recodayment dates are subject to the final
determination of our Board of Directors.

For equity compensation plan information, pleaserr® Item 12 in Part 11l of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. Ore@égr 18, 2014, we announced that
our Board of Directors approved an expansion ofstock repurchase program by an additional $13li0ri Approximately $9.2 billion
remained available for stock repurchases as of 81aY015 pursuant to our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitgatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquiastions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchases of our dt
our stock price and economic and market conditi@us.stock repurchases may be effected from tintierte through open market purchase
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repuecpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delaybBsicontinued at any time.

The following table summarizes the stock repurclaasiwity for the three months ended May 31, 2048 the approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to @ck s#purchase program:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased ¢ Value of Shares tha

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be

Shares Paid per Announced Purchased
(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased Share Program Under the Program
March 1, 201—March 31, 201! 16.2 $ 43.2( 16.2 $ 10,542..
April 1, 201t—April 30, 2015 15.4 $  43.4( 15.4 $ 9,875.7
May 1, 201—May 31, 201¢ 14.£ $  43.9¢ 14.4 $ 9,240.¢

Total 46.C $ 43.5] 46.C
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler return on our common stock with the cumutatbtal return of the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Information Technology Index for eatthe last five fiscal years ended May 31, 2015uasing an investment of $100 at the
beginning of such period and the reinvestment gfdividends. The comparisons in the graphs bel@bassed upon historical data and are nc
indicative of, nor intended to forecast, futurefpanance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Oracle Corparation, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Information Technaology Index
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5M0 5/11 5/12 5/13 5/14 515
—&— Oracle Corporation —A— S&P 500 -~ S&P Information Technology
*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2010 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS
5/10 5/11 5/12 5/13 5/14 5/15
Oracle Corporation 100.0C 152.7¢ 119.17 153.4° 193.5! 202.7:
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0(C 125.9¢ 125.4: 159.6¢ 192.2¢ 214.9¢
S&P Information Technology Inde 100.0¢ 121.1¢ 130.3C 150.0C 185.8¢ 220.8(
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financialalas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heitected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial stataetseand related notes included in Iltem 15 of tm&idal Report. Over the last five fiscal
years, we have acquired a number of companiesidimg MICROS Systems, Inc. in fiscal 2015, amortedd. The results of our acquir
companies have been included in our consolidatexthiial statements since their respective datasapfisition and have contributed to our
revenues, income, earnings per share and totakasse

As of and for the Year Ended May 31
(in millions, except per share amounts 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Total revenue

Operating incom:

Net income

Earnings per sha—diluted

Diluted weighted average common shares outstar
Cash dividends declared per common sl
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati

Working capital®

Total asset

Notes payable and other borrowir®

38,22¢ $ 38,27¢ $ 37,18( $ 37,120 $ 35,62
13,87 $ 14,75¢ $ 14,68 $ 13,70¢ $ 12,03:
9,93¢ $ 10,95¢ $ 10,928 $ 9,981 $ 8,547
221 $ 23t $ 22 $ 19 $ 1.67
4,50z 4,60< 4,84/ 5,09¢ 5,12¢
051 $ 04 $ 03C $ 022 $ 0.21

47,89: $ 33,73¢ $ 28,81! $ 24,63( $ 24,97t
110,90: $ 90,26t $ 81,74! $ 78,27: $ 73,47t
41,95¢ $ 24,097 $ 18,427 $ 16,42! $ 15,86¢

@ H B &8 &8 H B P

(@) Our results of operations for fiscal 2015 comparefiscal 2014 were significantly impacted by rements in international currencies relative towh®. Dollar, which decreased our
fiscal 2015 total revenues by 4 percentage poiotal operating expenses by 3 percentage pointsadialdoperating income by 6 percentage pointompgarison to fiscal 201

(2 Total working capital sequentially increased iastperiods primarily due to the favorable impaobtir net current assets resulting from our nedrime generated during these periods
and the issuances of long-term senior notes ofd#2ilion in fiscal 2015, €2.0 billion and $3.0 I in fiscal 2014 and $5.0 billion in fiscal 20IBhese increases were partially offset
by cash used for acquisitions, repurchases of cansturk and dividend payments made in all perisgdsgnted and repayments of certain of our seniasrio fiscal 2015, 2013 and
2011.

(3 Our notes payable and other borrowings, whichesgmted the summation of our notes payable, duarehother current borrowings, and notes payatdeother non-current

borrowings as reported per our consolidated balaheets as of the dates listed in the table atiwesased between fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2015 ditieetissuances of long-term senior

notes of $20.0 billion in fiscal 2015, €2.0 billiamd $3.0 billion in fiscal 2014, and $5.0 billianfiscal 2013, and $1.7 billion of short-term bmrings made pursuant to our revolving
credit agreement in fiscal 2012. See Note 8 of dlateConsolidated Financial Statements includeglvdigre in this Annual Report for additional infottioa regarding our notes
payable and other borrowin¢
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ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis oéftial Condition and Results of Operations witltoaarview of our key operating
business segments and significant trends. Thisv/aaxeiis followed by a summary of our critical acoting policies and estimates that we
believe are important to understanding the asswmgtnd judgments incorporated in our reportechfiia results. We then provide a more
detailed analysis of our results of operations famehcial condition.

Business Overview

Oracle Corporation provides products and servicasdddress all aspects of corporate informatiohrtelogy (IT) environments—application,
platform and infrastructure—and are available tst@mers either via cloud computing or premises deployment models. Our products inc
database and middleware software, application soéycloud infrastructure software, and hardwastesys (Oracle Engineered Systems,
servers, storage, networking and industry spepificlucts), along with support and related servigés offer over 400,000 worldwide
customers a choice of deployment models to bestteir needs including (1) the deployment of otoduicts via our Oracle Cloud offerings,
(2) the acquisition of Oracle products and servfoesn on-premises IT environment or (3) a mixhase two models.

For customers opting for a cloud computing modefd® offers a wide range of services in all tipgmary layers of the cloud: Software as a
Service (SaaS), Platform as a Service (PaaS) dratructure as a Service (laaS). Our Oracle Clftetings are designed to be: rapidly
deployable to enable customers shorter time toviation; easily maintainable to reduce integratiod gesting work; and cost effective by
requiring lower upfront customer investment. Oua€e Cloud offerings integrate the software, hamdvend services on the customers’ behal
in IT environments that we deploy, support and rgarfar the customer. We are a leader in the catet@ogies of cloud IT environments,
including database and middleware software asage#interprise applications, virtualization, clusigrlarge-scale systems management and
related infrastructure. Our products and servicegtee building blocks of our Oracle Cloud servjaas partners’ cloud services and our
customers’ cloud IT environments.

In addition to offering a broad spectrum of cloudgucts and services, Oracle for decades has gemetknd sold its products and services to
our customers worldwide for use in their globalade¢nters and opremises IT environments. An important elementwfaorporate strategy

to continue our investments in, and innovation wébpect to, our products and services that we tffeugh our software and cloud, hardware
and services businesses. In fiscal 2015, 2014 @h8, 2ve invested $5.5 billion, $5.2 billion and $4illion, respectively, in research and
development to enhance our existing portfolio afdurcts and services and to develop new productsemvites. We have a deep understar
as to how all components within IT environments—agagion, platform and infrastructure—interact dndction with one another. We focus
our development efforts on improving the performegraperation and integration of these differindhtesdogies to make them more cost-
effective and easier to deploy, manage and maifdaiour customers and to improve their computiegigrmance relative to our competitors.
After purchasing Oracle products and servicesornsts can continue to take advantage of Oracls&areh and development investments an
deep IT expertise by purchasing and renewing Omagbport offerings, which may include product erdeanents that we periodically delivel
our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, PeopleSoftlanBdwards application software products, amohegrst or renewing their SaaS, PaaS an
laaS contracts with us.

Oracle customers are increasingly electing to hetir iT environments using our suite of Oracle @aidferings. As customers deploy with the
Oracle Cloud, many are adopting a hybrid IT modetkreby certain of their IT resources are deployatimanaged through the Oracle Cloud,
while other of their IT resources are deployed ar@haged on-premises, and both sets of resourcdsecamanaged as one. We focus the
engineering of our products and services to bewstect these different deployment models to endbléility, ease, agility, compatibility,
extensibility and seamlessness.

A selective and active acquisition program is aaptmportant element of our corporate strategy.d#eve our acquisitions enhance the
products and services that we can offer to custenesppand our customer base, provide greater tralecelerate innovation, grow our
revenues and earnings, and increase stockholdsz.val
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In recent years, we have invested billions of dslta acquire a number of companies, productsjcg=and technologies that add to, are
complementary to, or have otherwise enhanced dstimx offerings. We expect to continue to acquioenpanies, products, services and
technologies to further our corporate strategy.

We have three businesses that deliver our apgitagplatform and infrastructure technologies: safeevand cloud, hardware systems, and
services. These businesses can be further dividedertain operating segments (Note 16 of Noté&3awsolidated Financial Statements,
included elsewhere in this Annual Report, providdditional information related to our operatingrsegts). Each of our businesses and
operating segments has unique characteristicsaamed Gifferent opportunities and challenges. Altftowe report our actual results in U.S.
Dollars, we conduct a significant number of tramigas in currencies other than U.S. Dollars. Themefwe present constant currency
information to provide a framework for assessinw lowur underlying businesses performed excludingeffexts of foreign currency rate
fluctuations. An overview of our three businessed i@elated operating segments follows.

Software and Cloud Busines

Our software and cloud business, which represeritét], 76% and 75% of our total revenues in fiscdl®2@014 and 2013, respectively, is
comprised of three operating segments: (1) newvsoét licenses and cloud software subscriptionsgl(®)d infrastructure as a service and

(3) software license updates and product supparta Gonstant currency basis, we expect that otwacd and cloud business’ total revenues
generally will continue to increase due to contoshdemand for our software products and cloud saévsabscription offerings, our software
license updates and product support offeringsudiob the high percentage of customers that rehei $oftware license updates and product
support contracts, and our acquisitions, which khallow us to grow and continue to make investraémtresearch and development.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi:.  Our new software licenses and cloud softwabsatptions line of business
markets, sells and delivers our application antfqulien technologies including our SaaS and PaaSinffe (our SaaS and Paa$S offerings are
collectively referred to as cloud software subs@igs), which provide customers a choice of sofenegpplications and platforms that are
delivered via a cloud-based IT environment thahast, manage and support, and the licensing o$oftnvare products including Oracle
Applications, Oracle Database, Oracle Fusion Migdie and Java, among others. Our application aatfbpin technologies are substantially
built on standards-based architectures that aigrigbto help customers reduce the cost and coityleixtheir IT infrastructure. Our
commitment to industry standards results in soféwthat works in customer environments with Oraclaan-Oracle hardware or software
components and that can be adapted to meet spiacifistry or business needs. We focus the engimgefiour products and services to best
connect cloud and opremises deployment models to enable flexibiligses agility, compatibility, extensibility and sdassness. Our softwe
offerings are substantially designed to operatbath single server and clustered server configumatfor cloud or on-premises IT
environments, and to support a choice of operaysgiems including Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Mdgoft Windows and third party UNIX
products, among others. These approaches are dddigisupport customer choice and reduce custaskerQur customers include businesses
of many sizes, government agencies, educationgttisns and resellers. We market and sell outvemfe products and services to these
customers with a sales force positioned to offerdbmbinations that best fit their needs. We enal¢omers to evolve and transform to
substantially any IT environment at whatever pacmdst appropriate for them.

The growth in our new software licenses and oulSSaad PaaS revenues that we report is affecteldebsttength of general economic and
business conditions, governmental budgetary cansérahe competitive position of our software oiffigs, our acquisitions and foreign
currency fluctuations. The substantial majorityoaf new software license transactions are chaiaeteby long sales cycles and the timing
few large software license transactions can subatlyrmaffect our quarterly new software licensesenues. New software licenses and cloud
software subscriptions revenues represented 268ardbtal revenues in fiscal 2015 and 28% in eddisoal 2014 and 2013. Our cloud
software subscriptions contracts, which consiSadS and PaaS arrangements, are generally onme¢oy#ars in duration and we strive to
renew these contracts when they are eligible floewal. Our new software licenses and cloud softwabscriptions segment’s margin has
historically trended upward over the course offthg quarters within a particular fiscal year dodhe historical
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upward trend of our new software licenses revewes those quarterly periods and because the ragdrour costs for this segment are
predominantly fixed in the short-term. However, aew software licenses and cloud software subseniptsegmens margin has been and v
continue to be affected by the fair value adjustimeslating to the cloud SaaS and Paa$S obligatimaisve assumed in our business
combinations (described further below) and by timeization of intangible assets associated witinganies and technologies that we have
acquired.

For certain of our acquired businesses, we recaad@ggtments to reduce the cloud SaaS and Pagfatbfis to their estimated fair values at

the acquisition dates. As a result, as requiredusmess combination accounting rules, we did @obgnize cloud SaaS and PaaS revenues

related to acquired contracts that would have lo¢leerwise recorded by the acquired businesseslapémdent entities in the amounts of $12
million, $17 million and $45 million in fiscal 2012014 and 2013, respectively. To the extent ugdheyicloud SaaS and PaaS contracts are

renewed with us following an acquisition, we walkiognize the revenues for the full values of tleesgracts over their respective contractual
periods.

Cloud Infrastructure as a Service: Our cloud infrastructure as a service offeringsiciwhliepresented 2% of our total revenues in fi2€4l5
and 1% in each of fiscal 2014 and 2013, provideeimensive software and hardware management amdenance services for customer IT
infrastructure for a fee for a stated term thdtdsted at our Oracle data center facilities, seladiner data centers or physically on-premises a
customer facilities; deployment and managementioffs for our software and hardware and relateshifastructure including virtual machine
instances that are subscription-based and desfgnedmputing and reliable and secure object s&ragd certain of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and related support offerings that areogteglin our customers’ data centers for a montidy f

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Customers that purchase software license updaite product support are granted rights to
unspecified product upgrades and maintenance exeasl patches released during the term of theostupgriod, as well as technical support
assistance. Our software license updates and predpport contracts are generally one year in camaSubstantially all of our software
license customers renew their software license tagdand product support contracts annually. Thevgrof software license updates and
product support revenues is primarily influencedhrge factors: (1) the percentage of our softvgapport contract customer base that renew:
its software support contracts, (2) the amountewi software support contracts sold in connectiah ttie sale of new software licenses and
(3) the amount of software support contracts asduineen companies we have acquired.

Software license updates and product support regenhich represented 49%, 47% and 46% of our tet@nues in fiscal 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively, is our highest margin busingss Our software support margins during fiscal2@vere 90% and accounted for 81% of
our total margins over the same period. Our softviaense updates and product support margins eee affected by fair value adjustments
relating to software support obligations assumealisiness combinations (described further below)namortization of intangible assets.
However, over the longer term, we believe thatvgarfe license updates and product support revemeemargins will grow for the following
reasons:

 substantially all of our customers, including cuséwss from acquired companies, renew their soft@apport contracts when eligible
for renewal;

» substantially all of our customers purchase sofi@ense updates and product support contracta Wisy buy new software licens
resulting in a further increase in our softwaremarpcontract base. Even if new software licensgsmues growth was flat, software
license updates and product support revenues veauttinue to grow in comparison to the correspongirigr year periods assuming
contract renewal and cancellation rates and foreigrency rates remained relatively constant sgutestantially all new software
licenses transactions result in the sale of sofiaense updates and product support contracishveldld to our software support
contract base; ar

* our acquisitions have increased our software sugooitract base, as well as the portfolio of prasawailable to be licensed and
supported

We recorded adjustments to reduce software suppéigations assumed in business combinations io ¢ésémated fair values at the
acquisition dates. As a result, as required byrtassi combination accounting rules,
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we did not recognize software license updates aodugt support revenues related to software sumpartracts that would have been othen
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeertis in the amounts of $11 million, $3 milliand $14 million in fiscal 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively. To the extent underlying sofensupport contracts are renewed with us follovdngcquisition, we will recognize the
revenues for the full values of the software suppontracts over the respective support periodsnihjority of which are one year.

Hardware Systems Busine:

Our hardware systems business is comprised of pgoating segments: (1) hardware systems produdt§2Zrnardware systems support. Our
hardware business represented 14% of our totahumeein fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013. We expect atdviare business to have lower
operating margins as a percentage of revenuestitasoftware and cloud business due to the incréaheasts we incur to produce and
distribute these products and to provide suppoevices, including direct materials and labor cogte expect to make investments in research
and development to improve existing hardware prtsacd services and to develop new hardware predunct services.

Hardware Systems Product We provide a broad selection of hardware systend related services including Oracle Engine8gestems,
servers, storage, networking, workstations andeéldevices, industry specific hardware, virtuala software, operating systems, and
management software to support diverse IT envirarishéncluding cloud computing environments. Weieegr our hardware systems with
virtualization and management capabilities to emdé rapid deployment and efficient managementafd and on-premises IT
infrastructures. Our hardware products support nwdrilie world’s largest cloud infrastructures, indihg the Oracle Cloud.

Our hardware systems products are designed todier ¢a deploy, manage and maintain for our custsrard to improve computing
performance relative to our competitors’ offeringée design our hardware products to seamlesslyemiram-premises and cloud IT
environments to further enable interoperabilitgeinhangeability and extendibility and to work imstomer environments that may include
other Oracle or non-Oracle hardware or softwarepaments. Our flexible and open approach providegl@rcustomers with a broad range of
choices in how they deploy our hardware productdclvwe believe is a priority for our customers.

Oracle Engineered Systems are core to our hardvimengs and are important elements of our datdereand cloud computing offerings
including the Oracle Cloud. These pre-integratemtipcts are designed to integrate multiple Oradkrielogy components to work together to
deliver improved performance, availability, secpeand operational efficiency relative to our conijpes’ products, to be upgraded effectively
and efficiently and to simplify maintenance cydbysproviding a single solution for software patahi®racle Engineered Systems are tested
before they are shipped to customers and delivexadly-to-run, enabling customers to shorten the tmrproduction.

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&RC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers run thel®&alaris operating system and are
designed to be differentiated by their reliabil#gcurity, and scalability. Our milze and large servers are designed to offer hedtdormance
and lower total cost of ownership than mainfram&teays for business critical applications, for costts having more computationally
intensive needs, and as platforms for building dloamputing IT environments. Our SPARC serversaise a core component of the Oracle
SuperCluster, one of our Oracle Engineered Systems.

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x8@&seare based on microprocessors from Intel Catjmor and are compatible with Oracle
Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Windows and otloperating systems. Our x86 servers are also acomn@onent of many of our Oracle
Engineered Systems including Oracle Exadata Dataldashine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oraclalitics In-Memory Machine and the
Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Our storage products are designed to securely reapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive sofveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems enviranme
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Our networking and data center fabric productduiiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Inf8@nd and Ethernet technologies, are |
with our server and storage products and are iatedrinto our management tools to help enterprstomers improve infrastructure
performance, reduce cost and complexity and sinptifirage and server connectivity.

We offer hardware products and services designespkecific industries. Our point-of-sale hardwafferings include point-of-sale terminals
and related hardware that are designed for mandugisigesses within the food and beverage, hotetetad industries, among others. Our
hardware products and services for communicatietsarks include network signaling, policy controldasubscriber data management
solutions, and session border control technologgrey others.

The majority of our hardware systems products al@ through indirect channels, including independ#stributors and value added resellers.

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrdernal manufacturing operations as well agltparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgjicontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers and storage systems. For all other rmanuing, we generally rely on third party
manufacturing partners to produce our hardwarg¢agleomponents and hardware products and we majvaour internal manufacturing
operations in the final assembly, testing and ¢yiabntrol processes for these components and ptedwe distribute most of our hardware
products either from our facilities or partner fiigis. We strive to reduce costs by simplifying emanufacturing processes through increased
standardization of components across product tgpdsa “build-to-order” manufacturing process in ethproducts generally are built only
after customers have placed firm orders.

Our hardware systems products revenues, cost diaae systems products and hardware systems apgemtirgins that we report are affec
by our strategy for and the competitive positiomof hardware systems products, the strength afrgeaconomic and business conditions,
governmental budgetary constraints, certain ofamguisitions and foreign currency rate fluctuatidnsaddition, our operating margins for our
hardware systems products segment have been drzbwiffected by the amortization of intangibleedss

Our quarterly hardware systems products revenweditiicult to predict. The timing of customer ordeand delays in our ability to timely
manufacture or deliver a few large hardware tratisag, among other factors, could substantiallgefthe amount of hardware systems
products revenues, expenses and operating mahging/é report.

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideotusts with software updates for software componitatis
are essential to the functionality of our hardwareducts, such as Oracle Solaris and certain sthfévare products, and can include product
repairs, maintenance services and technical supporices. Typically, our hardware systems supgpamtract arrangements are priced as a
percentage of the net hardware systems producsdezinvoiced to the customer at the beginning@tupport period and are one year in
duration. We continue to evolve hardware systerppat processes that are intended to proactivelgtify and solve quality issues and to
increase the amount of new and renewed hardwarensgsupport contracts sold in connection withséles of our hardware systems prodt
Our hardware systems support revenues that wetrapoinfluenced by a number of factors, including volume of purchases of hardware
products, the mix of hardware products purchaséether customers decide to purchase hardware sysigoport contracts at or in close
proximity to the time of hardware product sale, pleecentage of our hardware systems support camuatomer base that renews its support
contracts and our acquisitions. Substantially fithese factors are heavily influenced by our comis’ decisions to either maintain or upgrade
their existing hardware systems’ infrastructureéaly developed technologies that are available.

Our hardware systems support margins have beewidirmk affected by certain of our acquisitions amthted accounting, including fair value
adjustments relating to hardware systems supptigations assumed, and by the amortization of igitale assets. As required by business
combination accounting rules, we recorded adjuststenreduce our hardware systems support revdouesntracts assumed from our
acquisitions to their estimated fair values. Thes®unts would have been recorded as hardware sysigmport revenues by
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the acquired businesses as independent entitthe Emounts of $4 million, $11 million and $14 moifl for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. To the extent underlying hardwaregesys support contracts are renewed with us follgwin acquisition, we will recognize the
revenues for the full values of the hardware systeuapport contracts over the respective suppoitgser

Services Busines

Our services business, which represented 9%, 1@P4 5% of our total revenues in fiscal 2015, fistal4 and fiscal 2013, respectively, is
comprised of the remainder of our operating segméntir services business has lower margins thasajtware and cloud and hardware
businesses. Our services revenues are impactedr fsgrategy for and the competitive position of services, certain of our acquisitions,
general economic conditions, governmental budgetangtraints, personnel reductions in our custonfiErdepartments, tighter controls over
discretionary spending and the growth in our sofénand hardware systems products revenues. Oucagiwsiness’ offerings include:

» consulting services that are designed to help ostoeers and global system integrator partners sueeessfully architect and deploy
our products, including IT strategy alignment, eptise architecture planning and design, initi@darct implementation and
integration, and ongoing product enhancements pgdades. We utilize a global, blended delivery nidal@ptimize value for our
customers and partners, consisting of on-premisesuitants from local geographies, industry spetgaand consultants from our
global delivery and solution cente

» advanced customer support services, which are gedvdn-premises and remotely to our customersdblerincreased performance
and higher availability of their Oracle productsla®rvices; an

» education services for Oracle products and seryvioekiding training and certification programstthee offered to customers, partners
and employees through a variety of formats, inclgdnstructor-led classes at our education cenligesyirtual training, self-paced
online training, private events and custom train

Acquisitions

A selective and active acquisition program is aapttmportant element of our corporate strategyebrent years, we have invested billions of
dollars to acquire a number of complementary congsaproducts, services and technologies incluMiQROS Systems, Inc. (MICROS) in
fiscal 2015, Responsys, Inc. (Responsys) and Tekalebal, Inc. (Tekelec) in fiscal 2014, and Acnaeket, Inc. (Acme Packet) in fiscal 20.
among others. We believe our acquisition prograengthens our competitive position, enhances thdymts and services that we can offer to
customers, expands our customer base, providetegezale to accelerate innovation, grows our regsrand earnings and increases
stockholder value. We expect to continue to acqeorapanies, products, services and technologigstimerance of our corporate strategy.
Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemeriuded elsewhere in this Annual Report proviggditional information related to o
recent acquisitions.

We believe we can fund our future acquisitions witin internally available cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities, cash generated
from operations, additional borrowings or from thguance of additional securities. We estimatdittacial impact of any potential

acquisition with regard to earnings, operating rmargash flow and return on invested capital tadpetfore deciding to move forward with an
acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accoggiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aauiing Standards Codification (ASC) and we consttiervarious staff accounting
bulletins and other applicable guidance issuechbyunited States Securities and Exchange Commi$SieE&). GAAP, as set forth within the
ASC, requires us to make certain estimates, jud¢graard assumptions. We believe that the estimaigments and assumptions upon which
we rely are reasonable based upon informationaailto us at the time that these
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estimates, judgments and assumptions are madee €stmates, judgments and assumptions can dffeceported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the financial statenseas well as the reported amounts of revenuesx@mehses during the periods presented. T
extent there are differences between these essjatlgments or assumptions and actual resultdjrancial statements will be affected. The
accounting policies that reflect our more significastimates, judgments and assumptions and whichelieve are the most critical to aid in
fully understanding and evaluating our reporteaficial results include the following:

» Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

» Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
» Accounting for Income Taxe

» Legal and Other Contingenci

» Stock-Based Compensatic

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a jpéattitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARIadoes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areagshich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alternativeuld not produce
materially different result. Our senior managentes reviewed our critical accounting policies agldted disclosures with the Finance and
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software dmadcrevenues, including new software licensesmage earned from granting licenses to
our software products and industry specific sofayatoud SaaS and PaaS revenues generated frofiofeganting customers access to a
broad range of our software and related suppoetiofjs on a subscription basis in a secure, stdedzased cloud computing environment;
cloud laaS revenues generated from fees for deoyand management offerings for our software amdvare and related IT infrastructure
generally on a subscription basis; and softwaenke updates and product support revenues (dedduitiber below); (2) hardware systems
revenues, which include the sale of hardware sysfmwducts including Oracle Engineered Systemspaben servers, storage products,
networking and data center fabric products, andstrg specific hardware; and hardware systems stippeenues; and (3) services, which
include software and hardware related servicesidtiey consulting, advanced customer support andagidun revenues. Revenues generally
recognized net of any taxes collected from custeraad subsequently remitted to governmental auib®ri

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and Softvirelated Services (Software Elements)

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &

application software and exclude cloud SaaS an8 Paznues and revenues derived from softwaresé&apdates, which are included in
software license updates and product support regefthe basis for our new software licenses reveseagnition is substantially governed by
the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-&aftware-Revenue Recognitidfe exercise judgment and use estimates in conmegitb
the determination of the amount of software antinsoke related services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undaties; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftesdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaegnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetsaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howef/atceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where
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acceptance periods are required by law, or with@vipusly executed terms and conditions that diereaced in the current agreement and are
short-term in nature, we generally recognize reesrupon delivery provided the acceptance termpenfenctory and all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met. If acceptarroeipions are not perfunctory (for example, accepeaprovisions that are long-term in nature
or are not included as standard terms of an arraagg, revenues are recognized upon the earliexogfipt of written customer acceptance or
expiration of the acceptance period.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teahonantent, as well as internet and telephone adeetechnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsearerglly priced as a percentage of the net newvaddtlicenses fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Software Products and Software Related Servicdsn@® Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customerspghichase both software related products and asoftwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @etd to as software related multiple-element geaments). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our softaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiple-element arrangementshawe applied the residual method to determine tieuat of new software license revenues
to be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Underdbielual method, if fair value exists for undefe@ elements in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undeliverethel®s is deferred with the remaining portion of dhengement consideration generally
recognized upon delivery of the software license. Alfocate the fair value of each element of ansarke related multiple-element arrangement
based upon its fair value as determined by our @esplecific objective evidence (VSOHescribed further below), with any remaining amt
allocated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Cloud SaaS, PaaS and |&a8rQs, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware 8ystupport and Related Services
(Nonsoftware Elements)

Our revenue recognition policy for nonsoftware dlables including cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS mdfgrhardware systems products, suppo
and related services is based upon the accountiigmce contained in ASC 605-Fevenue RecognitigiMultiple-Element Arrangements,
and we exercise judgment and use estimates in cbonavith the determination of the amount of cl&ahS, PaaS and laaS revenues,
hardware systems products revenues, support aatddedervices revenues to be recognized in eacluiaiiceg period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence afrmmgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc¢8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled &) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmadause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reagefur estimated returns or certain other incergiagrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéné an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiatited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings generally praidéomers access to certain of our software wahiioud-based IT environment that we
manage, host and support and offer to customeassatbscription basis. Revenues for our cloud Sad3aaS offerings are generally
recognized ratably over the contract term commaengiith the date the service is made available giaruers and all other revenue recognitior
criteria have been satisfied.
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Our cloud laaS offerings provide deployment and ag@ment offerings for our software and hardwarerataded IT infrastructure including
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services arrangements for customerfidsiructure for a stated term that
is hosted at our data center facilities, seledngardata centers or physically on-premises abouwst facilities generally for a term-based fee;
and virtual machine instances that are subscrigigsed and designed for computing and reliablesandre object storage. Revenues for thes
cloud laaS offerings are generally recognized tgtaber the contract term commencing with the dhgeservice is made available to custor
and all other revenue recognition criteria havenbssdisfied.

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejatssent amounts earned primarily from the shteioOracle Engineered Systems,
computer servers, storage, networking and indusstegific hardware.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the saféwcomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our hardware products and can atetude product repairs, maintenance servicesectthical support services. Hardware
systems support contracts are generally pricedpasc@ntage of the net hardware systems produess ftardware systems support contracts
are entered into at the customer’s option anderegnized ratably over the contractual term ofaliangements, which are typically one year.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements—Cloud SaaS, PaaS and laa8r@#, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware
Systems Support and Related Services (Nonsoftweegkments)

We enter into arrangements with customers thathase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as némgre multiple-element arrangements). Each elémwéhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntbe delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righ¢tofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgyeoduct or service is considered probable asdlistantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the prbduservice is sold separately by us or anotkeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinobhtde a general right of return relative to thedivered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of accounting aremet, the deliverable is combined with the undetrdeglement(s) and treated as a single unit of
accounting for the purposes of allocation of thammgement consideration and revenue recognitiontHése units of accounting that include
more than one deliverable but are treated as #esimit of accounting, we generally recognize rexeasnover the contractual period of the
arrangement or in the case of our cloud offerimgsgenerally recognize revenues over the contrbtetra of the cloud software subscription.
For the purposes of revenue classification of thments that are accounted for as a single urEitobunting, we allocate revenue to the
respective revenue line items within our consolidagtatements of operations based on a rationat@mistent methodology utilizing our best
estimate of relative selling prices of such eleraent

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdubupon the following selling price hierarchy: iS® available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available &dption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanawmsystems product includes software, we determiegher the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelioer the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obaating for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadteunit based on the aforementioned selling grieearchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishabt contingent upon future delivery of addiibproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppatthandware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE
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is established by evaluating similar and intercleafde competitor products or services in standadwrengements with similarly situated
customers. If we are unable to determine the spfiiice because VSOE or TPE does not exist, werdete ESP for the purposes of allocating
the arrangement by reviewing historical transastjamcluding transactions whereby the deliveralds sold on a standalone basis and
considering several other external and internabfaancluding, but not limited to, pricing praa&including discounting, margin objectives,
competition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and servittes type of customer (i.e., distributor, ve
added reseller, government agency and direct esigl asong others) and the stage of the producllife. The determination of ESP is made
through consultation with and approval by our mamagnt, taking into consideration our pricing maaiedl go-to-market strategy. As our, or
our competitors’, pricing and go-to-market stragsgevolve, we may modify our pricing practiceshia tuture, which could result in changes tc
our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. As a resultfuture revenue recognition for multiple-elerharrangements could differ materially
from our results in the current period. Sellingcps are analyzed on an annual basis or more frédgufewe experience significant changes in
our selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to botht®8afe and Nonsoftware Elements

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Arrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevaalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including new saftnlicenses, software license updates and predpgtort, cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS
offerings, hardware systems products, hardwar@esyssupport, consulting, advanced customer supporices and education. In such
arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangermensideration based on the relative sellinggsriof the software group of elements as a
whole and to the nonsoftware elements. We thehdumllocate consideration within the software grtaithe respective elements within that
group following the guidance in ASC 9885 and our policies as described above. Afteath@ngement consideration has been allocated
elements, we account for each respective elemeheiarrangement as described above.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable tim&oe and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consyliitimplementation services sold separately undesuting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Cngukvenues from these arrangements are genadbunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88&-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the nattisenwices (i.e., consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalitsheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantariaron the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthddtere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for
consulting services, revenues are deferred umiliticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimihite proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcaswee progress towards completion, revenues aogmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been @iathlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenueacevae for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléné consulting organization delivering
the services. The complexity of the estimation pescand factors relating to the assumptions, askisuncertainties inherent with the
application of the proportional performance metbbdccounting affects the amounts of revenues alated expenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A number ofrmakand external factors can affect our estimanes ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testaguirement changes.

Our advanced customer support services are ofteatihindalone arrangements or as a part of arramgeho customers buying other software
and non-software products and services. We offessetadvanced support
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services, both on-premises and remote, to Orac®mers to enable increased performance and héyladability of their products and
services. Depending upon the nature of the arraaggmevenues from these services are recognizéie a&ervices are performed or ratably
over the term of the service period, which is geltgone year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsimess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargescognized as the classes or other educafienngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements areb dmt qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sygisdsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based orractraicccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safénand cloud, hardware systems and services amays: (1) that include milestones or
customer specific acceptance criteria that maycaffellection of the software license or hardwaretams product fees; (2) where consulting
services include significant modification or custpation of the software or hardware systems produetre of a specialized nature and
generally performed only by Oracle; (3) where digant consulting services are provided for in sloéware license contract or hardware
systems product contract without additional changare substantially discounted; or (4) where tifersare license or hardware systems
product payment is tied to the performance of cliimguservices. For the purposes of revenue classibn of the elements that are accounted
for as a single unit of accounting, we allocateereies to software and nonsoftware elements basadaiional and consistent methodology
utilizing our best estimate of the relative sellprice of such elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w$ the software or hardware systems productst@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentieatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suakterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@aggrof the applicable funding provision by the govunental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalthe atme of sale and recognize revenues if aktiotbvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 dayset#r, payment terms may vary based on the coimtiich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgetaémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoccessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredrizifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within louginesses include short-term payment terms, we &atandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers priityathrough our financing division. Since fisca89, when our financing division was
formed, we have established a history of collectimithout concessions, on these receivables wiyimeat terms that generally extend up to
five years from the contract date. Provided alkottevenue recognition criteria have been met,egegnize new software licenses revenues
and hardware systems products revenues for theemggaments upon delivery, net of any payment distsofiom financing transactions. We
have generally sold receivables financed througtfinancing division on a non-recourse basis tadtipiarty financing institutions within 90
days of the contractsglates of execution and we classify the proceeds fhese sales as cash flows from operating aet$viti our consolidate
statements of cash flows. We account for the sHldsese receivables as “true sales” as definédSi@ 860,Transfers and Servicingas we ar
considered to have surrendered control of thesadimg receivables.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with leggiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeoduats. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing casgpganerally have no recourse to us in the eviesiefault by the end-user and we recognizc
revenue upon delivery, if all other revenue rectignicriteria have been met.
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Our customers include several of our suppliers andasionally, we have purchased goods or serfacesir operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent Transatt®ofware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nth time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment aasdliasure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @selin cash. We recognize revenues from
Concurrent Transactions if all of our revenue rexdtign criteria are met and the goods and senacegiired are necessary for our current
operations.

Business Combination

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased at the acquisition date fair values. Goodasilbf the acquisition date is measured as th
excess of consideration transferred over the ntteolcquisition date fair values of the assetsiaed and the liabilities assumed. While we
our best estimates and assumptions to accuratklg easets acquired and liabilities assumed adhaisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimatesndmerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquikdadilities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabusof the measurement period or final determinatibiine values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anysegjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidgsétements of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires canagement to make significant estimates and asgumpespecially at the acquisition
date, including our estimates for intangible assmintractual obligations assumed, restructuriabilities, pre-acquisition contingencies and
contingent consideration, where applicable. AltHoug believe the assumptions and estimates werhade in the past have been reasonable
and appropriate, they are based in part on histiogicperience and information obtained from the ag@ment of the acquired companies and
are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certdinhe intangible assets we have acquired includetminot limited to:

 future expected cash flows from software licendessaloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS contracts, hardwsteams product sales, support
agreements, consulting contracts, other customdraxis, acquired developed technologies and s

» expected costs to develop theprocess research and development into commereialbfe products and estimated cash flows fron
projects when complete

» the acquired company’s brand and competitive positis well as assumptions about the period of timaecquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined com|'s product portfolio; an

+ discount rates
Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocetintay affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions, estimates or actual results.

We estimate the fair values of our cloud SaaS @abRcollectively, cloud software subscriptionsffware license updates and product
support, and hardware systems support obligatissisraed. The estimated fair values of these periaceabligations are determined utilizing
a cost build-up approach. The cost build-up appgraltermines fair value by estimating the costeel to fulfilling the obligations plus a
normal profit margin. The estimated costs to fltfie obligations are based on the historical dicests related to providing the services
including the correction of any errors in the prouacquired. The sum of these costs and openatoft approximates, in theory, the amount
that we would be required to pay a third partygsusne the performance obligations. We do not irchrdy costs associated with selling effi
or research and development or the related fuldiitrmargins on these costs. Profit associatedamighselling efforts is excluded because the

48



Table of Contents

acquired entities would have concluded those sgé#iifiorts on the performance obligations priortte cquisition date. We also do not include
the estimated research and development costs ifaiowalue determinations, as these costs areemmed to represent a legal obligation at th
time of acquisition. As a result, we did not reciagrcloud SaaS and PaasS revenues related to chafsl &hd PaaS contracts in the amounts o
$12 million, $17 million and $45 million that woulthve been otherwise recorded by the acquired bssiis as independent entities in fiscal
2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. We did not reizegsoftware license updates and product suppeenues related to support contracts in
the amounts of $11 million, $3 million and $14 oifl that would have been otherwise recorded bytigiired businesses as independent
entities in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectiviel addition, we did not recognize hardware systsupport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts that would have othersés@e recorded by the acquired businesses as mdieqteentities in the amounts of $4
million, $11 million and $14 million for fiscal 2@l 2014 and 2013, respectively. Historically, sahsally all of our customers, including
customers from acquired companies, renew theiwso# license updates and product support contvdwts the contracts are eligible for
renewal and we strive to renew cloud SaaS and RemF)ardware systems support contracts. To tlemesloud SaaS and PaaS, software
support or hardware systems support contractseamwed, we will recognize the revenues for thevialles of the contracts over their
respective contractual periods, which are generallyyear in duration.

In connection with a business combination or offtetegic initiative, we may estimate costs assediwith restructuring plans committed to
by our management. Restructuring costs are typicalinprised of employee severance costs, costsnsiotidating duplicate facilities and
contract termination costs. Restructuring expeasedased upon plans that have been committed dartbypanagement, but may be refined in
subsequent periods. We account for costs to exdésiructure certain activities of an acquired canypseparately from the business
combination pursuant to ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligation# liability for costs associated with an exit osposal activity is
recognized and measured at its fair value in onsalidated statement of operations in the periadhith the liability is incurred. When
estimating the fair value of facility restructuriagtivities, assumptions are applied regardingresgd sub-lease payments to be received,
which can differ materially from actual results.i¥ may require us to revise our initial estimatdésolr may materially affect our results of
operations and financial position in the periodiingsion is made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatedand may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafficient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of thevédile estimates of assets acquired and liaksildEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.

If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglaby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matifirsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed oiagility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (ii) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relateluation allowances assumed in connection withsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinzunoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary estésdeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatiothe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatethl@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets— Impairment Assessments

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wiegar events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with ASC 3Blangibles—Goodwill and OtherAccording to ASC 350, we can opt to perform alitaiave
assessment to test a reporting unit's goodwill for
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impairment or we can directly perform the two strapairment test. Based on our qualitative assestrifiere determine that the fair value of a
reporting unit is more likely than not (i.e., adllhood of more than 50 percent) to be less thandtrying amount, the two step impairment tes
prescribed by ASC 350 will be performed. In thstfstep, we compare the fair value of each reppuiiit to its carrying value. If the fair val

of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying valuthefnet assets assigned to that unit, goodwilbtsconsidered impaired and we are not
required to perform further testing. If the carryivalue of the net assets assigned to the repartiigexceeds the fair value of the reporting
unit, then we must perform the second step ofrifmirment test in order to determine the impliadvalue of the reporting unit’'s goodwill. If
the carrying value of a reporting unit’'s goodwiticeeds its implied fair value, then we would recandmpairment loss equal to the difference

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imves the use of significant estimates and assum@tibhese estimates and assumptions in
revenue growth rates and operating margins usedltolate projected future cash flows, risk-adjdstsscount rates, future economic and
market conditions and determination of appropnmaseket comparables. We base our fair value estBrateassumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. Adtuare results may differ from those estimatesadidition, we make certain judgments and
assumptions in allocating shared assets and tiabilo determine the carrying values for eachusfreporting units.

Based upon our most recent annual goodwill impaitmeview which took place as of March 1, 2015,raeorded a goodwill impairment loss
related to our hardware systems products repoutitig We considered several approaches to deterthénfair value of our hardware systems
reporting unit and concluded the most appropriatestthe income approach. Based upon the completioanr annual forecasting process, the
fair value of our hardware systems products repgminit under the income approach was impacted\wei forecasted operating results,
primarily caused by lower forecasted revenues amatontinued investment in research and developmgtittities. We compared the implied
fair value of goodwill in our hardware systems prod reporting unit to its carrying value, whiclsutted in a $186 million goodwill
impairment loss, representing the aggregate anafigaodwill in our hardware systems products rapgrtinit. The aggregate hardware
systems reporting unit goodwill that was impainediscal 2015 resulted from our acquisitions ofdiData Systems, Inc., Xsigo Systems, |
GreenBytes, Inc. and MICROS Systems, Inc. Such immeant loss was recorded to acquisition relatedathdr expenses in our fiscal 2015
consolidated statement of operations. We did naigeize any goodwill impairment losses in fiscal2@r 2013.

Our most recent annual goodwill impairment reviewdur other reporting units, which also took placeMarch 1, 2015, did not result in a
goodwill impairment loss. Other than our consultiegorting unit, all of our other reporting unitachfair values that substantially exceeded
their carrying values. Our consulting reportingturad $1.8 billion of goodwill on March 1, 2015,daexperienced revenue and operating
margin declines in fiscal 2015. As of our most re@nnual goodwill impairment review, our consugtireporting unit’s fair value was 16% in
excess of its carrying value. We estimate that khour consulting reporting unit's projected maigand related cash flows unfavorably
deviate from our projections by 20% or more, ourstdting reporting unit likely would incur a goodinmpairment loss.

We make judgments about the recoverability of paseldl finite lived intangible assets whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. Each period we evaltige estimated remaining useful lives of purctiastangible assets and whether events ¢
changes in circumstances warrant a revision toehmining periods of amortization. Recoverabilityioite lived intangible assets is measurec
by comparison of the carrying amount of the asséhté future undiscounted cash flows the assetrsated to generate. We review indefinite
lived intangible assets for impairment annually afetnever events or changes in circumstances itedilca carrying value may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of indefinite livedangible assets is measured by comparison of thgimgramount of the asset to its fair value
the asset is considered to be impaired, the amaflarty impairment is measured as the differencedxt the carrying value and the fair value
of the impaired asset.

Assumptions and estimates about future valuesemdining useful lives of our intangible and ottergd-lived assets are complex and
subjective. They can be affected by a variety ofdes, including external factors such as induatrgt economic trends and internal factors suc
as changes in our business strategy and our ihmterna
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forecasts. Although we believe the historical agstizns and estimates we have made are reasonabbgparopriate, different assumptions i
estimates could materially impact our reportedrfial results. We did not recognize any intangdseet impairment charges in fiscal 2015,
2014 or 2013.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining ewarldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a global business, there are man
transactions and calculations where the ultimat@tacome is uncertain. Some of these uncertaiatiss as a consequence of revenue sharir
and cost reimbursement arrangements among relat#igés the process of identifying items of reves@and expenses that qualify for
preferential tax treatment and segregation of preind domestic earnings and expenses to avoideltaxation. Although we believe that our
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieese matters could be different from that whicreftected in our historical income tax
provisions and accruals. Such differences coule lramaterial effect on our income tax provision aatlincome in the period in which such
determination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvesigidide the United States. Remittances of foreagniags to the United States are planned
based on projected cash flow, working capital anvé$tment needs of our foreign and domestic opgrstBased on these assumptions, we
estimate the amount that will be distributed toltméted States and provide U.S. federal taxes esetamounts. Material changes in our
estimates as to how much of our foreign earningidoeidistributed to the United States or tax legien that limits or restricts the amount of
undistributed foreign earnings that we consideefimitely reinvested outside the United States douéterially impact our income tax
provision and effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be alglerierate sufficient taxable income in those juciszhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We consider future growth, forecastedirgs) future taxable income, the mix of earningthim jurisdictions in which we operate,
historical earnings, taxable income in prior yedrsarryback is permitted under the law and prudem feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehievent we were to determine that we would nattde to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethietaleferred tax assets valuation allowance wbeldharged to earnings in the period in wi
we make such a determination, or goodwill wouldatisted at our final determination of the valuatidiowance related to an acquisition
within the measurement period. If we later detemnrihmt it is more likely than not that the net defd tax assets would be realized, we would
reverse the applicable portion of the previousiyvied valuation allowance as an adjustment toiegsrat such time.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provikiased on estimates and assumptions that couét #liéim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generatiprded in the period when the tax return:
are filed and the global tax implications are knowhich can materially impact our effective taxerat

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgeiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonasy uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentatéscription of our accounting policies
associated with tax related contingencies assumedpart of a business combination is provided utilesiness Combinations” above. For
those tax related contingencies that are not agbabusiness combination, we account for thesentain tax issues pursuant to ASC 740,
Income Taxe, which contains a two-step approach to recogniaimgy measuring uncertain tax positions taken oeebea to be taken in a tax
return. The first step is to determine if the weighavailable evidence indicates that it is makelyy than not that the tax position will be
sustained in an audit, including resolution of aglated appeals or litigation processes. The sestapis to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmdized upon ultimate settlement. Although we veliee have adequately reserved for our
uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be giterrespect to the final outcome of these mattéfs.adjust reserves for our uncertain tax
positions due to changing facts and circumstarsees) as the closing of a tax audit, judicial ruingnd refinement of estimates or realization
of earnings or deductions that differ from
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our estimates. To the extent that the final outcofitbese matters is different than the amountsrds, such differences generally will impact
our provision for income taxes in the period in @hsuch a determination is made. Our provisiongnmsme taxes include the impact of
reserve provisions and changes to reserves thabastdered appropriate and also include the ekiaterest and penalties.

In addition, as a part of our accounting for busgneombinations, intangible assets are recogniziedr a¥alues and goodwill is measured as th
excess of consideration transferred over the righated fair values of assets acquired. Impairnsbarges associated with goodwill are
generally not tax deductible and will result ininoreased effective income tax rate in the periad &ny impairment is recorded. Amortization
expenses associated with acquired intangible aseetpenerally not tax deductible pursuant to aistiag tax structure; however, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anatidiz expenses as a part of the accounting fonbasicombinations. We have taken into
account the allocation of these identified intategtamong different taxing jurisdictions, includitigpse with nominal or zero percent tax rates
in establishing the related deferred tax liabiitie

Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. A description of agcounting policies associated with contingencessimed as a part of a business combinatio
is provided under “Business Combinations” above.|Egal and other contingencies that are not agfatbusiness combination, we accrue a
liability for an estimated loss if the potentiab$ofrom any claim or legal proceeding is considgmtbable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgment is required in bibitlh determination of probability and the deterrtioraas to whether the amount of an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of @ictes related to these matters, accruals aradlmadg on the best information available at
the time the accruals are made. As additional médion becomes available, we reassess the potéaliity related to our pending claims and
litigation and may revise our estimates. Such femisin the estimates of the potential liabiliteesild have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employesading grants of service-based employee stodkptservice-based restricted stock
awards, performance-based restricted stock awB@9¢) and purchases under employee stock purclasse m accordance with ASC 718,
Compensation—Stock Compensatighich requires that share-based payments (to ttemethey are compensatory) be recognized in our
consolidated statements of operations based onftievalues and the estimated number of sharesliiveately expect will vest. For our
service-based awards, we recognize stock-basedeswapon expense on a straight-line basis ovesahgce period of the award, which is
generally four years. For our PSUs, we recogniaeksbased compensation expense on a straight-isis bver the service period for each
separately vesting tranche, as the performancetemmglto evaluate attainment of each tranche &@heparticipant are independent of the
performance conditions for the other tranches.

We are required to estimate the stock awards teatltimately expect to vest and to reduce stogaked compensation expense for the effec
estimated forfeitures of awards over the expensegrtion period. Although we estimate the ratéuddire forfeitures based upon historical
experience, actual forfeitures in the future mdfedi To the extent our actual forfeitures areeliént than our estimates, we record a trpder
the difference in the period that a grantee tertemar the awards vest and such true-ups couldrialfteaffect our operating results.
Additionally, we also consider on a quarterly bagigether there have been any significant changéscts and circumstances that would affect
our expected forfeiture rate.

We estimate the fair values of employee stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation modek Tir value of an award is affected by
our stock price on the date of grant as well asrotissumptions including the estimated volatilitypor stock price over the term of the awards
and the estimated period of time that we expecti@yeps to hold their stock options. The risk-freerest rate assumption we use is based
upon U.S. treasury interest rates appropriatenf@ekpected life of the awards. We use the impl@ditility of publicly traded
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options in our stock in order to estimate futueektprice trends as we believe that implied vatgtis more representative of future stock price
trends than historical volatility. In order to detgne the estimated period of time that we expeagileyees to hold their stock options, we have
used historical rates of employee groups by segiofijob classification. Our expected dividendereg based upon an annualized dividend
based on the per share dividend declared by ourdBifeDirectors. The aforementioned inputs enténéol the option valuation model we ust
fair value our stock awards are subjective estimatal changes to these estimates will cause thealaies of our stock awards and related
stock-based compensation expense that we receathyo

We issue PSUs to certain key executives. We esithatfair values of the PSUs based upon theinsitrvalues as of the grant dates as the
vesting conditions and related terms of the PSUgs wemmunicated to each participating employed #seir respective grant dates and
include attainment metrics that are defined, fiaad consistently determined based upon consistéht®AAP metrics or internal metrics and
that require the employee to render service. Thipeance conditions of the PSUs affect the nunabé&rSUs that will ultimately vest and be
issued to the grantee based upon a “target” thailigect to certain attainment maximums, with thesibility that none will vest if applicable
performance conditions are not met. We update rin@uat of stock-based compensation expense, netfeitiires, to record as of the end of
each reporting period based on the expected attinaf performance targets, which is subject tangeauntil a final determination is known.
Changes to the target estimates are reflecteceiariount of stock-based compensation expense thetaegnize for each PSU tranche on a
cumulative basis during the reporting period inehhthe target estimates are altered and may chasaount of stock-based compensation
expense that we record for such reporting periogatyg.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based amsagien awards that result in deductions on owrime tax returns, based on the amount of
stock-based compensation recognized and the faiesattributable to the vested portion of stoclkas assumed in connection with a
business combination, at the statutory tax ratberjurisdiction in which we will receive a tax dedion. Because the deferred tax assets we
record are based upon the stock-based compensagi@mses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiomed inputs that affect the fair values of
our stock awards may also indirectly affect ouome tax expense. In addition, differences betwkerdeferred tax assets recognized for
financial reporting purposes and the actual taxudgédn reported on our income tax returns are @bin additional paid-in capital.

To the extent we change the terms of our emplotek$ased compensation programs, experience meolatlity in the pricing of our
common stock that increases the implied volatd@jculation of publicly traded options in our stposfine different assumptions in future
periods such as forfeiture rates or PSU targeppmdnce attainment that differ from our currenimeates, or assume stock awards from
acquired companies that are different in natura tha stock award arrangements, among other patémipacts, the stockased compensati
expense that we record in future periods and theeaefits that we realize may differ significanflgm what we have recorded in previous
reporting periods.

Results of Operations

Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results in fis2815 compared to fiscal 2014 was impacted byawquisitions, primarily our acquisitions
MICROS in the second quarter of fiscal 2015 andpasys in the third quarter of fiscal 2014.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2814 compared to fiscal 2013 was impacted byawquisitions, primarily our acquisitions
Responsys in the third quarter of fiscal 2014, Teke the first quarter of fiscal 2014 and AcmelRa in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013.

In our discussion of changes in our results of agens from fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014 fschl 2014 compared to fiscal 2013, we
may qualitatively disclose the impact of our acgdiproducts and services (for the one year petibdexjuent to the acquisition date) to the
growth in certain of our operating segments’ re\esnwhere such qualitative discussions would be mgan for an understanding of the
factors that influenced the changes in our regiltperations. When material, we may also providengtative disclosures related to such
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acquired products and services. The contributidrmpacquisitions to certain of our operating segts’ revenues, margins and expenses for
each of the respective period comparisons genaediyiot provided in our discussions, as they eitfeze not separately identifiable due to the
integration of these businesses and operating sagrimto our existing operations, and/or were ingigant to our results of operations during
the periods presented.

We caution readers that, while pre- and post-ag@griscomparisons, as well as any quantified amstimmselves, may provide indications of
general trends, any acquisition information thatprn@vide has inherent limitations for the followingasons:

» any qualitative and quantitative disclosures caspetifically address or quantify the substantfdats attributable to changes in
business strategies, including our sales forcgiaten efforts. We believe that if our acquirednganies had operated independently
and sales forces had not been integrated, thévieekaix of products sold would have been differemtg

 although substantially all of our software liceisistomers, including customers from acquired congsanenew their software licen
updates and product support contracts when theamiatare eligible for renewal and we strive teesgreloud SaaS and PaaS contract:
and hardware systems support contracts, the amshioten as cloud SaaS and PaaS deferred reventtesredicense updates and
product support deferred revenues, and hardwatemgssupport deferred revenues in our supplemdistelbsure related to certain
charges (presented below) are not necessarilyadtidécof revenue improvements we will achieve upontract renewals to the extent
customers do not rene'

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and eahtinue to provide a significant portion of oatal revenues and expenses. As a result,
revenues and expenses will continue to be affényerhanges in the U.S. Dollar against major intéonal currencies. In order to provide a
framework for assessing how our underlying busieeperformed excluding the effects of foreign auckefluctuations, we compare the
percent change in the results from one period theem period in this Annual Report using constamtency disclosure. To present this
information, current and comparative prior perieduits for entities reporting in currencies otlient U.S. Dollars are converted into U.S.
Dollars at constant exchange rates (i.e., the ratefect on May 31, 2014, which was the last dagur prior fiscal year) rather than the actual
exchange rates in effect during the respectiveodsriFor example, if an entity reporting in Eurasl hevenues of 1.0 million Euros from
products sold on May 31, 2015 and 2014, our firelrstatements would reflect reported revenues di&nillion in fiscal 2015 (using 1.08 as
the month-end average exchange rate for the pesimdi$1.36 million in fiscal 2014 (using 1.36 as thonth-end average exchange rate for tt
period). The constant currency presentation, howeweauld translate the fiscal 2015 results usirgfthcal 2014 exchange rate and indicate, ir
this example, no change in revenues during the@gehn each of the tables below, we present thegp¢ichange based on actual, unrounded
results in reported currency and in constant cagren
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Total Revenues and Operating Expenses

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 21,10 4% 6% $ 20,32 3% 1% $ 19,71
EMEA @ 11,38( -5% 4% 11,94¢ 7% 4% 11,15¢
Asia Pacific® 5,73¢ -4% 1% 6,00¢ -5% 2% 6,30:¢
Total revenue: 38,22¢ 0% 4% 38,27¢ 3% 4% 37,18(
Total Operating Expenses 24,35¢ 4% % 23,51¢ 5% 6% 22,49¢
Total Operating Margin $ 13,87 -6% 0% $ 14,75¢ 1% 1% $ 14,68¢
Total Operating Margin % 36% 39% 39%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 53% 53%
EMEA 30% 31% 30%
Asia Pacific 15% 16% 17%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software and Clou $ 29,47t 1% 5% $ 29,19¢ 5% 5% $ 27,92
Hardware Systemr 5,20¢ -3% 2% 5,37 0% 2% 5,34¢
Services 3,54¢ -4% 0% 3,704 -5% -4% 3,914
Total revenue $ 38,22¢ 0% 4% $ 38,27 3% 4% $ 37,18(
% Revenues by Business:
Software and Clou 7% 76% 75%
Hardware Systemr 14% 14% 14%
Services 9% 10% 11%

() Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi
(@  Asia Pacific includes Jap:

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Our results of operations for fiscal 2015 compacefiscal 2014 were significantly impacted by
movements in international currencies relativehW.S. Dollar, which decreased our total revertnye$ percentage points, total operating
expenses by 3 percentage points and total operatoge by 6 percentage points.

Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency viéoias of 4 percentage points, our total revenueseased in fiscal 2015 due to revenue
increases in our software and cloud and hardwatesys businesses. The constant currency growthrieaftware and cloud revenues was
attributable to growth in our software license uedaand product support revenues, growth in ouBSR@aaS and laaS revenues, and revenue
contributions from our recent acquisitions. Thestant currency growth in our hardware systems lagsimnvas attributable to growth in our
hardware systems support revenues, which were plynadtributable to revenue contributions from @acent acquisitions. Excluding the
effects of currency rate fluctuations, the Americastributed 69%, EMEA contributed 28% and Asiaiffacontributed 3% to the growth in
our total revenues during fiscal 2015.

Excluding the effects of favorable currency vadas of 3 percentage points, our total operatingeagps increased during fiscal 2015 due to
expense increases across all of our lines of bssjrtle largest of which were due to increased sald marketing and research and
development expenses resulting primarily from iasesl headcount, increased cloud SaaS and PaaSespersupport the increase in our
cloud SaaS and PaaS revenues, and increased tioguisiated and other expenses.

Excluding the effects of unfavorable foreign cuogmnate fluctuations of 6 percentage points, asedl 2015 operating margin was flat in
comparison to the prior year, while our operatirgrgm as a percentage of revenues decreased disgay2015 as our total operating
expenses increased at a faster rate than our¢vehues.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013 On a constant currency basis, our total reveimmeased in fiscal 2014 due to increases in our
software and cloud business revenues and our heedwatems business revenues, partially offsetdgcaease in our services business
revenues. The constant currency revenue growthrin o
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software and cloud business was substantiallybatble to growth in our software license updates@roduct support revenues and, to a I¢
extent, growth in our cloud SaaS and PaaS revatugeto incremental revenues from our acquisitidihg constant currency revenue growt
our hardware business was due to an increase inasdware systems support revenues due substandiaticremental revenues from our
acquisitions and due to increases in our hardwearenues attributable to our Oracle Engineered 8yst®n a constant currency basis, the
Americas contributed 61%, EMEA contributed 30% &sih Pacific contributed 9% to our total revenuesagh during fiscal 2014.

Total constant currency operating expenses incgediseng fiscal 2014 primarily due to an increassales and marketing and research and
development expenses resulting from increased beatldncreased sales-based variable compensaguamses due to revenues growth, and
increased cloud SaaS and PaaS expenses to sumpontitease in our cloud SaaS and PaaS revenuese €Rpense increases in fiscal 2014
were partially offset by lower constant currencpenses in fiscal 2014 from our hardware systempa@tipnd services segments due to
decreased headcount, lower restructuring expeasddpwer intangible assets amortization. In fi3, we recognized a $387 million
acquisition related benefit related to changestimates for contingent consideration payable (refélote 2 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisusahReport for additional information) and a $30@lion benefit relating to certain litigatic
(refer to Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Finanstatements included elsewhere in this Annual Refpo additional information), both of
which decreased our acquisition related and otkereses during this period.

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fliations, our operating margin increased duringpfi014 due to our revenues growth, while
our operating margin as a percentage of revenusdlata
Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our consolidated financial informative believe the following information is helptolan overall understanding of our past
financial performance and prospects for the futMies should review the introduction under “Impat®equisitions” (above) for a discussion
of the inherent limitations in comparing pre- armipacquisition information.

Our operating results included the following busgeombination accounting adjustments and expeakded to acquisitions, as well as
certain other significant expense and income items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013

Cloud software as a service and platform as acedeferred revenu® $ 12 $ 17 $ 45
Software license updates and product support defeavenue® 11 3 14
Hardware systems support deferred rever®) 4 11 14
Amortization of intangible asse 2,14¢ 2,30( 2,38¢
Acquisition related and oth()®) 211 41 (609
Restructurin¢® 207 18< 352
Stoclk-based compensati(® 92¢ 79t 722
Income tax effect® (979 (1,099 (89€6)

$ 2,551 $ 2,25¢ $ 2,032

(@) In connection with our acquisitions, we have estedahe fair values of the cloud SaaS and Paagsptisns, software support and hardware systerppati obligations assumed. T
to our application of business combination accauntules, we did not recognize cloud SaaS and RagBues related to subscription contracts thatdvieave otherwise been
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeeuiéties in the amounts of $12 million, $17 milliand $45 million in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013pesgively. We also did not
recognize software license updates and productostiggrenues related to software support conttaetswould have otherwise been recorded by theigtjbusinesses as indepenc
entities in the amounts of $11 million, $3 milliand $14 million in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, exdjvely. In addition, we did not recognize hardevaystems support revenues
related to hardware systems support contractsihald have otherwise been recorded by the acqbiusthesses as independent entities in the amotifitsraillion, $11 million and
$14 million in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respaii.

Approximately $4 million of estimated cloude&aand PaaS revenues related to contracts assuthedtwe recognized during fiscal 2016 that wohllze otherwise been recognized
as revenues by the acquired businesses as indepemiiées due to the application of the aforerwer@d business combination accounting rules. Agprately $2 million of estimate
software license updates and product support regeralated to software support contracts assumédatibe recognized during fiscal 2016 that wolédve otherwise been recogni:
as revenues by the acquired businesses as indepemiiées due to the application of the aforerwer@d business combination accounting rules. Agprately $1 million of estimate
hardware systems support revenues related to hes
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(6)

systems support contracts assumed will not be rézed during fiscal 2016 that would have otherviisen recognized by certain acquired companiesde@péndent entities due to the
application of the aforementioned business comizinatccounting rules. To the extent customers rethese contracts with us, we expect to recognizemees for the full contracts’
values over the respective contr’ renewal periods

Represents the amortization of intangible asagistantially all of which were acquired in coni@tiwith our acquisitions. As of May 31, 2015, ested future amortization expenses
related to intangible assets were as follows (iions):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 1,62«
Fiscal 2017 99t
Fiscal 201¢ 84¢
Fiscal 201¢ 74z
Fiscal 202( 59¢
Thereaftel 1,59¢

Total intangible assets, r $ 6,40

Acquisition related and other expenses primaxgsist of personnel related costs for transitiamal certain other employees, stock-based compengadpenses, integration related
professional services, certain business combinatifjmstments including certain adjustments aftemtieasurement period has ended and certain oteeatiny items, net. Included in
acquisition related and other expenses for fisbdb2vas a goodwill impairment loss of $186 milliafer to Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated FinanSi@tements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report for additional informatiom)cluded in acquisition related and other expemsefiscal 2015 and 2013 were benefits of $53 willand $306 million, respectively,
related to certain litigation (refer to Note 18Mdtes to Consolidated Financial Statements incledeelwhere in this Annual Report for additionabmmfiation). Also included in
acquisition related and other expenses for fis0aB2vere changes in estimates for contingent cerglidn payable, which reduced acquisition related other expenses by $387
million during fiscal 2013 (refer to Note 2 of Netéo Consolidated Financial Statements includeginisre in this Annual Report for additional infotina).

The significant majority of restructuring expesisiiring fiscal 2015 primarily related to emploweserance in connection with our Fiscal 2015 OrRestructuring Plan (2015
Restructuring Plan) and our Fiscal 2013 Oracleriestring Plan (2013 Restructuring Plan). Restniigguexpenses during fiscal 2014 and 2013 primaelgted to costs incurred
pursuant to our 2013 Restructuring Plan. Additianfdrmation regarding certain of our restructurpigns is provided in Note 9 of Notes to Consokdafinancial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Repc

Stocl-based compensation was included in the followinerating expense line items of our consolidateestanhts of operations (in millions

Year Ended May 31,

2015 2014 2013

Sales and marketing $ 18C $ 16& $ 137
Cloud software as a service and platform as ase 10 8 1C
Cloud infrastructure as a servi 5 4 8
Software license updates and product sug 21 22 2C
Hardware systems produt 6 5 3
Hardware systems supp: 6 6 5
Services 30 2¢ 23
Research and developme¢ 522 38t 352
General and administratiy 14¢ 171 164

Subtotal 92¢ 79t 72z
Acquisition related and otht 5 1C 33

Total stocl-based compensatic $ 93! $ 80! $ 75!

Stock-based compensation included in acqoisitélated and other expenses resulted from urt/ettek options and restricted stock-based awasisnaed from acquisitions whose
vesting was accelerated upon termination of thel@yeps pursuant to the terms of those stock optiodsrestricted sto-based award:

The income tax effects presented were calcukzéatithe above described charges were not inclirdedr results of operations for each of the resipe periods presented. Income tax
effects for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013 were catedldased on the applicable jurisdictional taxsaigplied to the items within the table above asdited in effective tax rates of
23.6%, 22.5% and 23.0%, respectively, instead d§%220.1% and 21.4%, respectively, which represkour effective tax rates as derived per our dafeted statements of
operations, due to the net tax effects of acqaisitelated items, primarily the tax effects of atization of intangible asset
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Software and Cloud Business

Our software and cloud business consists of oursadtware licenses and cloud software subscripts@ggnent, our cloud infrastructure as a
service segment and our software license updatepraduct support segment.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi  New software licenses revenues represent teeee from granting customers
licenses to use our database and middleware arapplication software products. Cloud software stipfons include revenues from our
cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings, which grant cus®ateess to a broad range of our software offengs subscription basis in a secure,
standards-based, cloud computing environment titatdes access, hosting, infrastructure managerentise of software updates, and
support. We continue to place significant emphdmith domestically and internationally, on direalies through our own sales force. We also
continue to market our products through indirecratels. Costs associated with our new softwaraesdieg and cloud software subscriptions
segment are included in sales and marketing expeakeid SaaS and PaaS expenses and amortizaiittarmgible assets. These costs are
largely personnel related and include commissi@nsexl by our sales force for the sale of our saftvedferings, marketing program costs, the
cost of providing our cloud SaaS and PaaS offeramgsamortization of intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subsooipsi Revenues
Americas $ 5,747 4% 6% $ 5,54« 1% 3% $ 5,46f
EMEA 2,71¢ -16% -8% 3,24¢ 10% 6% 2,95¢
Asia Pacific 1,562 -10% -5% 1,74¢ -8% -2% 1,897
Total revenue 10,02( -5% 0% 10,53] 2% 3% 10,32:
Expenses
Cloud software as a service and platform as ace(!) 763 71% 76% 447 41% 42% 317
Sales and marketir(®) 6,47¢ 2% 6% 6,35( 7% 8% 5,93¢
Stocl-based compensatic 17¢ 8% 8% 16€ 17% 17% 142
Amortization of intangible asse(@ 1,00¢ 3% 3% 977 -1% -1% 93¢
Total expense 8,42¢ 6% 10% 7,94( 8% 8% 7,38(
Total Margin $ 1,59 -39% 81% $ 2,591 -12% -11% $ 2,941
Total Margin % 16% 25% 28%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 57% 53% 53%
EMEA 27% 31% 29%
Asia Pacific 16% 16% 18%
Revenues by Software Offering
New software license $ 8,53t -9% 4% $ 9,41¢ 0% 1% $ 9,411
Cloud software as a service and platform as ase 1,48¢ 32% 35% 1,121 23% 24% 91C
Total new software licenses and cloud software @iftions revenue $ 10,02( -5% 0% $ 10,53 2% 3% $ 10,32
% Revenues by Software Offering
New software license 85% 89% 91%
Cloud software as a service and platform as ace 15% 11% 9%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency fatetuations of 5 percentage points, total new
software licenses and cloud software subscriptiemenues remained flat during fiscal 2015 as grawtbur cloud SaaS and PaaS revenue:
contributions from our recent acquisitions wereseffby a decline in our new software licenses regenin constant currency, fiscal 2015
revenue growth in the Americas region was offsetdwenue declines in the EMEA and Asia Pacificoagi

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed cloud SaaS and PaaS ioblgyiat their estimated fair values at the
acquisition dates. Due to our application of bussneombination accounting rules, cloud SaaS an8 Raenues in the amounts of $12 milli
$17 million and $45 million that would have
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been otherwise recorded by our acquired businessigglependent entities were not recognized imlfia815, 2014 and 2013, respectively. To
the extent underlying cloud SaaS and PaaS contreet®newed with us following an acquisition, wi# Kecognize the revenues for the full
values of the cloud SaaS and PaaS contracts oveespective contractual periods.

In reported currency, new software licenses revemaened from transactions of $3 million or gredesreased by 15% in fiscal 2015 and
represented 31% of our new software licenses regeimufiscal 2015 in comparison to 33% in fiscal 20

Excluding the effects of favorable currency ratefuations of 4 percentage points, total new sofiaenses and cloud software subscription
expenses increased in fiscal 2015 primarily dugidber employee related expenses from increaseattheat, higher variable compensation
expenses, and higher cloud SaaS and PaaS expeosesd to support the related revenues increase.

Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency rflietuations, total new software licenses and clsoftware subscriptions margin and margin
as a percentage of revenues decreased in fiscald@lto the growth in total expenses for this afieg segment.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currenaierfluctuations, total new software licenses dodd
software subscriptions revenues increased dursoglfi2014 primarily due to incremental revenuesifour cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings
resulting from our recent acquisitions. In constantency, total new software licenses and clodth&me subscriptions revenues growth in
fiscal 2014 in the Americas and EMEA region wagipHy offset by a decline in revenues in the ABicific region.

As described above, the amount of new softwar@es$ies and cloud software subscriptions revenuesvinatcognized in fiscal 2014 and fiscal
2013 were affected by business combination accogimtiles. In reported currency, new software liesngvenues earned from transactions o
$3 million or greater increased by 3% in fiscal 2@hd represented 33% of our new software liceresesues in fiscal 2014 in comparison to
32% in fiscal 2013.

Excluding the effects of favorable currency ratefliations, total new software licenses and clafthv&re subscriptions expenses increased il
fiscal 2014 primarily due to higher employee refs¢xpenses from increased headcount, higher var@shpensation expenses due to reve
growth, and higher cloud SaaS and PaaS expensesdddo support the related revenues increase.

Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency flietuations, total new software licenses and clsoftware subscriptions margin and margin
as a percentage of revenues decreased in fiscal&aur total expenses increased at a fastethaxteour total revenues for this operating
segment.

Cloud Infrastructure as a Service: Our cloud infrastructure as a service segmemtiges comprehensive software and hardware maray
and maintenance services for customer IT infratiiredor a fee for a stated term that is hostezliatOracle data center facilities, select partne
data centers or physically on-premises at custdaodities; virtual machine instance services thig subscription-based in which we deploy,
secure, provision, manage and maintain certaiuohardware products for our customers to proviger with a set of cloud-based core
infrastructure capabilities like elastic computel atorage services to run workloads in the cloud; lEardware and related support offerings fo
certain of our Oracle Engineered Systems that epéogled in our customers’ data centers for a mgrfgd. Cloud infrastructure as a service
expenses consist primarily of personnel relateaedjiures, technology infrastructure expendituresfacilities costs. For all periods
presented, our cloud-infrastructure as a servigesat’s revenues and expenses were substantittllyugible to our comprehensive software
and hardware management, maintenance and hostirigese
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
Cloud Infastructure as a Service Revenug
Americas $ 44 33% 3B% $ 33t -6% 5% $ 35t
EMEA 12¢ 37% 41% 94 32% 27% 72
Asia Pacific 35 28% 39% 27 -12% 3% 30
Total revenue: 60¢ 33% 36% 45€ 0% 1% 457
Expenses
Cloud infastructure as a servi® 33¢ 12% 14% 304 3% 5% 29€
Sales and marketir® a0 46% 50% 61 0% 1% 61
Stoclk-based compensatic 5 27% 27% 4  -52% -52% 8
Amortization of intangible asse® 4 * * — * * —
Total expense 43¢ 19% 21% 36¢ 1% 3% 36E
Total Margin $ 17C 97% 103% $ 87 -6% 9% $ 92
Total Margin % 28% 19% 20%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 73% 73% 7%
EMEA 21% 21% 16%
Asia Pacific 6% 6% 7%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSmg®increased during fiscal 2015 primarily due to
growth in our comprehensive software and hardwaaragement, maintenance and hosting services an dereenue contributions from our

recent acquisitions. Excluding the effects of coeserate fluctuations, the Americas contributed 7E4EA contributed 24% and Asia Pacific
contributed 6% to the increase in laaS revenudsgifiscal 2015.

On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSresgsincreased in fiscal 2015 primarily due toéased employee related expenses associa
with increased headcount and increased infrastreiexpenses to support our increase in laaS resenue

Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency exgevariances, total margin and margin as a peagerdf revenues increased during fiscal
2015 as total revenues increased at a fasterrateour total expenses for this operating segment.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSmg®increased slightly in fiscal 2014 primarilyadu
to incremental revenues from our premises Oracle Engineered Systems subscripti@niadfs. In constant currency, total cloud laaS mees
growth in the EMEA and Asia Pacific regions weretiadly offset by a decline in revenues in the Aroas region.

On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSresgmincreased during fiscal 2014 primarily dumtoeased employee related expenses
associated with increased headcount, which redieetbtal margin and margin as a percentage ofwegfor this segment in comparison to
fiscal 2013.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsspecified software product upgrades
and maintenance releases and patches released th&iaupport period. Product support includegiirieaccess to technical content as well a
internet and telephone access to technical supposbnnel in our global support centers. Expenssscéated with our software license update
and product support line of business include thet cbproviding the support services, largely parss related expenses, and the amortization
of our intangible assets associated with softwappert contracts and customer relationships obdafren acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual  Constant 2014 Actual  Constant 2013
Software License Updates and Product Support Reven
Americas $ 10,411 6% 7% $ 9,85 6% 7% $ 9,32
EMEA 592( 0% 9% 5,90¢ 10% 7% 5,36%
Asia Pacific 2,50¢ 3% 8% 2,44;  -1% 8% 2,457
Total revenue 18,847 4% 8% 18,20¢ 6% 7% 17,142
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 1,17¢ 3% 8% 1,14C -1% 0% 1,15¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 21  -T% -T% 22  10% 10% 20
Amortization of intangible asse® 741 -T% -T% 801 -4% -4% 83€
Total expense 1,94C -1% 2% 1,96 -2% -1% 2,017
Total Margin $ 16,9007 4% 9% $ 16,241 % 8% $ 15,13:
Total Margin % 0% 89% 88%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 55% 54% 55%
EMEA 32% 33% 31%
Asia Pacific 13% 13% 14%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency viaias of 4 percentage points, software license
updates and product support revenues increasetbhiy 8scal 2015 as a result of new software lieensold with substantially all of these
customers electing to purchase software suppottacs during the trailing 4-quarter period, theewal of substantially all of the software
support customer base eligible for renewal durirggttailing 4-quarter period and incremental rewsiiom our recent acquisitions. Excluding
the effects of currency rate fluctuations, the Aices contributed 50%, EMEA contributed 36% and A&a&ific contributed 14% to the
increase in software license updates and prodpgicstirevenues during fiscal 2015.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed software support obligat@their estimated fair values at the
acquisition dates. Due to our application of bustneombination accounting rules, software licenxtates and product support revenues
related to software support contracts in the anmoah$11 million, $3 million and $14 million thatould have been otherwise recorded by our
acquired businesses as independent entities werecamnized in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respalyt Historically, substantially all of our
software license customers, including customens fagquired companies, renew their software supggmmtracts when such contracts are
eligible for renewal. To the extent these undedysupport contracts are renewed, we will recogtiizeevenues for the full values of these
contracts over the support periods, the substam@gbrity of which are one year in duration.
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Excluding the effects of favorable foreign curremate fluctuations, total software license updated product support expenses increased
during fiscal 2015 due to higher employee relatqubases and facilities costs associated with ise&eadcount that was primarily
attributable to our recent acquisitions, and at®odased due to higher bad debt expenses. TheabZl5 expense increases were partially
offset by fiscal 2015 expense decreases relatkver statutory obligation expenses in the juriidits in which we operate and lower
amortization of intangible assets.

In constant currency, total margin and margin psraentage of revenues for this segment increaseéulgdfiscal 2015 as our total revenues for
this segment increased at a faster rate than talrepenses for this segment, each during fisgab2nd in comparison to fiscal 2014.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency fatetuations, software license updates and product
support revenues increased in fiscal 2014 for measomilar to those noted above for our fiscal 28Menues increase. Excluding the effects o
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridui&%, EMEA contributed 30% and Asia Pacific cdnited 15% to the increase in software
license updates and product support revenues diisitey 2014.

As described above, the amounts of software licapsiates and product support revenues that we mexamtin fiscal 2014 and 2013 were
affected by business combination accounting rules.

Excluding the effects of favorable foreign curremate fluctuations, total software license updated product support expenses during fiscal
2014 decreased slightly due to a modest decredssaiticount and a decrease in amortization of iftbngssets. Total margin and total margir
as a percentage of revenues increased during #8844l as our total revenues for this segment iseiavhile our total expenses slightly
decreased, each during fiscal 2014 and in compateséiscal 2013.

Hardware Systems Business
Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware syst@msrssegment.

Hardware Systems Product Hardware systems products revenues are pringgilerated from the sales of our Oracle EngineSystems,
computer server, storage, networking, workstatams related devices and industry specific hardwesducts. We market and sell our
hardware systems products through our direct $atee and indirect channels such as independemitditors and value added resellers.
Operating expenses associated with our hardwatemsgproducts include the cost of hardware sysfgotucts, which consists of expenses
for materials and labor used to produce these ptedwy our internal manufacturing operations othigd party manufacturers, warranty
expenses and the impact of periodic changes imtowe valuation, including the impact of inventaigtermined to be excess and obsolete.
Operating expenses associated with our hardwatemsggproducts also include sales and marketingnsgse which are largely personnel
related and include variable compensation earneslibgales force for the sales of our hardware yotsg and amortization of intangible ass

62



Table of Contents

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
Hardware Systems Products Revenu
Americas $1,49: -1% 1% $1,507 1% 2% $1,49¢
EMEA 797 -5% 7% 834 -1% -3% 842
Asia Pacific 53€ -16% -12% 63t -9% -5% 69€
Total revenue: 2,82¢ -5% 0% 2,97¢ -2% -1% 3,03¢
Expenses
Hardware systems produ® 1,465 -3% 3% 1,51¢ 1% 3% 1,49¢
Sales and marketir® 911 -8% -3% 991 7% 7% 92¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 17 47% 47% 12 49% 49% 8
Amortization of intangible asse® 223 -19% -19% 274 -16% -16% 327
Total expense 2,61¢ -6% -1% 2,792 1% 2% 2,76
Total Margin $ 20¢ 14% 19% $ 18%  -33% 30% ¢ 271
Total Margin % % 6% 9%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 53% 51% 49Y%
EMEA 28% 28% 28%
Asia Pacific 19% 21% 23%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency fatetuations of 5 percentage points, total hardware
systems products revenues were flat in fiscal 20®mparison to the prior year as revenues fronretently acquired companies, including
MICROS, and increases in hardware revenues atafiibeito our Oracle Engineered Systems products oféset by reductions in the sales
volumes of certain of our other hardware produfgraigs. On a constant currency basis, revenueases in the Americas region and EMEA
region were offset by declines in the Asia Paaifigion.

Excluding the effects of favorable currency ratefliations of 5 percentage points, total hardwgstesns products expenses decreased in
2015 primarily due to lower bad debt expenses amdlaction in amortization of intangible assetseSénfiscal 2015 expense decreases were
partially offset by higher fiscal 2015 employeeated expenses due to increased headcount fronecemtracquisitions and higher direct
product costs that were primarily attributable ighier revenues from recently acquired companies.

In constant currency, total margin and margin peraentage of revenues increased in fiscal 2015altiee decrease in total expenses for this
segment.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatioigal hardware systems products revenues mot
decreased in fiscal 2014. The decrease in revathwurayy fiscal 2014, which was attributable to retituts in the sales volumes of certain of our
product lines, was partially offset by incrememtalenues from our acquired companies and incréasesdware revenues attributable to the
sales of our Oracle Engineered Systems.

In constant currency, total hardware systems prsdexpenses increased in fiscal 2014 primarilytduan increase in employee related
expenses due primarily to an increase in salesrarleting headcount, partially offset by a decreéasanortization of intangible assets.
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Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatiotagal margin and margin as a percentage of ree®decreased in fiscal 2014 due to a
decrease in our total revenues and increase itotalrexpenses for this segment.

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideotnsts with software updates for software componttratis
are essential to the functionality of our hardwaneducts, such as Oracle Solaris and certain sthféwvare products, and can include product
repairs, maintenance services and technical supporices. Expenses associated with our hardwaterag support operating segment include
the cost of materials used to repair customer migthe cost of providing support services, largelrsonnel related expenses, and the
amortization of our intangible assets primarilyarsated with hardware systems support contractscastbmer relationships obtained from our
acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constant 2014 Actual Constant 2013
Hardware Systems Support Revenu
Americas $ 1,24 1% 3%  $ 1,22 11% 2% ¢ 1,10¢
EMEA 722 -2% 6% 73€ -2% -4% 752
Asia Pacific 415 -4% 1% 42¢ -5% 2% 452

Total revenue 2,38( -1% 4% 2,39¢ 4% 5% 2,31
Expenses
Hardware systems supp® 81C -2% 2% 83C -6% -5% 88t
Stocl-based compensatic 6 3% 3% 6 26% 26% 5
Amortization of intangible asse® -

15¢ 32% -32% 231 8% 8% 213

Total expense 974 -9% -6% 1,067 -3% -3% 1,10:
Total Margin $ 1,40¢ 6% 1% $ 1,32¢ 10% 12%  $ 1,21C
Total Margin % 59% 55% 52%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 52% 51% 48%
EMEA 30% 31% 32%
Asia Pacific 18% 18% 20%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@  Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency fatetuations of 5 percentage points, hardware
systems support revenues increased in fiscal 20a@aply due to incremental revenues from our relgescquired companies, including
MICROS. The Americas region contributed 42%, EMEAtributed 52% and Asia Pacific contributed 6%guo constant currency growth in
hardware systems support revenues during fiscé.201

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed hardware systems supfigetimmns to their estimated fair values
the acquisition dates. Due to our application dfibeiss combination accounting rules, hardware sysgpport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts in the amounts of $4amjl11 million and $14 million were not recogrdze fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. To the extent these underlying hardvggstems support contracts are renewed, weegitignize the revenues for the full values
of these contracts over the future support periods.

In constant currency, total hardware systems sugxpenses decreased in fiscal 2015 primarily dueduced service delivery costs due to
operational initiatives and a decrease in amortinatf intangible assets, partially offset by higkenployee related expenses resulting from
increased headcount from our recent acquisitiogsehn external contractor expenses and higher batlakpenses.

In constant currency, total hardware systems suppargin and margin as a percentage of total ree®mcreased in fiscal 2015 due to the
increase in total revenues and decrease in topaneses for this operating segment.
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Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the impacts of unfavorable currency fatetuations, hardware systems support revenues
increased in fiscal 2014 primarily due to increna¢névenues from our acquisitions. In constantenay, hardware systems support revenues
growth in the Americas and Asia Pacific region \pastially offset by a decline in revenues in the EMregion.

As described above, the amounts of hardware systepport revenues that we recognized in fiscal 2idifiscal 2013 were affected by
business combination accounting rules.

In constant currency, total hardware systems sugpmenses decreased in fiscal 2014 primarily dwereduction in employee related
expenses attributable to operational initiativeduiding decreased headcount and reduced servieeetosts, partially offset by an increase
in amortization of intangible assets.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatiotagal hardware systems support margin and magjia percentage of total revenues incre
in fiscal 2014 as our total revenues for this sagnmereased while our total expenses for this sagrdecreased.

Services Business

Our services business consists of consulting, amhchnustomer support services and education ser@@nsulting revenues are earned by
providing services to customers in business angtifitegy alignment, enterprise architecture plagnaind design, initial product
implementation and integration, and ongoing proémttancements and upgrades. Advanced customerrsgppgdces are provided on-
premises and remotely to our customers to enabteased performance and higher availability ofrt@eacle products and services. Educatiol
revenues are earned by providing instructor-le, Virtual training, self-paced online trainingivate events and custom training in the use of
our software and hardware offerings. The cost ofioling our services consists primarily of persdnetated expenses, technology
infrastructure expenditures, facilities expenseas external contractor expenses.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constant 2014 Actual Constant 2013
Services Revenue
Americas $1,76¢ -5% 2% $1,85C -6% 5% $1,97¢
EMEA 1,097 -2% 6% 1,12t -4% -T% 1,17¢
Asia Pacific 682 -6% -1% 72¢ -5% 2% 771
Total revenue 3,54¢ -4% 0% 3,70¢ -5% -4% 3,91«
Expenses
Services® 2,89¢ -1% 4% 2,92t -T% -6% 3,15¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 30 2% 2% 29 25% 25% 23
Amortization of intangible asse® - -
15 12% -12% 17 26% -26% 23
Total expense 2,944 -1% 4% 2,971 1% -6% 3,20¢
Total Margin -
$ 60: 18% -13% 73 3% 50 $ 70¢
Total Margin % 17% 20% 18%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 50% 50% 50%
EMEA 31% 30% 30%
Asia Pacific 19% 20% 20%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
() Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati
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Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Excluding the effects of unfavorable currency rfietuations of 4 percentage points, our total
services revenues were flat in fiscal 2015 as mergal revenues from our recently acquired comgaimeluding MICROS, and an increase in
fiscal 2015 advanced customer services revenues effset by declines in our fiscal 2015 consultamgl education revenues. In constant
currency, revenues growth in the EMEA region wdseatfby revenue declines in the Americas region/sid Pacific region during fiscal
2015.

Excluding the effects of favorable currency ratefiiations of 5 percentage points, our total ses/&xpenses increased during fiscal 2015 du
to higher employee related expenses resulting fnremeased headcount from our recent acquisitiodsaare partially offset by lower variable
compensation and lower external contractor coatsh é comparison to fiscal 2014.

In constant currency, total margin and margin psraentage of total revenues decreased durind 8d® due to the increase in total expense
for this business.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctoas, our total services revenues decreased ial f&i14
due to revenue decreases in each of our servigisdss’ segments. The largest services revenuesasecwas to our consulting segment’s
revenues.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatiomsr total services expenses decreased durirg 2044 primarily due to expense decreases
in our consulting services segment primarily duddoreased headcount, lower external contractés ansl lower intangible asset amortizat

In constant currency, total margin and margin psraentage of total revenues increased duringl f&5t&4 due to our expense reductions for
this business.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consistrifyimigpersonnel related expenditures. We intemd t
continue to invest significantly in our researchl aevelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny; #ne essential to maintaining our
competitive position.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
Research and developme® $ 5,00: 5% 6% $ 4,76t 6% % $ 4,49
Stocl-based compensatic 522 36% 36% 38t 9% 9% 352
Total expense $ 5,62¢ 7% 8% $ 5,157 6% 7% $ 4,85(
% of Total Revenues 14% 13% 13%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

On a constant currency basis, total research avelajament expenses increased during fiscal 2013228hd, each relative to the respective
prior year period, primarily due to increased empbrelated expenses resulting from increased beatiancluding additional headcount fri
our recent acquisitions.

General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses primaahstst of personnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humasotgces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
General and administrativ® $ 92¢ 7% 100% $ 867 -4% 3% $  90¢
Stock-based compensation -
14¢€ 14% -14% 171 4% 4% 164
Total expense $ 1,07 4% 7% $ 1,03 -3% 2% 0§ 1,07
% of Total Revenue 3% 3% 3%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
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Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: On a constant currency basis, total general andréstnative expenses increased during fiscal 2015
primarily due to higher employee related expenssslting from increased headcount and higher psafral fees.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, total general andréstnative expenses decreased during fiscal 2014
primarily due to lower professional fees and lowariable compensation expenses, partially offsetlightly increased salaries and benefits
expenses due to an increase in headcount.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constant 2014 Actual Constant 2013
Software support agreements and related relatips $ 531 -T% 1% $ 571 -2% 2% $ 582
Hardware systems support agreements and relat@rehips 144 1% 1% 142 18% 18% 121
Developed technolog 70C -1% -1% 70€ -15% -15% 82€
Core technolog' 182 -43% -43% 31¢ -3% -3% 32¢
Customer relationships and contract bacl 312 7% -T% 334 -5% -5% 35C
SaasS, PaaS and laaS agreements and related hgi®and othe 203 35% 35% 15C 33% 33% 11z
Trademarks 77 -1% -1% 78 22% 22% 64

Total amortization of intangible ass: $ 2,14¢ -T% -T% $ 2,30( -4% 4%  $ 2,38

Amortization of intangible assets decreased duiswal 2015 and 2014, each relative to the respegiior year period, due to a reduction in
expenses associated with certain of our intangib$ets that became fully amortized. These decreasespartially offset by additional
amortization from intangible assets that we acgqlinmeconnection with our acquisitions of MICROSfiscal 2015 and Responsys in fiscal
2014, among others. Note 7 of Notes to Consolidatedncial Statements included elsewhere in thisuah Report has additional information
regarding our intangible assets and related anadidiz.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses cowsigersonnel related costs for transitional andage
other employees, stock-based compensation expeénszgation related professional services, celbaisiness combination adjustments
including certain adjustments after the measurempernbd has ended and certain other operating jtagis Stockbased compensation exper
included in acquisition related and other expemssglt from unvested stock options and restrictedksbased awards assumed from
acquisitions whereby vesting was accelerated uganibation of the employees pursuant to the origerans of those stock options and
restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constant 2014 Actual  Constani 2013
Transitional and other employee related ¢ $ 57 112% 120% $ 2 1% 2% $ 23
Stoclk-based compensatic 5 -48% -48% 1C  -69%  -69% 33
Professional fees and other, (35 274% 279% 2C 107% 107% (27€)
Business combination adjustments, 184 1,235% 1,239% (16) 96% 96% (389)
Total acquisition related and other exper $ 211 412% 411% $ 41 107% 107% $ (6049

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: On a constant currency basis, acquisition relatedogher expenses increased during fiscal 2015
primarily due to a $186 million goodwill impairmelaiss (refer to Note 7 of Notes to ConsolidatedaRirial Statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report for additional information) aad increase in certain transitional employee rdlatests, primarily related to our acquisition
of MICROS. These fiscal 2015 expense increases paatélly offset by a $53 million benefit recordedthe second quarter of fiscal 2015
related to certain litigation (refer to Note 18Miftes to Consolidated Financial Statements incledselwhere in this Annual Report for
additional information).
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Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, the increasarimcquisition related and other expenses in fi26a#
was primarily due to certain benefits that we rdedrduring fiscal 2013, which reduced our expedseisg this period. We recorded a net
benefit of $387 million during fiscal 2013 relatexdthe change in fair value of contingent consitienapayable in connection with an
acquisition (refer to Note 2 of Notes to ConsoléidhFinancial Statements included elsewhere in&hisual Report for additional information).
We also recorded a $306 million benefit in fisc@l 3 to professional fees and other, net relateéttain litigation (refer to Note 18 of Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report for additional information)

Restructuring Expenses Restructuring expenses result from the exeautfananagement approved restructuring plans teat wenerally
developed to improve our cost structure and/oratp@rs, often in conjunction with our acquisitiortidégration strategies. Restructuring
expenses consist of employee severance costs andlseainclude charges for duplicate facilities atlder contract termination costs to
improve our cost structure prospectively. For adddl information regarding our restructuring plasse Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisu@hReport.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013

Restructuring expenses -
$ 20 14% 22% $ 18: 48% -49%  $ 352

Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2015 primarilated to our 2015 Restructuring Plan and our 2013rReturing Plan. Restructuring expenses
in fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 primarily relatedoior 2013 Restructuring Plan. Our management agglasommitted to and initiated these
plans in order to restructure and further improffieiencies in our operations. The total estimatestructuring costs associated with the 2015
Restructuring Plan are up to $626 million and Wélrecorded to the restructuring expense line watmnn our consolidated statements of
operations as they are incurred. The total estidhamaining restructuring costs associated witl2@5 Restructuring Plan were
approximately $526 million as of May 31, 2015 ahe majority of the remaining costs are expectdaetincurred through the end of fiscal
2016. Actions pursuant to the 2013 Restructuriragn Rlere substantially complete as of May 31, 20é&fef to Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport for additional information pertainingdor 2013 Restructuring Plan). Our
estimated costs are subject to change in futuliegser

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constant 2014 Actual Constant 2013
Interest expens $ 1,14 25% 25% $914 15% 15% $797

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2015 primalily to higher average borrowings resulting from
our issuance of $10.0 billion of senior notes iny\2815 and $10.0 billion of senior notes in Julfl20The increase in interest expense in fi
2015 was partially offset by a reduction in intémepense during fiscal 2015 resulting from theurigt and repayment of $1.5 billion of sen
notes and the related fixed to variable interest saap agreements in July 2014. See Recent FimpAditivities below and Note 8 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report for additional informaticegarding our fiscal 2015 borrowings.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2014 pilyndue to higher average borrowings resultingriro
our issuance of $3.0 billion and €2.0 billion ohse notes in July 2013 and our issuance of $3l®biof senior notes in October 2012,
partially offset by a reduction in interest experssulting from the maturity and repayment of $1b#lbon of senior notes in April 2013.
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Non-Operating Income (Expense), net: Non-operating income (expense), net consistsaguily of interest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains (losses), the noncontrolling inteieghe net profits of our majority-owned subatiits (primarily Oracle Financial Services
Software Limited and Oracle Japan) and net otheanre (losses) including net realized gains anceksslated to all of our investments anc
unrealized gains and losses related to the smealbpamf our investment portfolio that we class#fy trading.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change

Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual  Constanl 2014 Actual Constant 2013
Interest incom $ 34¢ 33% 33% $ 26 10% 17% $ 230
Foreign currency losses, r (157 -58%  -59% (375)  131% 127% (162)
Noncontrolling interests in incon (119 15% 15% (98) -12% -12% (112
Other income, ne 27 -60%  -60% 69 44% 44% 48
Total nor-operating income (expense), | $ 106 175% 187% $ (141 1,343% 1,749% $ 11

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: On a constant currency basis, our non-opeyaticome, net in fiscal 2015 increased due to lavegr
foreign currency losses and due to higher inténestme resulting from higher cash, cash equivadant short-term investment balances.
Included in foreign currency losses, net in fis2@15 was a remeasurement loss of $23 million rélat@ur Venezuelan subsidiary. We
recorded non-operating expense, net in fiscal 20iMarily due to a foreign currency remeasuremess lof $213 million that also related to
our Venezuelan subsidiary. Note 1 of Notes to Chdated Financial Statements included elsewhethi;mAnnual Report contains additional
information regarding the foreign currency remeaswent losses we incurred in fiscal 2015, 2014 &iB2elated to our Venezuelan
subsidiary.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: We recorded non-operating expense, net inlf@b4 in comparison to non-operating income, net i
fiscal 2013 primarily due to an increase in foreggmrency losses, net that were incurred in fig€dl4 including foreign currency
remeasurement losses of $213 million that relatezlit Venezuelan subsidiary (see Note 1 of Not&satesolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additil information).

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate in all periods is theul of the mix of income earned in various tavgdictions that
apply a broad range of income tax rates. The pi@vi®r income taxes differs from the tax compud¢dhe U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate due primarily to earnings considered as imitefy reinvested in foreign operations, state saxkee U.S. research and development tax
credit and the U.S. domestic production activitduldion. Future effective tax rates could be adelgraffected if earnings are lower than
anticipated in countries where we have lower stayutax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax lawgsragulations or by adverse rulings in tax
related litigation.

Year Ended May 31,
Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Actual Constani 2014 Actual Constani 2013
Provision for income taxe $ 2,89 5% 3% $ 2,74 -T% 6% $ 2,97
Effective tax rate 22.6% 20.1% 21.4%

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014: Provision for income taxes in fiscal 2015 increasetative to the provision for income taxes ircébs
2014, due in substantial part to an unfavorablegian the jurisdictional mix of our fiscal 2015reiags, and due to the effects of acquisition
related settlements with tax authorities in fis2@14 that were not present in fiscal 2015, whidietber were partially offset by lower fiscal
2015 income before provision for income taxes.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Provision for income taxes in fiscal 2014 deses, relative to the provision for income taxefsical
2013, due to a tax favorable change in the jurigzhial mix of our fiscal 2014 earnings and the ef$eof acquisition related settlements with
authorities during fiscal 2014.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2015 Change 2014 Change 2013
Working capital $ 47,89: 42% $ 33,73 17% $ 28,81
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable sect $ 54,36¢ 40% $ 38,81¢ 20 $ 32,21¢

Working capital:  The increase in working capital as of May 3112in comparison to May 31, 2014 was primarily tueur issuance of
$20.0 billion of long-term senior notes during 62015, the favorable impact to our net curresetsresulting from our net income during
fiscal 2015, and, to a lesser extent, cash prodeenisstock option exercises. These working cajpitzdeases were partially offset by $6.2
billion of net cash used for our acquisitions ofROS and others, $8.1 billion of cash used for relases of our common stock, the
reclassification of $2.0 billion of senior notesedianuary 2016 from long-term to current, and $2lidn of cash used to pay dividends to our
stockholders, all of which occurred during fisc@ll8. Our working capital may be impacted by somalloof the aforementioned factors in
future periods, the amounts and timing of whichwangable.

The increase in working capital as of May 31, 26ildomparison to May 31, 2013 was primarily dueto issuance of €2.0 billion and $3.0
billion of long-term senior notes in July 2013, fagorable impact to our net current assets reguftiom our net income during fiscal 2014,
and, to a lesser extent, cash proceeds from stagknoexercises. These working capital increaseg wartially offset by the reclassification of
$1.5 billion of senior notes due July 2014 fromddarm to current, $9.8 billion of cash used for ngases of our common stock, cash use
pay dividends to our stockholders, and cash useddguisitions.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesCash and cash equivalents primarily consistepiosits held at major banks, Tier-1
commercial paper and other securities with originaturities of 90 days or less. Marketable se@gitirimarily consist of time deposits held at
major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper, corporatesiand certain other securities. The increasesin, @ash equivalents and marketable
securities at May 31, 2015 in comparison to MayZiL4 was due to an increase in cash generatedduomperating activities, our issuance
$20.0 billion of senior notes in fiscal 2015, andatlesser extent, cash proceeds from stock opkiercises. These increases were partially
offset by $6.2 billion of net cash paid for our asitions of MICROS and others, $8.1 billion of mephases of our common stock, the
repayment of $1.5 billion of senior notes and $2lBon used for the payment of cash dividendsto stockholders. Cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities included $42.7 billion hejdr foreign subsidiaries as of May 31, 2015. Wesider $38.0 billion of our undistributed
earnings as indefinitely reinvested in our foreagrerations outside the United States. These uiimigtd earnings would be subject to U.S.
income tax if repatriated to the United States.uisisig a full utilization of the foreign tax credithie potential deferred tax liability associated
with these undistributed earnings would be apprataty $11.8 billion as of May 31, 2015 should tineoaints be repatriated to the United
States. The amount of cash, cash equivalents arlcetable securities that we report in U.S. Dolfarsa significant portion of the cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities balanceshyetdir foreign subsidiaries is subject to transtatdjustments caused by changes in for
currency exchange rates as of the end of eachatéspeeporting period (the offset to which is stamgially recorded to accumulated other
comprehensive loss in our consolidated balanceshee is also presented as a line item in ouralmiaged statements of comprehensive
income included elsewhere in this Annual Repory tihe U.S. Dollar generally strengthened agairmgaicemajor international currencies
during fiscal 2015, the amount of cash, cash edgmis and marketable securities that we reportédl $ Dollars for these subsidiaries
decreased on a net basis as of May 31, 2015 refatiwhat we would have reported using constantoay rates from our May 31, 2014
balance sheet date.

The increase in cash, cash equivalents and mat&etaburities at May 31, 2014 in comparison to NMay2013 was due to an increase in cast
generated from our operating activities, our isseanf €2.0 billion and $3.0 billion of senior noiasluly 2013, and to a lesser extent, cash
proceeds from stock option exercises. These ineseasre partially offset by $9.8 billion of repuasies of our common stock, $3.5 billion of
net cash paid for acquisitions and $2.2 billionduf the payment of cash dividends to our stoctérd. Additionally, our reported cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities balancesMayw31, 2014 decreased on a net basis in congratsMay 31, 2013 due to the modest
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar in comparisonddain major international currencies during fis2@l4.
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Days sales outstanding, which we calculate by digigheriod end accounts receivable by average dallys for the quarter, was 47 days at
May 31, 2015 compared with 48 days at May 31, 20h. days sales outstanding calculation excludegtipact of revenue adjustments
resulting from business combinations that reduagdaoquired cloud SaaS and PaaS obligations, s&fthicense updates and product support
obligations and hardware systems support obligatiorfair value.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Change 2014 Change 2013

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,33¢ 4% $ 14,92: 5% $ 14,22
Net cash used for investing activiti $ (19,04) 153% $ (7,539 27% $ (5,959
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actis $ 9,85( 342% $ (4,06¢) 52% $ (8,500

Cash flows from operating activities: Our largest source of operating cash flowsghacollections from our customers following the
purchase and renewal of their software license tgsdand product support agreements. Payments fustoroers for these support agreements
are generally received near the beginning of thidraots’terms, which are generally one year in length. Ghercourse of a fiscal year, we ¢
have historically generated cash from the salewof software licenses, cloud SaaS and PaaS ofetfimgdware systems products, hardware
systems support arrangements, and services. Onapriuses of cash from operating activities areefoployee related expenditures, material
and manufacturing costs related to the productfaruohardware systems products, taxes and leasddiés.

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by operating activities daseel in fiscal 2015 in comparison to fiscal 2014
primarily due to the cash unfavorable effects oéifign currency exchange rate variances on ourl f&Eb net income of 7 percentage points.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by operating activities iased in fiscal 2014 in comparison to fiscal 2013
primarily due to the following: the fiscal 2013 regcurring impacts of a $387 million reduction ehtingent consideration payable in
connection with an acquisition (refer to Note 2Naftes to Consolidated Financial Statements incliedsgelwhere in this Annual Report for
additional information) and the impact of a $308@liomi non-current receivable related to certaiigétion (refer to Note 18 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report for additional informatiobpth of which increased our net inco
in fiscal 2013 without the corresponding operatiagh flow benefits. These items did not recur dyfiscal 2014.

Cash flows from investing activities: The changes in cash flows from investing at#giprimarily relate to acquisitions and the tighiof
purchases, maturities and sales of our investniembgrketable debt securities. We also use casivést in capital and other assets, including
certain intangible assets, to support our growth.

Net cash used for investing activities increasefistal 2015 and 2014, each relative to the respegrior year period, primarily due to .
increase in cash used for acquisitions, net of eaghired, and an increase in net cash used th@seanarketable securities (net of proceeds
received from sales and maturities).

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing atiésiprimarily relate to borrowings and repayments
related to our debt instruments as well as stopknehases, dividend payments and proceeds frork efuion exercises.

Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by financing activities isctl 2015 increased in comparison to net cashlmsed
financing activities in fiscal 2014 primarily due & net increase in borrowings in fiscal 2015 (sstied $20.0 billion of senior notes during
fiscal 2015 in comparison to €2.0 billion and $Billion of senior notes during fiscal 2014) as wagllower stock repurchase activity during
fiscal 2015. These favorable impacts to our finagaash flows during fiscal 2015 were partiallyseffby the repayment of $1.5 billion of
borrowings pursuant to senior notes maturitiesraufiscal 2015 (no repayments during fiscal 2014).

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for financing activities in fis2@14 decreased in comparison to fiscal 2013 pilyna
due to the repayment of $3.0 billion of borrowimssuant to senior notes maturities and certaiirespevolving credit facilities in fiscal
2013 (no repayments during fiscal 2014), a netease in borrowings during fiscal 2014 (we issue® ®3lion and $3.0 billion of senior notes
during fiscal
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2014 in comparison to $5.0 billion of senior nasmsied during fiscal 2013), lower stock repurchetevity during fiscal 2014 and higher
proceeds from stock option exercises during fi2@dl4. These fiscal 2014 cash favorable variances partially offset by an increase in
payments of cash dividends to stockholders in fi2644 in comparison to fiscal 2013.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flowsantesl on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measureasbf flows on a
trailing 4-quarter basis to analyze cash flows gateel from our operations. We believe free cash flalso useful as one of the bases for
comparing our performance with our competitors. Ppresentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is not ni¢a be considered in isolation or as
an alternative to net income as an indicator ofpmrformance, or as an alternative to cash floasfoperating activities as a measure of
liquidity. We calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2015 Change 2014 Change 2013

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,33 A% 9 14,92 50 % 14,22
Capital expenditure® (1,39)  140% (580  -11% (650
Free cash flov $ 12,94¢ 10 $ 14,34: 6% $ 13,57«
Net income $ 9,93¢ $ 10,95¢ $ 10,92¢
Free cash flow as percent of net incc 130% 131% 124%

(@) Derived from capital expenditures as reported shdtows from investing activities as per our cditsted statements of cash flows presented in decme with U.S. GAAF

Long-Term Customer Financing: We offer certain of our customers the option toudiegour software products, hardware systems ptsduc
and services offerings through separate long-texpm@nt contracts. We generally sell these contthatswe have financed for our customers
on a non-recourse basis to financial institutioithiw 90 days of the contracts’ dates of executide. record the transfers of amounts due fron
customers to financial institutions as sales ddffitial assets because we are considered to haeadared control of these financial assets. W
financed $1.6 billion in each of fiscal 2015 and.20and $1.8 billion in fiscal 2013, or approximgt&9%, 17% and 19%, respectively, of our
new software licenses revenues in fiscal 2015, 201#2013. We financed $172 million, $168 milliardeb161 million of our hardware
systems products revenues in fiscal 2015, 2014848, respectively, or approximately 6% in eacfiszfal 2015 and 2014 and 5% in fiscal
2013 of our hardware systems products revenues.

Recent Financing Activities

Senior Notes As of May 31, 2015, we had $42.0 billion oh&e notes outstanding ($24.1 billion outstandisgpAMay 31, 2014). In fiscal
2015, we issued $20.0 billion of senior notes casagk of $1.0 billion of floating rate notes dueyJ2017 (2017 Notes), $750 million of
floating rate notes due October 2019 (2019 Floa®ate Notes), $2.0 billion of 2.25% notes due Oet®919 (2019 Notes), $1.5 billion of
2.80% notes due July 2021 (2021 Notes), $2.5 hiltib2.50% notes due May 2022 (2022 Notes), $2lidhiof 3.40% notes due July 2024
(2024 Notes), $2.5 billion of 2.95% notes due M2 (2025 Notes), $500 million of 3.25% notes dueyM030 (2030 Notes), $1.75 billion
of 4.30% notes due July 2034 (2034 Notes), $1.0Biof 3.90% notes due May 2035 (2035 Notes)p$illion of 4.50% notes due July 20
(2044 Notes), $2.0 billion of 4.125% notes due N2a¥5 (2045 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 4.375% nabes May 2055 (2055 Notes, and
together with the 2017 Notes, 2019 Floating RateeBli2019 Notes, 2021 Notes, 2022 Notes, 2024 NpO25 Notes, 2030 Notes, 2034
Notes, 2035 Notes, 2044 Notes and 2045 Notes,gh®SNotes)

We issued the Senior Notes for general corporategses, which may include stock repurchases, palyof@ash dividends on our common
stock, future acquisitions and repayment of indétéss. Additional details regarding our Senior N@ted related interest rate swap agreer
are included in Notes 8 and 11 of Notes to Conatdid Financial Statements included elsewhere éW&hnual Report.

In July 2014, our 3.75% senior notes due July Z0£41.5 billion matured and were repaid, and wexbthe fixed to variable interest rate
swap agreements associated with such fixed ratersastes.
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Interest Rate Swap Agreementsin July 2014, we entered into certain interag swap agreements that have the economic effect
modifying the fixed interest obligations associatgth our 2019 Notes and 2021 Notes so that trerést payable on these notes effectively
became variable based on LIBOR. As of May 31, 2015,2019 Notes and 2021 Notes had effective istestes of 0.76% and 0.91%,
respectively, after considering the effects ofafmementioned interest rate swap arrangementsar&/accounting for these interest rate swap
agreements as fair value hedges pursuant to AS(T&thvatives and HedgingAdditional details regarding our Senior Notes agldted
interest rate swap agreements are included in Nooéeml 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemincluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Cash Dividends In fiscal 2015, we declared and paid cashdéints of $0.51 per share that totaled $2.3 bilkonincrease of $0.03 per sh
over the cash dividends declared and paid in fig0a¥. In June 2015, our Board of Directors dedaguarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per
share of outstanding common stock payable on @15 to stockholders of record as of the clddmisiness on July 8, 2015. Future
declarations of dividends and the establishmefiitofe record and payment dates are subject téirtabdetermination of our Board of
Directors.

Common Stock Repurchases Our Board of Directors has approved a progi@nus to repurchase shares of our common stock. On
September 18, 2014, we announced that our Boabireftors approved an expansion of our stock répage program by an additional $13.0
billion. As of May 31, 2015, approximately $9.2lioih remained available for stock repurchases utttestock repurchase program. We
repurchased 193.7 million shares for $8.1 bill80.4 million shares for $9.8 billion, and 346.1limn shares for $11.0 billion in fiscal 2015,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Our stock repurchai®mazation does not have an expiration date hagtce of our repurchase activity will
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions and divillgayments, our debt repayment
obligations (described further below), our stock@mand economic and market conditions. Our stepkirchases may be effected from time to
time through open market purchases or pursuanRiol@ 10b5% plan. Our stock repurchase program may be aetetersuspended, delaye:
discontinued at any time.

Contractual Obligations: The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymerdgufixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changealirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, dhgrigterest rates and other factors may
result in actual payments differing from thesereates. We cannot provide certainty regarding tinéng and amounts of payments. We have
presented below a summary of the most significasti@ptions used in preparing this information watfie context of our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cialvs. The following is a summary of certain of aamtractual obligations as of May 31, 20

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin® $ 42,461 $ 2,000 $ — $ 6,00 $ 2000 $ 4500 $ 27,96
Interest payments on borrowin®) 20,16¢ 1,43¢ 1,33« 1,31¢ 1,15¢ 1,08: 13,84:
Operating lease® 1,245 33C 27C 20¢ 15€ 107 17t
Purchase obligations and otl® 1,18] 713 19t 124 85 64 —

Total contractual obligatior $ 6506( $ 448: $ 1,79¢ $ 764¢ $ 339 $ 575 $ 41,98

(1) Represents the principal balances and interest @aignto be paid in connection with our senior notgstanding as of May 31, 2015. Refer to Note Bates to Consolidated Financ
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Repogdditional information related to our noteygale.

We have entered into certain interest rate swapeagents related to our 2.375% senior notes du@daf019 (January 2019 Notes), our 2019 Notes an@@21 Notes that have t
economic effect of modifying the fixed interestightions associated with these senior notes sdhbahterest obligations effectively became vdegiursuant to a LIBOR-based
index. Interest payments on the January 2019 N264$ Notes and 2021 Notes presented in the conédanbligations table above have been estimatied) uisterest rates of 0.93%,
0.76% and 0.91%, respectively, which representeefective interest rates for these senior notesfdMay 31, 2015 after consideration of thesedit@variable interest rate swap
agreements, and are subject to change in futuiedse

Our 2017 Notes, our floating rate senior nolies January 2019 and our 2019 Floating Rate Nomtesinterest at a rate of 0.47%, 0.86% and 0.78%fectively, as of May 31, 2015
and interest payments on these notes presentbd gohtractual obligations table above have begma&®d using this rat
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Our 2.25% senior notes due January 2021 (#a2021 Notes) and our 3.125% senior notes due22p (July 2025 Notes) are denominated in Euracohmection with the issuance
of the January 2021 Notes, we entered into cect@iss-currency swap agreements that have the edoeffiect of converting our fixed rate, Euro denoated debt, including annual
interest payments and the payment of principalatnty, to a fixed rate, U.S. Dollar denominatedbtdof $1.6 billion with a fixed annual intereste®f 3.53%. Principal and interest
payments for the January 2021 Notes presentectiodhtractual obligations table above were caledl@ased on the terms of the aforementioned cruosercy swap agreements.
Principal and interest payments for the July 202%M presented in the contractual obligations tabée/e were estimated using foreign currency exghaates as of May 31, 201

@ Primarily represents leases of facilities andtides future minimum rent payments for facilitibattwe have vacated pursuant to our restructuridgnzerger integration activities. We
have approximately $61 million in facility obligatis, net of estimated sublease income, for cevistated locations in accrued restructuring on onsolidated balance sheet at
May 31, 2015

®)  Primarily represents amounts associated with ageatthat are enforceable, legally binding andi§peerms, including: fixed or minimum quantities be purchased; fixed, minimt
or variable price provisions; and the approximatertg of the payment. We utilize several externahufacturers to manufacture sub-assemblies fohatgtware products and to
perform final assembly and testing of finished kaack products. We also obtain individual hardwamepgonents for our products from a variety of indial suppliers based on
projected demand information. Such purchase comenitsnare based on our forecasted component andiactuming requirements and typically provide folfiftment within agreed
upon lead-times and/or commercially standard |&aés for the particular part or product and havenbacluded in the amount presented in the abomgactual obligations table.
Routine arrangements for other materials and gtwtsare not related to our external manufactuaadscertain other suppliers and that are entetedrirthe ordinary course of
business are not included in the amounts preseittee as they are generally entered into in orlseture pricing or other negotiated terms andliffieult to quantify in a
meaningful way

As of May 31, 2015, we had $4.8 billion of grossagognized income tax benefits, including relatedrest and penalties, recorded on our

consolidated balance sheet and all such obligatiame been excluded from the table above due toribertainty as to when they might be

settled. We cannot make a reasonably reliable etiorf the period in which the remainder of ouramognized income tax benefits will be

settled or released with the relevant tax authesjtalthough we believe it is reasonably possihdé ¢ertain of these liabilities could be settled

or released during fiscal 2016.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivakemdsmarketable securities and cash generated fp@mations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditures and contrakctibligation requirements. In addition, we beliswe could fund any future acquisitions,
dividend payments and repurchases of common stod&hd with our internally available cash, cashiegjents and marketable securities, casl
generated from operations, additional borrowinggamn the issuance of additional securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements: We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangentleat have or are reasonably likely to have eectiror
future effect on our financial condition, changedinancial condition, revenues or expenses, regfloperations, liquidity, capital expenditu
or capital resources that is material to investors.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues, expenses and operating incewe Historically been affected by a variety of s@asfactors, including sales force
incentive compensation plans. In addition, our [peen operations generally provide lower revenueslirfirst fiscal quarter because of the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the semrmhese seasonal factors are common in the éamology industry. These factors hi
caused a decrease in our first quarter revenuesnapared to revenues in the immediately precedingti quarter, which historically has been
our highest revenue quarter within a particulasdig/ear. Similarly, the operating income of ousiness is affected by seasonal factors in a
consistent manner as our revenues (in particularnew software licenses and cloud software subtionis segment) as certain expenses w
our cost structure are relatively fixed in the sHerm. We expect these trends to continue in fi20a6.
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The following tables set forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal qtems. We believe that all necessary
adjustments, which consisted only of normal reagradjustments, have been included in the amotetisdsbelow to present fairly the results
of such periods when read in conjunction with thesolidated financial statements and related rintdsded elsewhere in this Annual Report.
The sum of the quarterly financial information mayy from the annual data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2015 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue: $ 8,59¢ $ 9,59¢ $ 9,327 $ 10,70t
Gross profit $ 6,87¢ $ 7,651 $ 7,39 $ 8,611
Operating incomi $ 2,96 $ 3,54 $ 3,388 $ 3,98:
Net income $ 2,18¢ $ 2,502 $ 2,49 $ 2,75¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.57 $ 0.57 $ 0.62
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.4¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5€ $ 0.6z

Fiscal 2014 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue! $ 8,37z $ 9,27t $ 9,307 $ 11,32
Gross profit $ 6,60 $ 7,4 $ 7,49 $ 9,34(
Operating incomi $ 2,87: $ 3,41C $ 3,56 $ 4,90¢
Net income $ 2,191 $ 2,55: $ 2,56¢ $ 3,64¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.5¢€ $ 0.57 $ 0381
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.4 $ 0.5¢€ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.8C

Stock Options and Restricted Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is a key coemg@f the compensation package we provide tadctand retain certain of our talented
employees and align their interests with the irgeref existing stockholders.

We recognize that stock options and restrictecksbased awards dilute existing stockholders ane lsaught to control the number of stock
options and restricted stock-based awards granbdd providing competitive compensation packagem<istent with these dual goals, our
cumulative potential dilution since June 1, 2012 haen a weighted average annualized rate of 1e9%ear. The potential dilution percentage
is calculated as the average annualized new sigtdéns or restricted stock-based awards grantechasdmed, net of stock options and
restricted stock-based awards forfeited by empleyeaving the company, divided by the weighted ayeroutstanding shares during the
calculation period. This maximum potential dilutiefil only result if all stock options are exeraisand restricted stock-based awards vest. O
the outstanding stock options at May 31, 2015, tvigienerally have a 10-year exercise period, lems 1h0% have exercise prices higher than
the market price of our common stock on such dateecent years, our stock repurchase program loas than offset the dilutive effect of our
stock-based compensation program; however, we athyce the level of our stock repurchases in theduis we may use our available cash
for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to repay omurghase indebtedness or for other purposes. At3ag015, the maximum potential dilution
from all outstanding and unexercised stock optammd restricted stock-based awards, regardless efighanted and regardless of whether
vested or unvested and including stock options evtiee strike price is higher than the market pas®f such date, was 10.2%.
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The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide shaded award grants to selected
employees, all stock-based award grants to exexofficers and any individual grant of stock-baaadrds in excess of 100,000 stock option
equivalent shares. A separate Plan Committee, whiah executive officer committee, approves irdlial stock-based award grants of up to
100,000 stock option equivalent shares to non-drexofficers and employees. Stock option and iestl stock-based award activity from
June 1, 2012 through May 31, 2015 is summarizddlmsvs (shares in millions):

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 42~
Stock options and restricted st-based awards grant 312
Stock options and restricted st-based awards assum 2C
Stock options exercised and restricted s-based awards vest (250
Forfeitures, cancellations and other, (66)

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 441

Weighted average annualized stock options andaestrstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellation: 89

Weighted average annualized stock repurch (274

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 4,34:

Basic weighted average shares outstanding from Ju2@12 through May 31, 20: 4,56

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding as a percent of shaamding at May 31, 201 10.2%

In the money stock options and total restrictedlstmased awards outstanding (based on the closiog @f our common stock on

the last trading day of our fiscal period presenteda percent of shares outstanding at May 355 10.1%

Weighted average annualized stock options andaestrstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellations and before stock repurchases, ascanief weighted average shares outstanding frore 1, 2012 through

May 31, 201t 1.9%
Weighted average annualized stock options andaesirstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellations and after stock repurchases, ascamenf weighted average shares outstanding frara 1u2012 through May 31,

2015 -4.0%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuahzaton-wide stock-based award grants to certaipleyees. These annual stock-basec
award grants are generally made during the tembssiday period following the second trading dasrdhe announcement of our fiscal fourth
quarter earnings report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncemertur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 of Notes to ConsolidateghEial Statements included elsewhere in this AnReglort.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities anchterest Income Risk

Our bank deposits and time deposits are generaltywith large, diverse financial institutions waalide with high investment grade credit
ratings or financial institutions that meet investrhgrade ratings criteria, which we believe miégacredit risk and certain other risks. In
addition, as of May 31, 2015, substantially albaf marketable securities are high quality withragpnately 28% having maturity dates witl
one year and 72% having maturity dates within angix years (see a description of our marketaldarstées held in Note 3 and Note 4 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incluesewhere in this Annual Report g“Liquidity and Capital Resources” above). We hold a
mix of both fixed and floating rate debt securiti®air floating rate debt securities serve to lotheroverall risk to our investments portfolio
associated with the risk of rising interest rafidee fair values of our fixed rate debt securitiesienpacted by interest rate movements and if
interest rates increased by 50 basis points asagf34, 2015, we estimate the change would dectbadair
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values of our marketable securities holdings byl&tdlion. Substantially all of our marketable satias are designated as available-for-sale.
We generally do not use our investments for tragimgposes.

Changes in the overall level of interest ratescaffiee interest income that is generated from ashccash equivalents and marketable
securities. For fiscal 2015, total interest incomes $349 million with our cash, cash equivalents marketable securities investments yielding
an average 0.79% on a worldwide basis. The tatitevbgresents the approximate fair values of ouhcaash equivalents and marketable
securities and the related weighted average irteatess for our investment portfolio at May 31, 2Gind 2014.

May 31,
2015 2014

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Interest Interest

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Rate Fair Value Rate
Cash and cash equivale $ 21,71 0.36% $ 17,76! 0.37%
Marketable securitie 32,65 1.07% 21,05( 1.14%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 54,36¢ 0.79% $ 38,81¢ 0.79%

Interest Expense Risk
Interest Expense Ris— Fixed to Variable Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Our total borrowings were $42.0 billion as of Mal, 2015, consisting of $39.7 billion of fixed rdterrowings and $2.3 billion of floating rate
borrowings (Floating Rate Notes). During fiscal 20We issued $20.0 billion of senior notes comrisE$1.75 billion of floating rate notes
and $18.25 billion of fixed rate notes as descrilpeithe “Recent Financing Activities” section of Negement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (I#8nn this Annual Report.

In July 2014, we entered into certain interest satap agreements that have the economic effecbdffying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our $2.0 billion of 2.25% seniotasodue October 2019 (2019 Notes) and our $1 Bitlf 2.80% senior notes due July 2021
(2021 Notes) so that the interest payable on ti® 2btes and the 2021 Notes effectively becamalilribased on LIBOR. In July 2013, we
entered into certain interest rate swap agreentleathave the economic effect of modifying the dixeterest obligations associated with our
$1.5 billion of 2.375% senior notes due January92@anuary 2019 Notes) so that the interest payabtbe January 2019 Notes effectively
became variable based on LIBOR. The critical teofrthe interest rate swap agreements match theatrierms of the 2019 Notes, 2021 Notes
and the January 2019 Notes that the interest wap agreements pertain to, including the notionaants and maturity dates. We do not use
these interest rate swap arrangements or our fadedborrowings for trading purposes. We are aciogifior these interest rate swap
agreements as fair value hedges pursuant to AS(I&thvatives and HedgingThe total fair value gain of these fixed to vaté@interest rate
swap agreements as of May 31, 2015 was $74 milliddBOR-based interest rates increased by 10@shasints as of May 31, 2015, the
change would decrease the fair values of the figadariable swap agreements by $221 million. Addisl details regarding our senior notes
and related interest rate swap agreements aredegatlim Notes 8 and 11 of Notes to Consolidatedrigiah Statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report.

By issuing the Floating Rate Notes and entering thé aforementioned interest rate swap arrangamneethave assumed risks associated wit
variable interest rates based upon LIBOR. As of ay2015, the weighted average interest rate egedowith our Floating Rate Notes and
January 2019 Notes, 2019 Notes and 2021 Notes,caftsidering the effects of the aforementionedriggt rate swap arrangements, was
0.79%. Changes in the overall level of interestsatffect the interest expense that we recogniraristatements of operations. An interest rat
risk sensitivity analysis is used to measure irster@te risk by computing estimated changes in flagls as a result of assumed changes in
market interest rates. As of May 31, 2015, if LIBORsed interest rates increased by 100 basis ptietshange would increase our interest
expense annually by approximately $73 million agliates to our fixed to variable interest rate pagreements and floating rate borrowings.
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In July 2014, our 3.75% senior notes due July Z0141.5 billion matured and were repaid, and westhe fixed to variable interest rate
swap agreements associated with such fixed raterseotes.

Currency Risk
Foreign Currency Transaction and Translation Risks- Foreign Currency Borrowings and Related Hedges

In July 2013, we issued €1.25 billion of 2.25% isadele January 2021 (January 2021 Notes) and weednt#o certain cross-currency swap
agreements to manage the related foreign exchasigbyr effectively converting the fixed-rate Eurerdbminated debt, including the annual
interest payments and the payment of principalattnity, to a fixed-rate, U.S. Dollar denominatexbtl The economic effect of the swap
agreements was to eliminate the uncertainty ot#sh flows in U.S. Dollars associated with the dayp@2021 Notes by fixing the principal
amount of the January 2021 Notes at $1.6 billiotth\ah annual interest rate of 3.53%. The critieains of the cross-currency swap agreemen
match the critical terms of January 2021 Notedytling the notional amounts and maturity dates.ddé/@ot use these cross-currency swap
arrangements for trading purposes. We are accayftdirthese interest rate swap agreements as lcashédges pursuant to ASC 815. The
values of these cross-currency swap agreemenfshdayo31, 2015 and 2014 were a $(244) million lasd a $74 million gain, respectively.
The changes in the fair values of the cross-cuyrem@p agreements during fiscal 2015 were primaitilsibutable to the decline in the value of
the Euro relative to the U.S. Dollar. If the Eurealened by 10% as of May 31, 2015, we estimatelthege would decrease the fair values o
the cross-currency swap agreements by $174 millionterest rates that correspond to the remaitémm of the January 2021 Notes decrease
by 100 basis points as of May 31, 2015, we estirttetehange would decrease the fair values ofritesecurrency swap agreements by $91
million. Additional details regarding our seniortes and related cross-currency swap agreemenisciuded in Notes 8 and 11 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report.

In July 2013, we also issued®0 million of 3.125% notes due July 2025 (2025d¥ptWe designated the 2025 Notes as a net invastradge
of our investments in certain of our internatiogsabsidiaries that use the Euro as their functionedency in order to reduce the volatility in
stockholdersequity caused by the changes in foreign currenchaxge rates of the Euro with respect to the Udlab As a result, the chan
in the carrying value of the Euro denominated 2R2%es due to fluctuations in foreign currency exaerates on the effective portion is
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive losaiogonsolidated balance sheet and is also pexbassta line item in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income included elsewhdhis Annual Report and totaled $208 millidmet other comprehensive gains for
fiscal 2015. Any remaining change in the carryimdue of the 2025 Notes representing the ineffegiivgion of the net investment hedge is
recognized in non-operating income (expense),Wetdid not record any ineffectiveness during fis@i5.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the &uildhe U.S. Dollar will impact the amount of UC®llars that we will require to settle the
2025 Notes at maturity. If the U.S. Dollar weakebgdl0% in comparison to the Euro as of May 31,52@le estimate our obligation to cash
settle the principal portion of the 2025 Notes u$UDollars would increase by approximately $81liaml

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk— Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzaiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaterforeign currency exposures. Under this prograumn strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases aredses in our foreign currency exposures are dffseains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risksl aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposungsdally arise from intercompany sublicense featgricompany loans and other
intercompany transactions. Our foreign currencyéod contracts are generally short-term in duration

We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tleea@rd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we record the Yailues of these contracts as of the end of quorting period to our consolidated balance
sheet with changes in fair values recorded to ounsalidated statement of operations. Given thetshoation of the forward contracts, the
amount recorded is
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not significant. The balance sheet classificatmmtiie fair values of these forward contracts eppid expenses and other current assets for a
net unrealized gain position and other curreniliigds for a net unrealized loss position. Theetaent of operations classification for changes
in fair values of these forward contracts is noeraging income (expense), net for both realizeduandalized gains and losses.

We expect that we will continue to realize gainsosses with respect to our foreign currency expesunet of gains or losses from our foreign
currency forward contracts. Our ultimate realizathgr loss with respect to foreign currency expeswill generally depend on the size and
type of crosszurrency transactions that we enter into, the curexchange rates associated with these exposndeshanges in those rates,
net realized gain or loss on our foreign currermwhrd contracts and other factors. As of May 3l,22and 2014, the notional amounts of the
forward contracts we held to purchase U.S. Dollaexchange for other major international curreseiere $2.2 billion and $3.6 hillion,
respectively. As of May 31, 2015 and 2014, thear@l amounts of forward contracts we held to sei.UDollars in exchange for other major
international currencies were $1.2 billion and $2lbon, respectively. The fair values of our aatsding foreign currency forward contracts
were nominal at May 31, 2015 and 2014. Net foreigchange transaction losses included in non-operaicome (expense), net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operati@ne $157 million, $375 million and $162 millionfiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Included in the net foreign exchatigasaction losses for fiscal 2015, fiscal 2014 fiswhl 2013 were foreign currency
remeasurement losses relating to our Venezuelaidaty's operations of $23 million, $213 milliomé$64 million, respectively (see Note 1
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements oteduelsewhere in this Annual Report for additianBdrmation). As a large portion of our
consolidated operations are international, we ceufgerience additional foreign currency volatilitythe future, the amounts and timing of
which are unknown.

Foreign Currency Translation Risk—Impact on Cash,a8h Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the ant@frotal assets and liabilities that we reportdar foreign subsidiaries upon the translation
of these amounts into U.S. Dollars. In particullhe, amount of cash, cash equivalents and marketableities that we report in U.S. Dollars
for a significant portion of the cash held by theabsidiaries is subject to translation varianaesed by changes in foreign currency exchange
rates as of the end of each respective reportiriggpé&he offset to which is substantially recordediccumulated other comprehensive loss or
our consolidated balance sheet and is also prasasta line item in our consolidated statementoofprehensive income included elsewhere
in this Annual Report).

As the U.S. Dollar fluctuated against certain intgional currencies as of the end of fiscal 20t8,amount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we reported in U.S. @slfor foreign subsidiaries that hold internatianarencies as of May 31, 2015 decreased
relative to what we would have reported using astamt currency rate as of May 31, 2014. As repdrtealr consolidated statements of cash
flows, the estimated effects of exchange rate cBsuog our reported cash and cash equivalents lesléme).S. Dollars for fiscal 2015, 2014
and 2013 were decreases of $1.2 billion, $158 anilind $110 million, respectively. The followindlaincludes estimates of the U.S. Dollar
equivalent of cash, cash equivalents and marketaglerities denominated in certain major foreigmencies that we held as of May 31, 2015:

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 201!
Euro $ 2,19
Japanese Ye 1,14:
Indian Rupe 674
Saudi Arabian Riys 44%
Chinese Renmint 427
Australian Dollar 397
South African Rani 344
Canadian Dolla 231
Other foreign currencie 1,80z
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 7,65:
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If overall foreign currency exchange rates in coriguen to the U.S. Dollar uniformly weakened by 1a%& amount of cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities we would report in U.Qlldds would decrease by approximately $765 milli@ssuming constant foreign currency
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiandes.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The response to this item is submitted as a sepseation of this Annual Report. See Part IV, ItEn

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accatants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindeu the supervision and with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and oaniagement, including our Principal Executive Officend our Principal Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of the design and operatiaouofdisclosure controls and procedures pursuabBkéhange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-1-
(e). Disclosure controls are procedures that asegded to ensure that information required to Iseldsed in our reports filed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange $uh as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is rded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by th& Usecurities and Exchange Commission. Disclosomérols are also designed to ensure the
such information is accumulated and communicatemitananagement, including our Principal Execu@fficers and our Principal Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure. Our quarterly evadmatdf disclosure controls includes an
evaluation of some components of our internal @dmver financial reporting. We also perform a gepaannual evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting for the purpose of prowiglithe management report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our impatation of the controls and the effect of
the controls on the information generated for ushis Annual Report on Form 10-Ka the course of the controls evaluation, we reegwate
errors or control problems identified and soughtdafirm that appropriate corrective actions, inlahg process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performecauarterly basis so that the conclusions of mamegt, including our Principal Executive
Officers and our Principal Financial Officer, conuieg the effectiveness of the disclosure contcals be reported in our periodic reports on
Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the componentswfdisclosure controls are also evaluated on @oiog basis by both our internal audit
and finance organizations. The overall goals of¢hearious evaluation activities are to monitor disclosure controls and to modify them as
necessary. We intend to maintain our disclosurérotsnas dynamic processes and procedures thatljwst as circumstances merit.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with theqgiaation of our Principal Executive Officers andrd’rincipal Financial Officer), as of the
end of the period covered by this report, our RpiaicExecutive Officers and our Principal Finanddficer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Untlergupervision and with the participation of oumangement, including our Principal
Executive Officers and our Principal Financial ©éi, we conducted an evaluation of the effectivemé®ur internal control over financial
reporting as of May 31, 2015 based on the guidglestablished imternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissiadl3 framework. Our internal control over finaleeporting includes policies and
procedures that provide reasonable assurance negding reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with geferally accepted accounting principles.
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Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéconcluded that our internal control over finahreporting was effective as of May 31,
2015. We reviewed the results of management’s sigs¥ with our Finance and Audit Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of May 31, 2015 has been auditeBrnst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inirtieport which is included in Part IV, Item 15thbis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportmn

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurtethg our last fiscal quarter that have materiafigcted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalareporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Principal Executif@o®rs and our Principal Financial Officer, belesthat our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg are designed to provide reasonable assum@raehieving their objectives and are
effective at the reasonable assurance level. Howeue management does not expect that our diseasantrols and procedures or our inte
control over financial reporting will prevent alirers and all fraud. A control system, no mattewheell conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control system are met. Further,design of a control system must reflect th
fact that there are resource constraints and thefib of controls must be considered relativehtgirtcosts. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of contrais @rovide absolute assurance that all controessind instances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include tladities that judgments in decision making can hatyaand that breakdowns can occur becaus
of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, cons@an be circumvented by the individual acts of s@ersons, by collusion of two or more
people or by management override of the contrdig. design of any system of controls also is basgauit upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events and there can be noi@sxe that any design will succeed in achievisgtiated goals under all potential future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadezbacause of changes in conditions, or the degfreempliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inh&ngitations in a cost effective control systemsatatements due to error or fraud may occu
and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART lIl
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GHe€, information required by this item relating tar @xecutive officers is included under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPI of this Annual Report.

The other information required by this Item 10nsarporated by reference from the information cimetd in our Proxy Statement to be filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissiaoimection with the solicitation of proxies forrd015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(the “2015 Proxy Statement”) under the sectiongledt‘Board of Directors—Nominees for Director§Board of Directors—Committees,
Membership and Meetings—Committee Memberships,"diBloof Directors—Committees, Membership and Meatirghe Finance and Auc
Committee,” “Corporate Governance—Employee Matte@ade of Conduct,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial @wghip Reporting
Compliance”.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Iltem 11 is incargted by reference from the information to be ciorete in our 2015 Proxy Statement under
the sections entitled “Board of Directors—Commigtelembership and Meetings—The Compensation ComesCompensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Board ofrBitors—Director Compensation,” and “Executive Cemgation”.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Benefi@l Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item 12 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2015 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Security Ownershigeftain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “EXge Compensation—Equity
Compensation Plan Information”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trasactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2015 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Corporate Governancear@ of Directors and Director Independence” andifiBactions with Related Persons”.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incarged herein by reference from the informationéacbntained in our 2015 Proxy Statement
under the section entitled “Ratification of Selentbf Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfting 84
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2015 and - 86
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag(®t5, 2014 and 201 87
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the yeatsceMay 31, 2015, 2014 and 2C 88
Statements of Equity for the years ended May 31520014 and 201 89
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag2@®ll5, 2014 and 20! 90
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 91
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is fikexla part of this repol
Page
Schedule Il. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 13€

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits
The information required by this Item is set faritthe Index of Exhibits that follows the signatyr@ge of this Annual Report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 201tb2014, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemsdome, equity, and cash flows for each of theegtyears in the period ended May 31,
2015. Our audits also included the financial staeinschedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)l&sE financial statements and schedule are
the responsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspémian on these financial statements and schechdedo
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Oracle
Corporation at May 31, 2015 and 2014, and the dafzed results of its operations and its cash $lder each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumign, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasanicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Oracle
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of May 31, 2015, based on criteria estabtisin Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 franrkjvand our report dated June
2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

San Jose, California
June 25, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal aidrdver financial reporting as of May 31, 2015, den criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (2013 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Oracle Corporation’s managementsponsible for maintaining effective internal gohbver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the company’s infezaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limaaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial reporting as of May 31, 2015,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Oracle Corporation as of May815 and 2014, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive
income, equity, and cash flows for each of thedtyears in the period ended May 31, 2015 of Or@cigoration and our report dated June 25
2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

San Jose, California
June 25, 2015
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2015 and 2014

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2015 2014
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 21,71¢ $ 17,76
Marketable securitie 32,65: 21,05(
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtfebants of $285 and $306 as of May 31, 2015 anc
2014, respectivel 5,61¢ 6,087
Inventories 314 18¢
Deferred tax asse 663 914
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,22( 2,11¢
Total current asse 63,18 48,12¢
Non-current asset:
Property, plant and equipment, | 3,68¢ 3,061
Intangible assets, n 6,40¢ 6,137
Goodwill, net 34,08 29,65:
Deferred tax asse 79t 837
Other asset 2,74¢ 2,451
Total nor-current assel 47,72( 42,13¢
Total asset $ 110,90: $ 90,26¢
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, curre $ 1,99¢ $ 1,50¢
Accounts payabl 80¢ 471
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,83¢ 1,94(
Income taxes payab 532 41¢€
Deferred revenue 7,24°F 7,26¢
Other current liabilitie: 2,87( 2,78t
Total current liabilities 15,29: 14,38¢
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable, n-current 39,95¢ 22,58¢
Income taxes payab 4,38¢ 4,184
Other nor-current liabilities 2,16¢ 1,65
Total nor-current liabilities 46,51« 28,43(
Commitments and contingenci
Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstandit
4,343 shares and 4,464 shares as of May 31, 2@l 34, respectivel 23,15¢ 21,07"
Retained earning 26,50: 25,96
Accumulated other comprehensive I (99€) (169
Total Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity 48,66: 46,87¢
Noncontrolling interest 43¢ 56¢
Total equity 49,09¢ 47,44
Total liabilities and equit' $ 110,90 $ 90,26¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2015 2014 2013
Revenues
New software license $ 8,53t $  9,41¢ $ 9,411
Cloud software as a service and platform as ace 1,48t 1,121 91C
Cloud infrastructure as a servi 60¢ 45€ 457
Software license updates and product sug 18,84’ 18,20¢ 17,14:
Software and cloud revenu 29,47¢ 29,19¢ 27,92(
Hardware systems produ 2,82t 2,97¢ 3,03:
Hardware systems supp 2,38( 2,39¢ 2,31
Hardware systems revent 5,20¢ 5,372 5,34¢
Services revenue 3,54¢ 3,704 3,91«
Total revenue: 38,22¢ 38,27t 37,18(
Operating expense
Sales and marketir® 7,655 7,561 7,06:
Cloud software as a service and platform as ace®) 773 45k 327
Cloud infrastructure as a servi® 344 30¢ 304
Software license updates and product sug® 1,19¢ 1,162 1,17t
Hardware systems produ«® 1,471 1,521 1,501
Hardware systems supp® 81¢ 83¢ 89C
Service<® 2,92¢ 2,95¢ 3,18
Research and developmt 5,52¢ 5,151 4,85(
General and administrati 1,07 1,03¢ 1,072
Amortization of intangible asse 2,14¢ 2,30( 2,38t
Acquisition related and oth: 211 41 (604)
Restructuring 207 182 352
Total operating expens 24,35! 23,51 22,49
Operating incom: 13,87: 14,75¢ 14,68
Interest expens (1,149 (919 (797)
Non-operating income (expense), | 10€ (147 11
Income before provision for income ta» 12,83 13,70 13,89¢
Provision for income taxe 2,89¢ 2,74¢ 2,97:
Net income $ 9,93t $ 10,95¢ $ 10,92t
Earnings per shan
Basic $ 2.2¢ $ 2.42 $ 2.2¢
Diluted $ 2.21 $ 2.3¢ $ 2.2¢
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 4,40¢ 4,52¢ 4,76¢
Diluted 4,50:¢ 4,60 4,84¢
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.51 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.3C

1) Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, abhis shown separatel

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Net income $ 9,93¢ $ 10,95¢ $ 10,92t
Other comprehensive loss, net of t
Net foreign currency translation loss (770 (78) (229
Net unrealized (losses) gains on defined beneditg (157 23 (68)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable sézs 58 (15) (20)
Net unrealized gains on cash flow hed 30 5 —
Total other comprehensive loss, (832) (65) (217
Comprehensive incorr $ 9,10t $ 10,890 $ 10,71

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

Common Stock and Total
Additional Paid in Accumulated Oracle
Capital Other Corporation
Number of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’  Noncontrolling
Total

(in millions) Shares Amount Earnings (Loss) Income Equity Interests Equity
Balances as of May 31, 20 490t $17,48¢ $ 26,080 $ 11z $ 43,68¢ $ 39¢  $44,08
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 84 1,417 — — 1,415 — 1,417
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 11C — — 11C — 11C
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection with

acquisitions — 15 — — 15 — 15
Stocl-based compensatic — 75& — — 75& — 75E
Repurchase of common sta (34€) (1,269 (9,725 — (10,999 — (10,999
Cash dividends declared ($0.30 per sh — — (1,437%) — (1,437 — (1,437
Tax benefit from stock plar — 257 — — 257 — 257
Other, ne — 11¢ — — 11¢ 66 18t
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — 31 (31)
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (21)) (21)) (49 (260)
Net income — — 10,92¢ — 10,92¢ 112 11,037
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,64¢ 18,89: 25,85¢ (99) 44,64¢ 497 45,14¢
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 95 2,02¢ — — 2,02¢ — 2,02¢
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 10¢ — — 10¢ — 10¢
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection with

acquisitions — 14§ — — 14§ — 14¢
Stocl-based compensatic — 80t — — 80t — 80¢
Repurchase of common sta (280) (1,160 (8,63¢) — (9,79¢ — (9,799
Cash dividends declared ($0.48 per sh — — (2,17¢) — (2,179 — (2,179
Tax benefit from stock plar — 254 — — 254 — 254
Other, ne — 2 (28) — (26) 12 (24)
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (28) (29)
Other comprehensive loss, 1 — — — (65) (65) (20) (75)
Net income — — 10,95¢ — 10,95¢ 98 11,05:
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,46¢ 21,07% 25,96¢ (164) 46,87¢ 56¢ 47,44
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 70 1,68¢ — — 1,68¢ — 1,68¢
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 114 — — 114 — 114
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection with

acquisitions — 12 — — 12 — 12
Stocl-based compensatic — 93¢ — — 93¢ — 93¢
Repurchase of common sta (199 (947) (7,145 — (8,08¢) — (8,08¢)
Cash dividends declared ($0.51 per sh — — (2,25%) — (2,25%) — (2,25%)
Tax benefit from stock plar — 267 — — 267 — 267
Other, ne: — 8 — — 8 15 23
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (196) (196)
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (832) (832) (66) (89¢)
Net income — — 9,93¢ — 9,93¢ 113 10,05:
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,347 $23,15¢ $ 26,50! $ (996) $ 48,66 $ 435 $49,09¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $ 9,93¢ $10,95¢ $10,92¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 71z 60¢ 54¢€
Amortization of intangible asse 2,14¢ 2,30( 2,38t
Allowances for doubtful accounts receiva 5€ 122 11€
Deferred income taxe (54¢) (24¢) (117)
Stocl-based compensatic 93: 80t 75E
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock options asling of restricted sto-based award 39¢ 48( 41C
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optoml vesting of restricted st-based award (244) (250 (24))
Other, ne 327 311 15¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Decrease in trade receivab 20¢ 24 267
(Increase) decrease in inventor (9€) 57 (6€)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other a (387) (149) (555)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and d@béities 247 48 (54))
(Decrease) increase in income taxes pay (20) (320 85
Increase in deferred revent 65¢ 172 14¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 14,33¢ 14,92 14,22«
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imezgs (31,42) (32,31 (32,160)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketalslerisies and other investmer 20,00¢ 28,84¢ 30,15¢
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (6,239 (3,48¢) (3,309
Capital expenditure (1,39) (580) (650)
Net cash used for investing activiti (19,04°) (7,539 (5,95¢6)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (8,087 (9,819 (11,02)
Proceeds from issuances of common s 1,80z 2,13¢ 1,527
Payments of dividends to stockhold (2,255 (2,17¢) (1,439
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ 19,84: 5,56¢ 4,97«
Repayments of borrowing (1,500 — (2,950
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optoml vesting of restricted st-based award 244 25( 241
Distributions to noncontrolling interes (29¢) (29) (31)
Other, ne — — 192
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actig 9,85( (4,06%) (8,500
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casraénts (1,197 (15¢) (110)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisy 3,945 3,15¢ (342)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 17,76¢ 14,610 14,95¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $21,71¢ $17,76¢ $ 14,61

Non-cash investing and financing transactic

Fair value of stock options and restricted s-based awards assumed in connection with acquis $ 12 ¢ 14t i

Increase (decrease) in unsettled repurchases afhoarstock $ 1 $ (@15 $ (@)

Increase in unsettled investment purchi $ 264 $ 7€ $ —
Supplemental schedule of cash flow d

Cash paid for income tax $ 3,058 $ 284! $ 2,64«

Cash paid for intere: $ 1,022 $ 8271 $ 781

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2015

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, marketts, hosts and supports database and middleweéveare, application software, cloud
infrastructure, hardware systems—including Oraclgifeered Systems, computer server, storage, ndtwoaind industry specific hardware
products—and related services that are engineeretitk together in cloud-based and on-premisestimdtion technology (IT) environments.
We offer our customers the option to purchase ofiware and hardware systems products and relat@itss to manage their own cloud-
based or on-premises IT environments, or to deploycomprehensive set of cloud service offeringuiing Oracle Software as a Service
(SaaS), Platform as a Service (PaaS) and Infrasteias a Service (IaaS). Customers that purchassoftware products may elect to purch
software license updates and product support ostrahich provide our customers with rights topewsfied product upgrades and
maintenance releases issued during the suppoddpasiwell as technical support assistance. Cussotingt purchase our hardware products
may elect to purchase hardware systems supportaotsitwhich provide customers with software upslfde software components that are
essential to the functionality of our hardware praid, such as Oracle Solaris and certain othewaodtproducts, and can include product
repairs, maintenance services, and technical supporices. We also offer customers a broad setwfices offerings including consulting
services, advanced customer support services arwhoh services.

Oracle Corporation conducts business globally aas wcorporated in 2005 as a Delaware corporationisithe successor to operations
originally begun in June 1977.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements includedamaounts and the accounts of our wholly- and migjarivned subsidiaries. Noncontrolling
interest positions of certain of our consolidatatities are reported as a separate component gsbtidated equity from the equity attributable
to Oracle’s stockholders for all periods presentét: noncontrolling interests in our net incomeeaweot significant to our consolidated results
for the periods presented and therefore have bedudied as a component of non-operating incomeefesg), net in our consolidated
statements of operations. Intercompany transactodsalances have been eliminated. Certain oti@ryear balances have been reclassifiec
to conform to the current year presentation. Sechassifications did not affect total revenues rafieg income or net income.

Acquisition related and other expenses as presémi@ar consolidated statements of operationsismaf 2015 included $186 million related to
a goodwill impairment loss (refer to Note 7 belaw additional information) and for fiscal 2015 a2@13 included benefits of $53 million and
$306 million, respectively, related to certaingétion (refer to Note 18 below for additional infwation). Further, acquisition related and other
expenses for fiscal 2013 included a change inviaine of contingent consideration payable, whigulted in a net benefit of $387 million in
fiscal 2013 (refer to Note 2 below for additionafidrmation).

In fiscal 2015, we adopted Accounting Standardsdtp@ASU) No. 2015-03nterest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-Fijnplifying

the Presentation of Debt Issuance C@#tSU 2015-03). In connection with the adoption &4 2015-03, we reclassified debt issuance costs
related to our senior notes from other assets tesnmayable, non-current as a deduction to thgiogramounts of our senior notes in our

May 31, 2015 and 2014 consolidated balance shBe¢sadoption of ASU 2015-03 did not have a matémglact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In fiscal 2015, we also adopted ASU 2015-Athendments to the Consolidation Analy#&sU 2015-01Simplifying Income Statement
Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extranady Items, ASU 2014-15Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Atyilio
Continue as a Going ConcerfASU 2014-12Accounting for Shar®&ased Payments When the Terms of an Award ProvigealPerformanc
Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Servieriod, and ASU 2014-0&Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures o
Disposals of Components of an En, none of which had an impact on our reported fimrposition or results of operations and castv§lo
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Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accoggiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aauiing Standards Codification (ASC) and we consttiervarious staff accounting
bulletins and other applicable guidance issuechbyU.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SH@sd accounting principles require us
to make certain estimates, judgments and assunspiida believe that the estimates, judgments andrgsttons upon which we rely are
reasonable based upon information available td treaime that these estimates, judgments andrggns are made. These estimates,
judgments and assumptions can affect the repontediats of assets and liabilities as of the dath®financial statements as well as

reported amounts of revenues and expenses duenggtiinds presented. To the extent there are €liféers between these estimates, judgmen
or assumptions and actual results, our consolidatadcial statements will be affected. In manyesashe accounting treatment of a particular
transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP aneslmot require management’s judgment in its apjpbicaThere are also areas in which
management’s judgment in selecting among availalbéenatives would not produce a materially différeesult.

Revenue Recognition

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software dmadcrevenues, including new software licensesmage earned from granting licenses to
our software products and industry specific sofayatoud SaaS and PaaS revenues generated frofofeganting customers access to a
broad range of our software and related suppoeriofis on a subscription basis in a secure, stdedzased cloud computing environment;
cloud laaS revenues generated from fees for deayesnd management offerings for our software amdvare and related IT infrastructure
generally on a subscription basis; and softwaenke updates and product support revenues (dedduitiber below); (2) hardware systems
revenues, which include the sale of hardware sysfmwducts including Oracle Engineered Systemspoben servers, storage products,
networking and data center fabric products, andstig specific hardware; and hardware systems stppeenues; and (3) services, which
include software and hardware related servicesidtiey consulting, advanced customer support andagitun revenues. Revenues generally
recognized net of any taxes collected from custeraad subsequently remitted to governmental auib®ri

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and SafitevRelated Services (Software Elemer

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesrg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &

application software and exclude cloud SaaS an® Pagnues and revenues derived from softwares@&apdates, which are included in
software license updates and product support re@gefthe basis for our new software licenses reveseagnition is substantially governed by
the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-G@ftware-Revenue RecognitioWe exercise judgment and use estimates in caonesith
the determination of the amount of software antisoke related services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undatias; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmdause the foregoing conditions are not meteamgnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howeaf/acceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are ejby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentingreement and are short-term in nature, wergéy recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the
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acceptance terms are perfunctory and all othemnteveecognition criteria have been met. If acceggarovisions are not perfunctory (for
example, acceptance provisions that are long-temaiure or are not included as standard terms afr@angement), revenues are recognized
upon the earlier of receipt of written customeregtance or expiration of the acceptance period.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiméclude software license updates and prodypiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teahoantent, as well as internet and telephone adeetechnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsearerglly priced as a percentage of the net newvaodtlicenses fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsSoftware Products and Software Related ServiceftwW&e Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customersphichase both software related products and softwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @atd to as software related multiple-element gearents). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiple-element arrangementshaxe applied the residual method to determine th@uat of new software license revenues
to be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Underdbiglual method, if fair value exists for undetiee elements in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undeliverethelds is deferred with the remaining portion of @&hengement consideration generally
recognized upon delivery of the software license. Mlocate the fair value of each element of axsr# related multiple-element arrangement
based upon its fair value as determined by our @especific objective evidence (VSOHiescribed further below), with any remaining am«
allocated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Cloud SaaS, PaaS and lad&fihgs, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware SysteSupport and Relate
Services (Nonsoftware Element

Our revenue recognition policy for nonsoftware dlables including cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS mdfgrhardware systems products, suppo
and related services is based upon the accountiidgtce contained in ASC 605-Fevenue RecognitigiMultiple-Element Arrangements,
and we exercise judgment and use estimates in cbonavith the determination of the amount of cld@a&hS, PaaS and laaS revenues,
hardware systems products revenues, support aatddedervices revenues to be recognized in eacuiaiicg period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenaeatsecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence af@mgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc€8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled &) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmadause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reagefur estimated returns or certain other incergiagrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéé an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiarited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dha long-term in nature or are not included aadrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our cloud SaaS and PaasS offerings generally pratideomers access to certain of our software waldfoud-based IT environment that we
manage, host and support and offer to customeassabscription basis. Revenues for our cloud Sad3aaS offerings are generally
recognized ratably over the contract term commeneiith the date the service is made available staruers and all other revenue recognitior
criteria have been satisfied.
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Our cloud laaS offerings provide deployment and ag@ment offerings for our software and hardwarerataded IT infrastructure including
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services arrangements for customerfidsiructure for a stated term that
is hosted at our data center facilities, seledngardata centers or physically on-premises abouwst facilities generally for a term-based fee;
and virtual machine instances that are subscrigigsed and designed for computing and reliablesandre object storage. Revenues for thes
cloud laaS offerings are generally recognized tgtaber the contract term commencing with the dhgeservice is made available to custor
and all other revenue recognition criteria havenbssdisfied.

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejmtssent amounts earned primarily from the shteioOracle Engineered Systems,
computer servers, storage, networking and indusstegific hardware.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the saféwcomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our hardware products and can atetude product repairs, maintenance servicesectthical support services. Hardware
systems support contracts are generally pricedpasc@ntage of the net hardware systems produess ftardware systems support contracts
are entered into at the customer’s option andeegnized ratably over the contractual term ofatiangements, which are typically one year.

Revenue Recognition for Multiplelement ArrangementsCloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS Offerings, HardwareBg$teoducts, Hardware
Systems Support and Related Services (Nonsoftwasnégements)

We enter into arrangements with customers thathase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as némgre multiple-element arrangements). Each elémwéhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntbe delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righttofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgyeoduct or service is considered probable asdlistantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the prbduservice is sold separately by us or anotkeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinobhtde a general right of return relative to thedivered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of accounting aremet, the deliverable is combined with the undebdeelement(s) and treated as a single unit of
accounting for the purposes of allocation of tharmgement consideration and revenue recognitiontHése units of accounting that include
more than one deliverable but are treated as #esimit of accounting, we generally recognize rexeasnover the contractual period of the
arrangement or in the case of our cloud offerimgsgenerally recognize revenues over the contrhtetra of the cloud software subscription.
For the purposes of revenue classification of taments that are accounted for as a single urdtobunting, we allocate revenue to the
respective revenue line items within our consolidagtatements of operations based on a rationat@mistent methodology utilizing our best
estimate of relative selling prices of such eleraent

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdubupon the following selling price hierarchy: 5@ available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available dption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanmsystems product includes software, we determirether the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelioar the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obaeting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadteunit based on the aforementioned selling grieearchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishadt contingent upon future delivery of addiibproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.
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When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppatthamdware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE is estatliby evaluating similar and interchangeable cditgpgoroducts or services in standalone
arrangements with similarly situated customersudfare unable to determine the selling price bec®®0OE or TPE does not exist, we
determine ESP for the purposes of allocating thengement by reviewing historical transactionsluding transactions whereby the
deliverable was sold on a standalone basis anddarimgy several other external and internal factoctuiding, but not limited to, pricing
practices including discounting, margin objectiveampetition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and
services, the type of customer (i.e., distributatue added reseller, government agency and diretuser, among others) and the stage of the
product lifecycle. The determination of ESP is mdeugh consultation with and approval by our ngamaent, taking into consideration our
pricing model and go-to-market strategy. As oupur competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strégsgevolve, we may modify our pricing
practices in the future, which could result in o to our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. Aesalt, our future revenue recognition
for multiple-element arrangements could differ materially framn i@sults in the current period. Selling prices analyzed on an annual basi
more frequently if we experience significant changeour selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to both t3@re and Nonsoftware Elemen
Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsArrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevaalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including new safenlicenses, software license updates and predpgtort, cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS
offerings, hardware systems products, hardwar@esyssupport, consulting, advanced customer supporices and education. In such
arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangermensideration based on the relative sellinggsriof the software group of elements as a
whole and to the nonsoftware elements. We thehdumllocate consideration within the software grtaithe respective elements within that
group following the guidance in ASC 98®5 and our policies as described above. Afteathengement consideration has been allocated
elements, we account for each respective elemeheiarrangement as described above.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable téivare and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consgllitimplementation services sold separately undeswlting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Cingukvenues from these arrangements are genadbunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the nattisenvices (i.e., consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalittheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitityservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantariaron the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthddtere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for
consulting services, revenues are deferred umiliticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimisite proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagtilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis teaswee progress towards completion, revenues aogmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been aiathlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenueacevae for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully
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burdened daily rate applicable to the consultirgpaization delivering the services. The complegitthe estimation process and factors
relating to the assumptions, risks and uncertadritirerent with the application of the proportiopatformance method of accounting affects
the amounts of revenues and related expenseseadpnrour consolidated financial statements. A neinds internal and external factors can
affect our estimates, including labor rates, uitiian and efficiency variances and specificatiod #sting requirement changes.

Our advanced customer support services are ofteyethindalone arrangements or as a part of arramgeno customers buying other software
and non-software products and services. We offesetadvanced support services, both on-premisearate, to Oracle customers to enable
increased performance and higher availability efrthbroducts and services. Depending upon the eatuthe arrangement, revenues from tl
services are recognized as the services are pertbomratably over the term of the service penwalich is generally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsmess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargegcognized as the classes or other educafierngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements ared ot qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sysisydsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based orractraiccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safénand cloud, hardware systems and services amays: (1) that include milestones or
customer specific acceptance criteria that maycaffellection of the software license or hardwagrgtesms product fees; (2) where consulting
services include significant modification or custeation of the software or hardware systems produetre of a specialized nature and
generally performed only by Oracle; (3) where digant consulting services are provided for in sloéware license contract or hardware
systems product contract without additional changare substantially discounted; or (4) where tifeasare license or hardware systems
product payment is tied to the performance of chiimguservices. For the purposes of revenue cliassibn of the elements that are accounted
for as a single unit of accounting, we allocateeraies to software and nonsoftware elements basadaiional and consistent methodology
utilizing our best estimate of the relative sellprice of such elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w$ the software or hardware systems productsti@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suaiterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@amrof the applicable funding provision by the govnental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalie diime of sale and recognize revenues if abiothvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 dayset#r, payment terms may vary based on the coimtiich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgetaémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoccessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredr@ifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within louginesses include short-term payment terms, we &atandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers pnityathrough our financing division. Since fisca89, when our financing division was
formed, we have established a history of colle¢twithout concessions, on these receivables wiitmeat terms that generally extend up to
five years from the
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contract date. Provided all other revenue recagmitriteria have been met, we recognize new soéeenses revenues and hardware systen
products revenues for these arrangements uporedglivet of any payment discounts from financiramsactions. We have generally sold
receivables financed through our financing divisiona non-recourse basis to third party financirggitutions within 90 days of the contracts’
dates of execution and we classify the proceeds fheese sales as cash flows from operating aetviti our consolidated statements of cash
flows. We account for the sales of these receiwabte“true sales” as defined in ASC 8Bfansfers and Servicingas we are considered to
have surrendered control of these financing retdiga During fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, $1.8dnil}i$2.0 billion and $2.2 billion of our
financing receivables were sold to financial ingidans, respectively.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with legsiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeoduets. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing capggenerally have no recourse to us in the eviea¢fault by the end-user and we recogniz
revenue upon delivery, if all other revenue rectignicriteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliers andasionally, we have purchased goods or serfacenir operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent TransartBoffware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nath time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment dadi@sure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @sgelin cash. We recognize revenues from
Concurrent Transactions if all of our revenue rexdtign criteria are met and the goods and senéoggiired are necessary for our current
operations.

Business Combinations

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased, at the acquisition date fair values. Goddwilbbf the acquisition date is measured as tt
excess of consideration transferred over the néteofcquisition date fair values of the assetsiiaed and the liabilities assumed. While we
our best estimates and assumptions to accuratklg aasets acquired and liabilities assumed adheisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimatesndmerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquidtiailities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabusof the measurement period or final determinatibthe values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anyssgjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidéaéements of operations.

Costs to exit or restructure certain activitiesnfacquired company or our internal operationsaceunted for as termination and exit costs
pursuant to ASC 42Exit or Disposal Cost Obligationsand are accounted for separately from the busic@sbination. A liability for costs
associated with an exit or disposal activity isogrized and measured at its fair value in our clidested statement of operations in the period
in which the liability is incurred. When estimatitige fair value of facility restructuring activifeassumptions are applied regarding estimatec
sub-lease payments to be received, which can difégerially from actual results. This may requisgtoi revise our initial estimates which may
materially affect our results of operations andfioial position in the period the revision is made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatednd may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafificient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of thevédile estimates of assets acquired and liaksildEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.
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If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglpby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matdirsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed oiadility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (ii) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relataluation allowances assumed in connection whibhsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cirzunmoes that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary estéwdoeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatiocihe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatetl@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with ASC 32(vestments— Debt and Equity Securitieand based on our intentions regarding these instntsnwe classify
substantially all of our marketable debt and egsiégurities as available-for-sale. Marketable dlot equity securities classified as available-
for-sale are reported at fair value, with all utizEal gains (losses) reflected net of tax in stad#ters’ equity on our consolidated balance
sheets, and as a line item in our consolidatedrstts of comprehensive income. If we determineahanvestment has an other than
temporary decline in fair value, we recognize theestment loss in non-operating income (expengt)nrthe accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. We periodically evaloarenvestments to determine if impairment cha@esrequired. Substantially all of our
marketable debt and equity investments are claglsifs current based on the nature of the invessnamat their availability for use in current
operations.

We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggeéturities in which we do not have a controliimigrest or significant influence. These
equity securities are recorded at cost and includether assets in the accompanying consolidaaéghbe sheets. If based on the terms of our
ownership of these non-marketable securities, vierohéne that we exercise significant influence loa ¢ntity to which these non-marketable
securities relate, we apply the requirements of 838, Investments— Equity Method and Joint Ventureto account for such investments
Our non-marketable securities are subject to pariotpairment reviews.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

We apply the provisions of ASC 82Bair Value MeasuremerfASC 820), to our assets and liabilities that weraquired to measure at fair
value pursuant to other accounting standards, dimofuour investments in marketable debt and eqdturities and our derivative financial
instruments.

The additional disclosures regarding our fair vaheasurements are included in Note 4.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseuh @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided iffieding rates, based upon the age of the receg/dbk collection history associated with the
geographic region that the receivable was recoiredd current economic trends. We write-off a ieslele and charge it against its recorded
allowance when we have exhausted our collecticortsfivithout success.
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Concentrations of Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primagfycash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, derivatives and trade receivables.cash and cash equivalents are generally held witfe| diverse financial institutions worldwi
to reduce the amount of exposure to any singlenfiiz institution. Investment policies have beeplemented that limit purchases of
marketable debt securities to investment gradergiesu Our derivative contracts are transactedh wérious financial institutions with high
credit standings. We generally do not require ¢etkd to secure accounts receivable. The risk veisipect to trade receivables is mitigated by
credit evaluations we perform on our customerssti@t duration of our payment terms for the sigaiit majority of our customer contracts
and by the diversification of our customer base sihgle customer accounted for 10% or more of otal revenues in fiscal 2015, 2014 or
2013.

We outsource the design, manufacturing, assemiolydalivery of certain of our hardware products t@dety of companies, many of which
are located outside the United States. Furthehave simplified our supply chain processes by rigguthe number of third party
manufacturing partners and the number of locatwamare these third party manufacturers build oudWare systems products. The inability of
these third party manufacturing partners to futfitlers for our hardware products could adversafyeict future operating results of our
hardware systems business.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtavklue. Cost is computed using standard costwdgpproximates actual cost, on a first-in,
first-out basis. We evaluate our ending inventofigestimated excess quantities and obsolescé@hég evaluation includes analysis of sales
levels by product and projections of future demaittlin specific time horizons (generally six to aimonths). Inventories in excess of future
demand are written down and charged to hardwatersgsproducts expenses. In addition, we assessifaet of changing technology to our
inventories and we write down inventories that@residered obsolete. At the point of loss recognijta new, lower-cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent chandestsand circumstances do not result in the rastm or increase in that newly established
cost basis.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax ard tat receivables associated with the sale opmducts and services to third parties. Othe
receivables are included in prepaid expenses drat otirrent assets in our consolidated balanceshed totaled $817 million and $906
million at May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Deferred Sales Commissions

We defer sales commission expenses associatedwittloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS offerings, and rezeotire related expenses over the non-
cancelable term of the related contracts, whichygneally one to three years. Amortization of deéel sales commissions is included as a
component of sales and marketing expense in owgotidiated statements of operations.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at therofvcost or realizable value, net of accumulakegreciation. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method based on estimasefullives of the assets, which range from onfiftipyears. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the estimated usieies lof the improvements or the lease terms, asopppte. Property, plant and equipment are
periodically reviewed for impairment whenever egenit changes in circumstances indicate that thrgingramount of an asset may not be
recoverable. We did not recognize any significanpprty impairment charges in fiscal 2015, 2012@t3.
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Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnmes

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueatftangible and intangible assets acquired
Intangible assets that are not considered to hawvedefinite useful life are amortized over thesetul lives, which generally range from one to
ten years. Each period we evaluate the estimatedinéng useful lives of purchased intangible asaatswhether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaingripds of amortization.

The carrying amounts of our goodwill and intangia$sets are periodically reviewed for impairmentgast annually for goodwill and
indefinite lived intangible assets) and whenevangy or changes in circumstances indicate thatdimging value of these assets may not be
recoverable. According to ASC 33@tangibles—Goodwill and Othemve can opt to perform a qualitative assessmetastoa reporting unit’s
goodwill for impairment or we can directly perfotire two step impairment test. Based on our qual@assessment, if we determine that the
fair value of a reporting unit is more likely thaat (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50 percentp#less than its carrying amount, the two step
impairment test will be performed. In the firststave compare the fair value of each reporting tmits carrying value. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of thieassets assigned to that unit, goodwill is nosaered impaired and we are not required to
perform further testing. If the carrying value bétnet assets assigned to the reporting unit egdbedair value of the reporting unit, then we
must perform the second step of the impairmentinestder to determine the implied fair value of teporting unit's goodwill. If the carrying
value of a reporting uné’ goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, thenweuld record an impairment loss equal to the défifiee. During fisci
2015, we recognized a $186 million goodwill impaémh loss (refer to Note 7 below for additional imiation). We did not recognize any
goodwill impairment charges in fiscal 2014 or 2013.

Recoverability of finite lived intangible assetsnigasured by comparison of the carrying amourtt@fisset to the future undiscounted cash
flows the asset is expected to generate. RecoVigyafiindefinite lived intangible assets is meesiliby comparison of the carrying amount of
the asset to its fair value. If the asset is carsid to be impaired, the amount of any impairmemeasured as the difference between the
carrying value and the fair value of the impaireded. We did not recognize any intangible asseaimment charges in fiscal 2015, 2014 or
2013.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, we used dereatind non-derivative financial instruments to nggnéoreign currency and interest rate
risks (see Note 11 below for additional informajioWe account for these instruments in accordaritte A8C 815 Derivatives and Hedging
(ASC 815), which requires that every derivativerimsment be recorded on the balance sheet as eith@sset or liability measured at its fair
value as of the reporting date. ASC 815 also regutinat changes in our derivatives’ fair valuesdesognized in earnings, unless specific hedg
accounting and documentation criteria are met (he.instruments are accounted for as hedges).

The accounting for changes in the fair value oéawétive depends on the intended use of the dérevand the resulting designation. For a
derivative instrument designated as a fair valudghethe gain or loss is recognized in earningkérperiod of change. The loss or gain
attributable to the risk being hedged is recognineghrnings with an offset recorded to the itemwbich the risk is being hedged. For a
derivative instrument designated as a cash flovgéeeach reporting period we record the changaiirvélue on the effective portion to
accumulated other comprehensive loss in our calesell balance sheets and an amount is reclassifteaf accumulated other comprehensive
loss into earnings to offset the earnings impaat ihattributable to the risk being hedged. Ferribn-derivative financial instrument
designated as a net investment hedge of our inesggin certain of our international subsidiartbs, change on account of remeasurement of
the effective portion for each reporting perioddasorded to accumulated other comprehensive logsrigonsolidated balance sheets.
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We perform the effectiveness testing of our aforetineed designated hedges on a quarterly basithenchanges in ineffective portions, if
any, are recognized immediately in earnings.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. A description of agcounting policies associated with contingencessiamed as a part of a business combinatio
is provided under “Business Combinations” above.|egal and other contingencies that are not aqfaatbusiness combination or related to
income taxes, we accrue a liability for an estirddtess if the potential loss from any claim or legiceeding is considered probable and the
amount can be reasonably estimated. Note 18 belowdes additional information regarding certairoof legal contingencies.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Our shipping and handling costs for hardware systeraducts sales are included in hardware systeoasipts expenses for all periods
presented.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currentiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatitsisi® the United States are translated into UdilaB using weighted average exchange
rates while assets and liabilities of operationside the United States are translated into U.$aBousing exchange rates at the balance she
date. The effects of foreign currency translatidjustments are included in stockholders’ equita @@mponent of accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidadtahce sheets and related periodic movemensuarmarized as a line item in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive incomefokEgn exchange transaction losses includedmaperating income (expense), net in
the accompanying consolidated statements of opesatiere $157 million, $375 million and $162 miflim fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employeaading grants of service-based employee stockongtservice-based restricted stock
awards, performance-based restricted stock awBRSidg) and purchases under employee stock purcltease {m accordance with ASC 718,
Compensatior— Stock Compensatiomhich requires that share-based payments (to ttemethey are compensatory) be recognized in our
consolidated statements of operations based onftievalues and the estimated number of sharesltiveately expect will vest. For our
service-based awards, we recognize stock-basederwapon expense on a straight-line basis oveseahgce period of the award, which is
generally four years. For our PSUs, we recogniaeksbased compensation expense on a straight-disis bver the service period for each
separately vesting tranche, which is generallywev@honths, as the performance conditions to evalatdinment of each tranche for each
participant are independent of the performance itiong for the other tranches. We update the amofistock-based compensation expense,
net of forfeitures, to record as of the end of emgorting period based on the expected attainwfgmérformance targets, which is subject to
change until a final determination is known. Changethe target estimates are reflected in the atmfistock-based compensation expense
that we recognize for each tranche on a cumuldi@gis during the reporting period in which the ¢trgstimates are altered and may cause th
amount of stock-based compensation expense thet¢aoed for such reporting period to vary.
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We record deferred tax assets for stock-based camsagien awards that result in deductions on ouwrime tax returns based on the amount of
stock-based compensation recognized and the flaie adtributable to the vested portion of stock mlgaassumed in connection with a busines
combination, at the statutory tax rate in the ligon in which we will receive a tax deduction.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.efibing expenses, which are included within sale$ marketing expenses, were $55 milli
$79 million and $85 million in fiscal 2015, 2014chR013, respectively.

Research and Development and Software Developmenb§ts

All research and development costs are expensied@sed.

Software development costs required to be capé@limder ASC 985-2@osts of Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed,under ASC
350-40,Internal-Use Softwarayere not material to our consolidated financiatesteents in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consiseadgnnel related costs for transitional and certtier employees, stock-based compensatio
expenses, integration related professional serviertain business combination adjustments inclydifjustments after the measurement p
has ended and certain other operating items, tmtk®ased compensation included in acquisitioateel and other expenses result from
unvested options and restricted stock-based avessismed from acquisitions whereby vesting was aceld upon termination of the
employees pursuant to the original terms of thqge®ns and restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Transitional and other employee related ¢ $ 5i $ 2 $ 27
Stoclk-based compensatic 5 10 33
Professional fees and other, (35) 20 (27¢€)
Business combination adjustments, 184 (16) (38¢)
Total acquisition related and other exper $ 211 $ 4 $(604)

Included in acquisition related and other expeffigeiscal 2015 was a goodwill impairment loss aB% million (refer to Note 7 below for
additional information). Included in acquisitiodated and other expenses for fiscal 2015 and 2042 Wenefits of $53 million and $306
million, respectively, related to certain litigati¢grefer to Note 18 below for additional informat)oAlso included in acquisition related and
other expenses for fiscal 2013 were changes imasgts for contingent consideration payable, whittluced acquisition related and other
expenses by $387 million during fiscal 2013 (refeNote 2 below for additional information).
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Non-Operating Income (Expense), net

Non-operating income (expense), net consists primafiipterest income, net foreign currency exchagagjas (losses), the noncontrolling
interests in the net profits of our majority-owrsdsidiaries (primarily Oracle Financial Servicest®are Limited and Oracle Japan) and net
other income (losses), including net realized gaimd losses related to all of our investments atdinrealized gains and losses related to the
small portion of our investment portfolio that wassify as trading.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Interest incom: $ 34¢ $ 26 $ 231
Foreign currency losses, r (157) (375) (162)
Noncontrolling interests in incon (113) (98) (112
Other income, ne 27 69 48
Total nor-operating income (expense), | $ 10¢ $ 14y $ 11

Included in foreign currency losses, net for fis2@l5 were foreign currency remeasurement loss&2million, related to our Venezuelan
subsidiary due to the continued “highly inflatiogiadesignation of the Venezuelan economy in acawocdavith ASC 830Foreign Currency
Matters; the introduction of currency exchange legislaiioWenezuela in February 2015 to create a newigonrexchange mechanism known
as SIMADI; and the remeasurement of certain ass®tdiabilities of our Venezuelan subsidiary purdua the SIMADI rate, which we
determined, based upon our specific facts and mistances, was the most appropriate for the regoofiour Venezuelan subsidiary’s Bolivar
based transactions and net monetary assets irDdlfars. We incurred losses related to our Venemuslubsidiary of $213 million and $64
million during fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectivdby, generally similar reasons.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8GC,Income TaxesDeferred income taxes are recorded for the erpdeix
consequences of temporary differences betweerathleases of assets and liabilities for financipbréing purposes and amounts recognize
income tax purposes. We record a valuation allowaoceduce our deferred tax assets to the amddutuve tax benefit that is more likely
than not to be realized.

A two-step approach is applied pursuant to ASC 740 imgbegnition and measurement of uncertain tax jposittaken or expected to be tal

in a tax return. The first step is to determinthé weight of available evidence indicates that more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained in an audit, including resolutionrof eelated appeals or litigation processes. Thergkstep is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmized upon ultimate settlement. We recognized@steand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in our provision for income taxes lineoof consolidated statements of operations.

A description of our accounting policies associatgtth tax related contingencies and valuation aloees assumed as a part of a business
combination is provided under “Business Combinatiabove.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Cloud Computing Arrangements that Include a SoftveaElement: In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-0Btangibles—Goodwill
and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-@)stomer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Cotimg ArrangementASU 2015-
05). ASU 2015-05 provides guidance to customers abtether a cloud computing arrangement includes soétwif a cloud computing
arrangement includes a software license, the custshould account for the software license eleroétite arrangement
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consistent with the acquisition of other softwacenses. If a cloud computing arrangement doegchide a software license, the customer
should account for the arrangement as a serviceaminThe new guidance does not change the adoguior a customer’s accounting for
service contracts. ASU 2015-05 is effective foirusur first quarter of fiscal 2017 with early adiom permitted using either of two methods:
(i) prospective to all arrangements entered intmaterially modified after the effective date apgnesent a change in accounting principle; or
(ii) retrospectively. We are currently evaluatitg impact of our pending adoption of ASU 2015-0%anconsolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognitior In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-B@venue from Contracts with Customers: T&6 (ASU 2014-09), to
supersede nearly all existing revenue recognitigdance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of AB)1409 is to recognize revenues wt
promised goods or services are transferred to gu®in an amount that reflects the consideratiahis expected to be received for those
goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five ptepess to achieve this core principle and, inglain, it is possible more judgment and
estimates may be required within the revenue ratiogrprocess than are required under existing G&AP, including identifying
performance obligations in the contract, estimatirgamount of variable consideration to includéimtransaction price and allocating the
transaction price to each separate performancgaildin. ASU 2014-09 is effective for us in our figgiarter of fiscal 2018 using either of two
methods: (i) retrospective application of ASU 2@BHo each prior reporting period presented withdhtion to elect certain practical
expedients as defined within ASU 2014-09; or @frospective application of ASU 2014-09 with thenciiative effect of initially applying
ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of initial agation and providing certain additional disclosumeglefined per ASU 2014-09. We are
currently evaluating the impact of our pending aawpof ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financtatements.

2.  ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition of MICROS Systems, Inc.

On June 22, 2014, we entered into an AgreemenP&ndof Merger (Merger Agreement) with MICROS SysdeInc. (MICROS), a provider
of integrated software, hardware and services isoisito the hospitality and retail industries. @iyB, 2014, pursuant to the Merger
Agreement, we commenced a tender offer to purchlheé the issued and outstanding shares of comstmek of MICROS at a purchase price
of $68.00 per share, net to the holder in castowit interest thereon, based upon the terms arjdctub the conditions set forth in the Merger
Agreement. Between September 3, 2014 and SepteénBéd 4, pursuant to the terms of the tender offeraccepted and paid for the
substantial majority of outstanding shares of MIGR&@mmon stock. On September 8, 2014, we effectubemerger of MICROS with and
into a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle pursuanttte terms of the Merger Agreement and applicetaeyland law and MICROS became an
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle. Punsui® the merger, shares of MICROS common stockrdmaained outstanding and were not
acquired by us were converted into, and cancetiezkchange for, the right to receive $68.00 perssiracash. The unvested equity awards to
acquire MICROS common stock that were outstandimgédiately prior to the conclusion of the mergereneonverted into equity awards
denominated in shares of Oracle common stock basédrmulas contained in the Merger Agreement. \bguaed MICROS to, among other
things, expand our software and cloud, hardwarerelatied services offerings for hotels, food andebege industries, facilities, and retailers.
We have included the financial results of MICROSim consolidated financial statements from the détacquisition.

Pursuant to our business combinations accountitigypae estimated the preliminary fair values et tangible and intangible assets acquirec
and the excess of the consideration transferredtbeeaggregate of such fair values was recordegagwill. The preliminary fair values of
net tangible assets and intangible assets acqueeslbased upon preliminary valuations and oumggés and assumptions are subject to
change within the measurement period (up to onefyea the acquisition date). The primary areas thmain preliminary relate to the fair
values of intangible assets acquired, certain lagissets and liabilities acquired, certain legal
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matters, income and non-income based taxes ardlistgioodwill. We expect to continue to obtain mfi@tion to assist us in determining the
fair values of the net assets acquired during teasurement period. The following table summarikesestimated preliminary fair values of
assets acquired from MICROS:

(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 67E
Trade receivables, n 18¢
Inventories 44
Goodwill 3,27
Intangible asset 2,03(
Other asset 14¢
Accounts payable and other liabiliti (34¢)
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (633)
Deferred revenue (130
Total $ 524

We do not expect the goodwill recognized as agfatie MICROS acquisition to be deductible for inmtax purposes.

Other Fiscal 2015 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2015, we acquired certain other conmgsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticere not individually significant. We have inclubihe financial results of the acquired
companies in our consolidated financial statemfota their respective acquisition dates and thalte$érom each of these companies were nc
individually material to our consolidated financ&htements. In the aggregate, the total prelirgiparchase price for these acquisitions was
approximately $1.7 billion, which consisted of appmately $1.7 billion in cash and $7 million fdvet fair values of stock options and
restricted stock-based awards assumed. We havumpralily recorded $14 million of net tangible atssand $388 million of identifiable
intangible assets, based on their estimated faiegaand $1.3 billion of residual goodwill.

The initial purchase price calculation and relagedounting for our acquisitions completed durirsgdi 2015 is preliminary. The preliminary
fair value estimates for the assets acquired afilities assumed for our acquisitions completedngufiscal 2015 were based upon prelimir
calculations and valuations and our estimates asdmaptions for these acquisitions are subject amgh as we obtain additional information
during the respective measurement periods (up&oyear from the respective acquisition dates). ffriraary areas of those preliminary
estimates that are not yet finalized relate toatertangible assets and liabilities acquired, ifiafile intangible assets, certain legal matteis an
income and non-income based taxes.

Fiscal 2014 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Responsys, In

On February 6, 2014, we completed our acquisitfoResponsys, Inc. (Responsys), a provider of eritexscale cloud-based business-to-
consumer marketing software. We have includeditt@tial results of Responsys in our consolidateakicial statements from the date of
acquisition. The total purchase price for Respongys approximately $1.6 billion, which consistecapproximately $1.4 billion in cash and
$147 million for the fair values of stock optionsdarestricted stock-based awards assumed. We ext@R&P million of net tangible liabilities,
related primarily to deferred tax liabilities, $580llion of identifiable intangible assets, and $hdlion of in-process research and
development, based on their estimated fair valaed,$1.0 billion of residual goodwill.
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Other Fiscal 2014 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2014, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticere not individually significant. We have inclutithe financial results of these companies
in our consolidated financial statements from thespective acquisition dates and the results #aoh of these companies were not
individually material to our consolidated financg&htements. In the aggregate, the total purchase for these acquisitions was approximately
$2.3 billion, which consisted primarily of cash eaferation, and we recorded $230 million of negthle liabilities, related primarily to
deferred tax liabilities, $1.1 billion of identifite intangible assets, and $99 million of in-pracessearch and development, based on their
estimated fair values, and $1.3 billion of residyabdwill.

Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Acme Packet, Inc

On March 28, 2013, we completed our acquisitioAahe Packet, Inc. (Acme Packet), a provider ofisassorder control technology. We
have included the financial results of Acme Paaketur consolidated financial statements from theef acquisition. The total purchase price
for Acme Packet was approximately $2.1 billion, ethtonsisted of approximately $2.1 billion in castd $12 million for the fair value of
stock options and restricted stock-based awardsress. We have recorded $247 million of net tangitsigets, $525 million of identifiable
intangible assets, and $45 million of in-proceseaech and development, based on their estimatecafaes, and $1.3 billion of residual
goodwill.

Acquisition of Eloqua, Inc.

On February 8, 2013, we completed our acquisitfoaloqua, Inc. (Eloqua), a provider of cloud-basearketing automation and revenue
performance management software. We have inclutedirtancial results of Eloqua in our consoliddiedncial statements from the date of
acquisition. The total purchase price for Eloqua wpproximately $935 million, which consisted opapximately $933 million in cash and $2
million for the fair value of stock options assumiéde have recorded $1 million of net tangible assed $327 million of identifiable intangil
assets, based on their estimated fair values, @dd &illion of residual goodwill.

Other Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2013, we acquired certain other conmiggsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticer® not significant individually or in the aggete.

Contingent Consideration Related to the Acquisitiorof Pillar Data Systems, Inc.

In fiscal 2012, we acquired Pillar Data Systems, (Rillar Data), a provider of enterprise storagstems solutions. Pursuant to the agreemen
and plan of merger dated as of June 29, 2011, geirad all of the issued and outstanding equitgrigséts of Pillar Data from the stockholders
in exchange for Pillar Data’s former stockholderfiive rights to receive contingent cash consiterdEarn-Out), if any, pursuant to an Earn-
Out calculation. During fiscal 2013, we estimatiedttno amount of contingent consideration was tpdyable pursuant to the Earn-Out
calculation and we recognized a benefit of $38Tionil The Earn-Out period ended at the conclusioouo first quarter of fiscal 2015 and no
amounts were paid to Pillar Data’s former stockbaoddincluding Lawrence J. Ellison, Oracle’s ExaaiChairman of the Board and Chief
Technology Officer and largest stockholder.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information i ttable below summarizes the combined results efatjpns for Oracle, MICROS,
Responsys, and certain other companies that wéradcgince the beginning of fiscal 2014 (which weoasidered relevant for the purposes of
unaudited pro forma financial information disclosuas though the companies were combined as dfei@ning of fiscal 2014. The unaudited
pro forma financial information for all periods pemnted also included the business combination aticoueffects resulting from these
acquisitions, including our amortization chargesifracquired intangible assets (certain of whichpaediminary), stock-based compensation
charges for unvested stock options and restridtezksbased awards assumed, if any, and the refateeffects as though the aforementioned
companies were combined as of the beginning oc&lfi2814. The unaudited pro forma financial inforimatas presented below is for
informational purposes only and is not necessardjcative of the results of operations that wolsddve been achieved if the acquisitions had
taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2014.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2015 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2015, the historical results of
MICROS for the six months ended June 30, 2014 &e§udue to differences in reporting periods antsictering the date we acquired
MICROS), the historical results of certain othemganies that we acquired since the beginning o&fi2015 based upon their respective
previous reporting periods and the dates these anmp were acquired by us, and the effects of théguma adjustments listed above.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2014 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2014, the historical results of
MICROS for the year ended June 30, 2014 (due ferdifices in reporting periods), the historical ltssof Responsys for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 (adjusted due to diffeseincreporting periods and considering the dataegeired Responsys), the historical
results of certain other companies that we acqusieck the beginning of fiscal 2014 based uporr tlespective previous reporting periods anc
the dates these companies were acquired by usharadfects of the pro forma adjustments listedvab@he unaudited pro forma financial
information was as follows for fiscal 2015 and 2014

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2015 2014

Total revenue 38,70! $ 40,00
Net income 9,87 $ 10,77(
Basic earnings per she 2.24 $ 2.3¢
Diluted earnings per sha 2.1¢ $ 2.34

&\ H B P

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of digpbeld at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper ather securities with original
maturities of 90 days or less. Marketable secusripigmarily consist of time deposits held at mdjanks, Tier-1 commercial paper, corporate
notes and certain other securities.
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The amortized principal amounts of our cash, cagfivalents and marketable securities approximdtent fair values at May 31, 2015 and
2014. We use the specific identification methodétermine any realized gains or losses from theefabur marketable securities classified as
available-for-sale. Such realized gains and loggge insignificant for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 201Be following table summarizes the
components of our cash equivalents and marketablerisies held, substantially all of which weressidied as available-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
U.S. Treasury securitie $ 66€ $ —
Commercial paper debt securit 9,20: 7,96¢
Corporate debt securities and ot 28,84 16,65
Total investment $ 38,71 $ 24,62
Investments classified as cash equival $ 6,068 $ 3,57¢
Investments classified as marketable secut $ 32,65. $ 21,05(

As of May 31, 2015 and 2014, approximately 28% 4%, respectively, of our marketable securitieggtments mature within one year and
72% and 55%, respectively, mature within one toysiars. Our investment portfolio is subject to netulisk due to changes in interest rates. A
described above, we limit purchases of marketadle securities to investment grade securities, vhave high credit ratings and also limit
amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. Asdta our investment policy, we are averse togypial loss and seek to preserve our investe
funds by limiting default risk and market risk.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements in accordantte AC 820. ASC 820 defines fair value as the pified would be received from selling
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ogdgransaction between market participants antieasurement date. When determining the fair
value measurements for assets and liabilities requo be recorded at their fair values, we comdiue principal or most advantageous market
in which we would transact and consider assumptibatsmarket participants would use when pricirgdlsets or liabilities, such as inherent
risk, transfer restrictions and risk of nonperfonoa

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy thatiireq an entity to maximize the use of observafgeiis and minimize the use of unobserv
inputs when measuring fair value. An asset’s a@alaillty’s categorization within the fair value méchy is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurem&®C 820 establishes three levels of inputs that beaysed to measure fair value:

» Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for ideaitassets or liabilitie:

» Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are obdelejeeither directly or indirectly, such as quogettes in active markets for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identimasimilar assets or liabilities in markets that aot active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observablkendata for substantially the full term of theeatssor liabilities; o

» Level 3: unobservable inputs that are supportelitttyy or no market activity and that are signifitdo the fair values of the assets or
liabilities.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on &ecurring Basis

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair valua cecurring basis, excluding accrued interestpmomants, consisted of the following (Level 1
and 2 inputs are defined above):

May 31, 2015 May 31, 2014
Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements
Using Input Types Using Input Types

(in_millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:

U.S. Treasury securitie $ 668 S — $ 668 $ —  $ —  $ —

Commercial paper debt securit — 9,20z 9,20z — 7,96¢ 7,96¢

Corporate debt securities and ot 19C 28,65¢ 28,84« 11¢ 16,53¢ 16,651

Derivative financial instrumen — 74 74 — 97 97

Total asset $ 85¢ $ 37,93 $ 38,78 $ 11¢  $ 24,60: $ 24,72

Liabilities:

Derivative financial instrumen $ — % 244 $ 244 $ — 3 — % —

Our valuation techniques used to measure the &hireg of our marketable securities that were dladsas Level 1 in the table above were
derived from quoted market prices and active mari@tthese instruments exist. Our valuation teghes used to measure the fair values of
Level 2 instruments listed in the table above,dbenterparties to which have high credit ratingstenderived from the following: non-binding
market consensus prices that are corroborated $sredible market data, quoted market prices forl@inmstruments, or pricing models, such
as discounted cash flow techniques, with all sigaift inputs derived from or corroborated by obabte market data including LIBOR-based
yield curves, among othel

Based on the trading prices of our $42.0 billiod &&4.1 billion of borrowings, which consisted ehgr notes that were outstanding as of
May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, the estimfgdalues of our borrowings using Level 2 inpatdMay 31, 2015 and 2014 were $44.1
billion and $26.4 billion, respectively.

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
Raw materials $ 112 $ 74
Work-in-process 38 28
Finished good 164 87
Total $ 31 $ 18!
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted ofdhewing:
Estimated May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Useful Life 2015 2014
Computer, network, machinery and equipm 1-5year $ 3,34t % 2,46¢
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 2,721 2,58:
Furniture, fixtures and oth: 3-10 year 547 531
Land — 58¢ 632
Construction in progres — 93 26

Total property, plant and equipme 1-50 year 7,29t 6,23¢
Accumulated depreciatic (3,609 (3,179)

Total property, plant and equipment, $ 368 $ 3,06

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 201bthe net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2815 and 2014 were as follows:

Intangible Assets, Gros: Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Ne  Weighted
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
(Dollars in millions) 2014  Additions @) Retirements 2015 2014  Expense Retirements 2015 2014 2015  Useful Life (@)
Software support agreements and relat
relationships $ 5218 $ 1,20¢ $ (2239 $ 419C ¢ (4409% (53) ¢ 2,23¢ $ (2,700 $ 81t $ 1,49 13 years
Hardware systems support agreements
related relationship 96¢ 63 (20) 1,012 (530 (144) 20 (654) 43¢ 35¢ 10 years
Developed technolog 4,381 73€ (52)) 4,60z (2,17¢) (700) 521 (2,35%) 2,211 2,247 7 years
Core technolog 1,617 — (1,06%) 552 (1,299 (182) 1,06t (41)) 32z 141 N.A.
Customer relationships and contract
backlog 2,05¢ 204 (63) 2,191 (1,459 (312) 61 (1,710 59¢ 487 6 years
SaaS, PaaS and laaS agreements and
related relationships and oth 1,78¢ 204 — 1,99: (305) (203) — (50¢) 1,48¢ 1,48¢ 10 years
Trademarks 51€ 35 (50) 501 (27€) (77 50 (30%) 24C 19¢ 10 years
Total intangible assets subject to
amortization 16,55( 2,44¢ (3,957 15,04: (10,449 (2,14¢) 3,951 (8,647 6,107 6,40¢ 10 years
In-process research and developn 3C (30) — — — — — — 3C — N.A.
Total intangible assets, r $ 16,58 $ 2,418 $ (395) $ 15,04 $ (10,44) $ (2,149 $ 3951 $§ (864)$ 6,137 $ 6,40¢

(@) The substantial majority of intangible assets awgliduring fiscal 2015 related to our acquisitioMOCROS.
() Represents weighted average useful lives of intdegissets acquired during fiscal 20

Total amortization expense related to our intargéssets was $2.1 billion, $2.3 billion and $214doi in fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. As of May 31, 2015, estimated futameortization expenses related to intangible asgets as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 1,62
Fiscal 2017 99t
Fiscal 201¢ 84¢
Fiscal 201¢ 74z
Fiscal 202( 59¢
Thereafte! 1,59¢

Total intangible assets, r $ 6,40¢
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The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill, which is generally not deductible for tax purgssfor our operating segments for fiscal
2015 and 2014 were as follows:

New Software Software
Licenses and License
Cloud Updates anc Hardware
Software Product Systems Total Goodwiill,
(in millions) Subscriptions Support Support Consulting Other, net® net

Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 10,53 $ 12,47 $ 1,25¢ $ 1,58¢ $ 1,49¢ $  27,34!
Allocation of goodwill® 87t — 38C 13 (1,26¢) —
Goodwill from acquisition: 1,721 4 43¢ 134 — 2,29t
Gooduwill adjustments, n¢? 10 (6) 7 2 1 14
Balances as of May 31, 20 13,13¢ 12,47: 2,082 1,73¢ 22€ 29,65:
Goodwill from acquisition: 2,08¢ 1,991 26¢ 27 24C 4,61
Goodwill adjustments, n¢? (8 () 19 (@0} — 8
Goodwill impairmeni®) — — — — (18€) (186€)

Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 15,21, $ 14,46 $ 2,37( $ 1,75 $ 28C $ 34,08

(1) Represents the allocation of goodwill to our ofiagasegments upon completion of our intangible sakeations

(3 Pursuant to our business combinations accouptitigy, we recorded goodwill adjustments for thizef on goodwill of changes to net assets acquitethg the measurement period
(up to one year from the date of an acquisitiomo@will adjustments were not significant to ouryoesly reported operating results or financialipos.

() During fiscal 2015, we recorded a $186 milliorodwill impairment loss to our hardware systems patsl reporting unit. We considered several appresth determine the fair value
of our hardware systems reporting unit as of Mdrck015 and concluded the most appropriate to é@ttome approach. The fair value of our hardwgsgesns products reporting u
pursuant to the income approach was impacted bgriéevecasted operating results for this reporting, primarily caused by lower forecasted reverams$ our continued investment
in hardware products research and developmenttitiwVe compared the implied fair value of godtlimi our hardware systems products reporting tmits carrying value, which
resulted in the $186 million goodwill impairmens®and represented the aggregate amount of goddidlr hardware systems products reporting ditie aggregate hardware
systems reporting unit goodwill that was impairediscal 2015 resulted from our acquisitions oféPiData Systems, Inc., Xsigo Systems, Inc., Grggées Inc. and MICROS Systen
Inc. Such impairment loss was recorded to acqaisitélated and other expenses in our fiscal 20hSalwlated statement of operations. We did notgeize any goodwill impairment
losses in fiscal 2014 or 201

4

Represents goodwill allocated to our other ojiegaegments. The balance as of May 31, 2013 iedushallocated goodwill for certain of our acquisis that was subsequently
allocated based upon the finalization of valuatidnsng fiscal 2014
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8. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Notes payable consisted of the followil
May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2015 2014
3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valdiestment of $8 as of May 31, 2C(D) $ — $ 150¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disai$1 and $2 as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, respg! 1,99¢ 1,99¢
Floating rate senior notes due July 2017, net bf tsuance cost of $1 as of May 31, 2 99¢ —
1.20% senior notes due October 2017, net of digcanoh debt issuance costs of $6 and $9 as of Mag®b and 2014, respective 2,49¢ 2,491
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of debtdsse costs of $7 and $8 as of May 31, 2015 and,26%gectively 2,49: 2,49:
Floating rate senior notes due January 2019, né¢lafissuance costs of $1 each as of May 31, 2a0d201< 49¢ 49¢
2.375% senior notes due January 2019, net of &ireviosses of $21 and $15 and discount and dalmnse costs of $7 and $9 as of May 31, 2015 and
May 31, 2014, respective(l) 1,514 1,50¢

5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discondtdeebt issuance costs of $11 and $12 as of Mag®H| and 2014, respective 1,73¢ 1,73¢
Floating rate senior notes due October 2019, ndebf issuance cost of $2 as of May 31, 2 74¢ —
2.25% senior notes due October 2019, net of fdirevimss of $22 and discount and debt issuanceot@st as of May 31, 201(1) 2,01°F —
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discandtdebt issuance costs of $4 and $5 as of Mag®H5 and 2014, respective 99¢€ 99t
2.25% senior notes due January 2021, net of dis@nchdebt issuance costs of $11 and $14 as of3¥ag015 and 2014, respectiw(z) 1,341 1,68t
2.80% senior notes due July 2021, net of fair védee of $31 and discount and debt issuance cd8 af of May 31, 201(1) 1,52¢ —
2.50% senior notes due May 2022, net of discoudtdabt issuance cost of $17 as of May 31, Z 2,48° —
2.50% senior notes due October 2022, net of didcanoh debt issuance costs of $10 and $11 as of3#a2015 and 2014, respectiv( 2,49( 2,48¢
3.625% senior notes due July 2023, net of discandtdebt issuance costs of $11 and $12 as of Ma3(@5b and 2014, respective 98¢ 98¢
3.40% senior notes due July 2024, net of discondtdeebt issuance cost of $12 as of May 31, : 1,98¢ —
2.95% senior notes due May 2025, net of discoudtdaibt issuance cost of $22 as of May 31, Z 2,47¢ —
3.125% senior notes due July 2025, net of discandtdebt issuance costs of $6 and $9 as of Mag@F and 2014, respective(?) 804 1,01z
3.25% senior notes due May 2030, net of discoudtdait issuance cost of $6 as of May 31, Z 494 —
4.30% senior notes due July 2034, net of discondtdeebt issuance cost of $13 as of May 31, : 1,737 —
3.90% senior notes due May 2035, net of discoudtdait issuance cost of $18 as of May 31, - 1,23 —
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discantt debt issuance costs of $5 and $6 as of Mag®H§ and 2014, respective 1,24t 1,24«
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discandtdebt issuance costs of $12 and $14 as of Ma®035b and 2014, respective 1,23¢ 1,23¢
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discandtdebt issuance costs of $34 and $35 as of Ma3(5b and 2014, respective 2,21¢ 2,21¢
4.50% senior notes due July 2044, net of debt iesiaost of $8 as of May 31, 20 997 —
4.125% senior notes due May 2045, net of discondtdebt issuance cost of $24 as of May 31, 2 1,97¢ —
4.375% senior notes due May 2055, net of discondtdebt issuance cost of $16 as of May 31, - 1,23¢ —

Total borrowings $ 4195¢ $ 24,09

Notes payable, curre $ 1,99¢ $ 1,50¢

Notes payable, ne-current $ 39,950 $ 22,58

(1) Refer to Note 11 for a description of our accoupfior fair value hedge:
(@ Euro based notes valued at May 31, 2015 and Mag@®4 foreign exchange rates, respectively (sebeuriscussion below

Senior Notes and Other

In May 2015, we issued $10.0 billion of senior sotemprised of $2.5 billion of 2.50% notes due N2 (2022 Notes), $2.5 billion of
2.95% notes due May 2025 (2025 Notes), $500 millic25% notes due May 2030 (2030 Notes), $1.25hilif 3.90% notes due May 2035
(2035 Notes), $2.0 billion of 4.125% notes due 2845 (2045 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 4.375% nabes May 2055 (2055 Notes, and
together with the 2022 Notes, 2025 Notes, 2030 $§{@@35 Notes
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and 2045 Notes, the May 2015 Senior Notes). Westssiuie May 2015 Senior Notes for general corpgratposes, which may include stock
repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our constozk and future acquisitions, and repaymenadébtedness.

In July 2014, we issued $10.0 billion of senioresotomprised of $1.0 billion of floating rate notieee July 2017 (2017 Floating Rate Notes),
$750 million of floating rate notes due October 202019 Floating Rate Notes), $2.0 billion of 2.2684es due October 2019 (2019 Notes),
$1.5 billion of 2.80% notes due July 2021 (2021e¥pt $2.0 billion of 3.40% notes due July 2024 @Bbtes), $1.75 billion of 4.30% notes
due July 2034 (2034 Notes) and $1.0 billion of 45@otes due July 2044 (2044 Notes and, togethértivit 2017 Floating Rate Notes, 2019
Floating Rate Notes, 2019 Notes, 2021 Notes, 202éNand 2034 Notes, the July 2014 Senior Notds) flbating rate notes bear interest at
floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR plus 0.2fifvethe 2017 Floating Rate Notes and 0.51% for2i&9 Floating Rate Notes (0.47% and
0.78% as of May 31, 2015, respectively) with ins¢ggayable quarterly. We issued the July 2014 Séaves for general corporate purposes,
which may include stock repurchases, payment df dasdends on our common stock, our acquisitioMEROS and future acquisitions, a
repayment of indebtedness.

In July 2013, we issued €2.0 billion ($2.2 billiand $2.7 billion as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, repely) of fixed rate senior notes
comprised of €1.25 billion of 2.25% notes due Jay2821 (January 2021 Notes) and €750 million @28% notes due July 2025 (July 2025
Notes, and together with the January 2021 NotesEtiro Notes). The Euro Notes are registered ale ton the New York Stock Exchan

In connection with the issuance of the January 20@tes, we entered into certain cross-currency ssgapements that have the economic
effect of converting our fixed rate, Euro denomathtlebt, including annual interest payments angdyenent of principal at maturity, to a
fixed rate, U.S. Dollar denominated debt of $116dri with a fixed annual interest rate of 3.53%é€3Note 11 for additional information).
Further, we designated the July 2025 Notes as mwvettment hedge of our investments in certaiouwfinternational subsidiaries that use the
Euro as their functional currency in order to resltite volatility in stockholders’ equity causedtbg changes in foreign currency exchange
rates of the Euro with respect to the U.S. Dolkme(Note 11 for additional information).

In July 2013, we also issued $3.0 billion of semotes comprised of $500 million of floating ratetes due January 2019 (January 2019
Floating Rate Notes), $1.5 billion of 2.375% naleg January 2019 (January 2019 Notes) and $1i0rbdf 3.625% notes due July 2023 (2
Notes). The January 2019 Floating Rate Notes In¢aneist at a floating rate equal to t-month LIBOR plus 0.58% (0.86% and 0.81% as of
May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively) with intepzstable quarterly.

In October 2012, we issued $5.0 billion of fixeteraenior notes comprised of $2.5 billion of 1.208tes due October 2017 (2017 Notes) and
$2.5 billion of 2.50% notes due October 2022 (Oetd2022 Notes).

In July 2010, we issued $3.25 billion of fixed ratnior notes comprised of $1.0 billion of 3.8758tes due July 2020 (2020 Notes) and $2.2¢
billion of 5.375% notes due July 2040 (2040 Notes).

In July 2009, we issued $4.5 billion of fixed ragnior notes of which $1.5 billion of 3.75% not28X4 Notes) was due and paid in July 2014
(we also settled the fixed to variable interest tap agreements associated with the 2014 Natdsjla75 billion of 5.00% notes due July
2019 (July 2019 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 6.12586tes due July 2039 (2039 Notes) remained outsigrat of May 31, 2015.

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed ragenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes was due and paid in April 2013,
$2.5 hillion of 5.75% senior notes due April 202818 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 6.50% senior nates April 2038 (2038 Notes) remained
outstanding as of May 31, 2015.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes, of which $2.0 billion of 5.25% senior notiere January 2016 (2016 Notes) remained
outstanding as of May 31, 2015.
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The effective interest yields of the 2016 Notesl 208lotes, 2018 Notes, January 2019 Notes, July R@iés, 2019 Notes, 2020 Notes, 2021
Notes, 2022 Notes, October 2022 Notes, 2023 N2t} Notes, 2025 Notes, July 2025 Notes, 2030 Na@4 Notes, 2035 Notes, 20
Notes, 2039 Notes, 2040 Notes, 2044 Notes, 2046\mtd 2055 Notes (collectively and together withdanuary 2021 Notes, the Sel
Notes) at May 31, 2015 were 5.32%, 1.24%, 5.76%4%, 5.05%, 2.27%, 3.93%, 2.82%, 2.56%, 2.51%,%,7843%, 3.00%, 3.17%, 3.30'
4.30%, 3.95%, 6.52%, 6.19%, 5.45%, 4.50%, 4.15% 4a40%, respectively. In July 2014 and July 2048 entered into certain interest rate
swap agreements that have the economic effectodifying the fixed interest obligations associatath the 2019 Notes, January 2019 Notes
and 2021 Notes so that the interest payable or thetes effectively became variable based on LIBQR6%, 0.93% and 0.91%, respectively,
at May 31, 2015; and 0.88% for the January 201®8lat May 31, 2014; see Note 11 for additionalrimftion). The effective interest yield of
the January 2021 Notes was 2.33% (3.53% afterdbeoenic effects of the cross-currency swap agreesyscribed above and in Note 11).
Interest is payable semi-annually for the SenioreN@xcept for the Euro Notes for which interegagable annually. We may redeem some o
all of the Senior Notes of each series prior tartmaturity, subject to certain restrictions, ahd payment of an applicable make-whole
premium in certain instances. The 2017 FloatingeRddtes, January 2019 Floating Rate Notes and B@Eing Rate Notes (collectively the
Floating Rate Notes) may not be redeemed pridngw maturity.

The Senior Notes and the Floating Rate Notes rankpassu with any other notes we may issue irittuee pursuant to our commercial paper
program (see additional discussion regarding ommaercial paper program below) and all existing aridre unsecured senior indebtedness ¢
Oracle Corporation. All existing and future liabés of the subsidiaries of Oracle Corporationarwill be effectively senior to the Senior
Notes and the Floating Rate Notes and any futsreaisces of commercial paper notes. We were in danga with all del-related covenants
May 31, 2015.

Future principal payments for all of our borrowiregsMay 31, 2015 were as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 2,00
Fiscal 2017 —
Fiscal 201¢ 6,00(
Fiscal 201¢ 2,00(¢
Fiscal 202( 4,50(
Thereaftel 27,96¢

Total $ 42,46

Commercial Paper Program and Commercial Paper Notes

On April 22, 2013, pursuant to our existing $3.0idm commercial paper program which allows usssuie and sell unsecured short-term
promissory notes pursuant to a private placemesgingxion from the registration requirements unddefel and state securities laws, we
entered into new dealer agreements with variouksand a new Issuing and Paying Agency Agreemeht3dA Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. As
of May 31, 2015 and 2014, we did not have any antlihg commercial paper notes. We intend to bagg-ahy commercial paper notes that
we may issue in the future with the 2013 Creditéggnent (see additional details below).

Revolving Credit Agreements

In April 2013, we entered into a $3.0 billion Revioly Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.Bank of America, N.A., BNP Paribas,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and certain other lendlees2013 Credit Agreement). The 2013 Credit Agreet provides for an unsecured 5-
year revolving credit facility to be used for geslezorporate purposes including b-stopping any commercial paper notes that we nmayeis
Subject to certain conditions stated in the 201&d@Agreement, we may borrow, prepay and re-bomowunts under the
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2013 Credit Agreement at any time during the tefrthe 2013 Credit Agreement. Interest under the320fedit Agreement is based on either
(a) a LIBOR-based formula or (b) the Base Rate tdameach as set forth in the 2013 Credit Agreemfamy amounts drawn pursuant to the
2013 Credit Agreement are due on April 20, 2018 aNmwunts were outstanding pursuant to the 2013ilCkgdeement as of May 31, 2015 ¢
2014.

The 2013 Credit Agreement contains certain custpmegresentations and warranties, covenants amtswédefault, including the
requirement that our total net debt to total cdigidion ratio not exceed 45% on a consolidatedsbéfsany of the events of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods aved any unpaid amounts under the 2013 Credit &ment may be declared immediately
due and payable and the 2013 Credit Agreement magrinminated. We were in compliance with the 201€dE Agreement’s covenants as of
May 31, 2015.

On May 29, 2012, we borrowed $1.7 billion pursuard revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Clizesek, N.A., as initial lender and
administrative agent; and J.P. Morgan Securitie€,las sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner2@i@ Credit Agreement). During fiscal
2013, we repaid the $1.7 billion and the 2012 Gradreement expired pursuant to its terms.

9. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2015 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the second quarter of fiscal 2015, our manaant approved, committed to and initiated plamgstructure and further improve
efficiencies in our operations due to our acquisitbf MICROS and certain other operational ac@gt{2015 Restructuring Plan). The total
estimated restructuring costs associated with @& Restructuring Plan are up to $626 million aritibve recorded to the restructuring expe
line item within our consolidated statements ofrafiens as they are incurred. We recorded $100amibf restructuring expenses in
connection with the 2015 Restructuring Plan indi2015 and we expect to incur the majority ofékémated remaining $526 million through
the end of fiscal 2016. Any changes to the estimatexecuting the 2015 Restructuring Plan wiltéigected in our future results of operatic

Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the first quarter of fiscal 2013, our managat approved, committed to and initiated planesbructure and further improve
efficiencies in our operations (2013 Restructuifithgn). Restructuring costs associated with the ZRdsructuring Plan were recorded to the
restructuring expense line item within our consatédl statements of operations as they were inclvedecorded $119 million, $174 million
and $325 million of restructuring expenses in catine with the 2013 Restructuring Plan in fiscall302014 and 2013, respectively. Actions
pursuant to the 2013 Restructuring Plan were sotialiy complete as of May 31, 2015.
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Summary of All Plans
Fiscal 2015 Activity
Total Total
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 2015 Accrued Costs Expectec
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31, Accrued Program
(in millions) 20142 Costs®  Cost® Payment: Others () 2015 to Date Costs
Fiscal 2015 Oracle Restructuring Plar®)
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ — $ 26 $ 1 $ (16) $ — $ 11 $ 27 $ 11C
Software license updates and product sug — 7 — ) — 5 7 20¢
Hardware systems busine — 22 2) (13) 1) 6 2C 6E
Services — 21 — (12) — 9 21 101
General and administrative and ot — 27 (2 (20) — 5 2t 141
Total Fiscal 2015 Oracle Restructuring F $ = $ 10z $ ©® $ (63) $ (2) $ 3€ $ 10C $ 62€
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring F(®) $ 61 $ 126 $ (9 $ (13 3 1 $ 31
Total other restructuring plai®) $ 108 $ 7 $ (19 3% (43 $ — $ 53
Total restructuring plar $  16¢ $  23¢ $ (31 $ (249 $ (12) $  12C
Fiscal 2014 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201« Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2013 Costs®  Cost®  Payment:  Others ® 20143
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plar®
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ 1€ $ 57 $ 8 $ (B ¢ 2 $ 12
Software license updates and product sug 1 11 — (10 3 5
Hardware systems busine 24 48 3 (52 1 18
Services 18 3¢ (7) (39) — 11
General and administrative and ot 12 42 (5) (39 5 15
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring P $ 71 $ 197 $(23) $ (195 $ 11 $ 61
Total other restructuring plai® $17¢ $ 24 $(15 $ (B9 $ (22 $ 1o¢
Total restructuring plan $25C $ 221 $(38 $ (259 $ (11) $ 1e¢
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Fiscal 2013 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201: Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2012 Costs®  Cost™®  Payment:  Others ® 2013
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plar®
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ — $ 8 $ 8 $ 6O $ (1 $ 16
Software license updates and product sug — 13 (6) (12) 5 1
Hardware systems busine — 9¢ (5) (68) 2 24
Services — 72 (5) (50 1 18
General and administrative and ot — 81 (1) (52 (16) 12
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring P $ — $35C $(25 $(24) $ (13 $ n
Total other restructuring plai® $337 $ 53 $(26 $ (18 $ — 8 17¢
Total restructuring plan $ 337 $40 $(B) $ (4200 $ (13) $ 25C

(1) Restructuring costs recorded for individual liteens primarily related to employee severance amstspt for general and administrative and otheichvalso included $46 million
recorded during fiscal 2013 for facilities relatedtructuring, contract termination and other cc

(3  The balances at May 31, 2015 and 2014 includéddiion and $100 million, respectively, recordedbther current liabilities, and $34 million an8%million, respectively, recorded
in other no-current liabilities.

() Costs recorded for the respective restructuringsptiuring the current period present
@ All plan adjustments were changes in estimates ethyeincreases and decreases in costs were gerre@diyled to operating expenses in the period jostdents
() Represents foreign currency translation and cectier adjustment:

(6)  Other restructuring plans presented in the tadthese included condensed information for otherc@raased plans and other plans associated withicerf our acquisitions whereby
we continued to make cash outlays to settle olitigatunder these plans during the periods preséntefbr which the periodic impact to our consolethstatements of operations was
not significant.

10. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:

May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014
Software license updates and product suf. $ 5638 $ 590¢
Hardware systems support and ot 703 664
Services 37¢ 364
Cloud SaasS, PaaS and le 404 24¢
New software license 124 84
Deferred revenues, curre 7,24¢ 7,26¢
Deferred revenues, n-current (in other nc-current liabilities) 392 404
Total deferred revenut $ 763t $ 7,67%

Deferred software license updates and product stuppeenues and deferred hardware systems supp@hues represent customer payments
made in advance for support contracts that aredjlpibilled on a per annum basis in advance watliesponding revenues being recognized
ratably over the support periods. Deferred servieesnues include prepayments for our servicesbasiand revenues for these services are
generally recognized
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as the services are performed. Deferred cloud softas a service (SaaS), platform as a servic&Rawal infrastructure as a service (laaS)
revenues generally result from customer paymentieriraadvance for our cloud-based offerings thatracognized over the corresponding
contractual term. Deferred new software licensesmaes typically result from undelivered produatsgecified enhancements, customer
specific acceptance provisions, customer paymeattenn advance for time-based license arrangenaedtsoftware license transactions that
cannot be separated from undelivered consultirggtoar services.

In connection with our acquisitions, we have estadahe fair values of the cloud SaaS and PaaSya@f license updates and product suppor
and hardware systems support obligations, amorgrsitassumed from our acquired companies. We dbnesae estimated the fair values of
these obligations assumed using a cost build-upoaphp. The cost build-up approach determines firesby estimating the costs related to
fulfilling the obligations plus a normal profit ngin. The sum of the costs and operating profit apipnates, in theory, the amount that we
would be required to pay a third party to assunesehacquired obligations. These aforementioned/&hire adjustments recorded for
obligations assumed from our acquisitions redubecttoud SaaS and PaaS, software license updatgs@auct support and hardware syst
support deferred revenues balances that we recasiiabilities from these acquisitions and alstueed the resulting revenues that we
recognized or will recognize over the terms ofdhquired obligations during the post-combinatioriqais.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair Value Hedges— Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In July 2014, we entered into certain interest satap agreements that have the economic effecbdffying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our 2019 Notes and 2021 Notesatdhb interest payable on these senior notestigycbecame variable based on LIBOR.
In July 2013, we entered into certain interest sstap agreements that have the economic effecodffying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our January 2019 Notes so thahtbeest payable on these senior notes effectivebame variable based on LIBOR. The
critical terms of the interest rate swap agreemeratch the critical terms of the 2019 Notes, 2021eN and the January 2019 Notes that the
interest rate swap agreements pertain to, incluttiaghotional amounts and maturity dates.

We have designated the aforementioned interessvedp agreements as qualifying hedging instrumeemdsare accounting for them as fair
value hedges pursuant to ASC 815. These transadi@ncharacterized as fair value hedges for fiahaccounting purposes because they
protect us against changes in the fair values aiceof our fixed rate borrowings due to benchmatkrest rate movements. The changes in
fair values of these interest rate swap agreenagateecognized as interest expense in our consetiddatements of operations with the
corresponding amounts included in other assetsher mon-current liabilities in our consolidatedaree sheets. The amount of net gain (loss)
attributable to the risk being hedged is recognaethterest expense in our consolidated stateroéiofserations with the corresponding
amount included in notes payable, non-current. Jdréodic interest settlements for the interest satap agreements for the 2019 Notes, 2021
Notes and the January 2019 Notes are recordedemsshexpense and are included as a part of magh from operating activitie:

In July 2014, we settled the fixed to variable it rate swap agreements associated with the20te$. We do not use any interest rate swa
agreements for trading purposes.
Cash Flow Hedges— Cross Currency Swap Agreements

In connection with the issuance of our January 208tks, we entered into certain cross-currency sagagements to manage the related
foreign currency exchange risk by effectively caonivegy the fixed-rate, Euro denominated January 20@tes, including the annual interest
payments and the payment of principal at maturitfixed-rate, U.S. Dollar denominated debt. Thenemic effect of the swap agreements
was to eliminate the uncertainty of the cash flawl.S. Dollars associated with the January 202teBlby fixing the
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principal amount of the January 2021 Notes at $ilién with a fixed annual interest rate of 3.53%e have designated these cross-currency
swap agreements as qualifying hedging instrumaemtsage accounting for these as cash flow hedgesupnt to ASC 815. The critical terms of
the cross-currency swap agreements correspone téatiuary 2021 Notes, including the annual intgragtnents being hedged, and the cross:
currency swap agreements mature at the same tithe danuary 2021 Notes.

We used the hypothetical derivative method to mesathe effectiveness of our cross-currency swapegents. The fair values of these cross:
currency swap agreements are recognized as osetisas other non-current liabilities in our condatled balance sheets. The effective
portions of the changes in fair values of thesssi@irrency swap agreements are reported in acatedubther comprehensive loss in our
consolidated balance sheets and an amount is séi@dut of accumulated other comprehensive ilmgsnoneperating income (expense), |

in the same period that the carrying value of theoElenominated January 2021 Notes is remeasutketharinterest expense is recognized.
ineffective portion of the unrealized gains andséxson these cross-currency swaps, if any, isdedammediately to non-operating income
(expense), net. We evaluate the effectivenessrofrmgs-currency swap agreements on a quarterly.b&e did not record any ineffectiveness
for fiscal 2015 or 2014. The cash flows relateth® cross-currency swap agreements that pertairetperiodic interest settlements are
classified as operating activities and the cashdlthat pertain to the principal balance are digssas financing activities.

We do not use any cross-currency swap agreemantséting purposes.

Net Investment Hedge— Foreign Currency Borrowings

In July 2013, we designated our July 2025 Notes mst investment hedge of our investments in eeatour international subsidiaries that
the Euro as their functional currency in orderegduce the volatility in stockholders’ equity causgdhe changes in foreign currency exchang
rates of the Euro with respect to the U.S. Dollar.

We used the spot method to measure the effectigarfamur net investment hedge. Under this methmdedch reporting period, the change in
the carrying value of the Euro denominated July=2Rdtes due to remeasurement of the effectiveqoit reported in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on our consolidated balance ahdehe remaining change in the carrying valuthefineffective portion, if any, is
recognized in non-operating income (expense),meuri consolidated statements of operations. Wiiateathe effectiveness of our net
investment hedge at the beginning of every qua¥tlerdid not record any ineffectiveness for fisd@l2 or 2014.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated a Hedges

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzaiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaterforeign currency exposures. Under this prograun strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases ore@ses in our foreign currency exposures are dfsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risksl aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposungsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feetgricompany loans and other
intercompany transactions that are generally exgetct be cash settled in the near term. Our foreigrency forward contracts are generally
short-term in duration. Our ultimate realized gaioss with respect to currency fluctuations w#nerally depend on the size and type of
cross-currency exposures that we enter into, thewrcy exchange rates associated with these exgmand changes in those rates, the net
realized and unrealized gains or losses on foreigrency forward contracts to offset these expasaral other factors.
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We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tleea@rd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we recorded #dievalues of these contracts as of the end ofepwrting period to our consolidated
balance sheet with changes in fair values recotaledr consolidated statement of operations. Thanoa sheet classification for the fair val

of these forward contracts is prepaid expensestrat current assets for a net unrealized gairtipnsand other current liabilities for a net
unrealized loss position. The statement of opeanatiassification for changes in fair values osthérward contracts is non-operating income
(expense), net, for both realized and unrealizémgsgand losses.

As of May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, thear@l amounts of the forward contracts we held t@lpase U.S. Dollars in exchange for
other major international currencies were $2.2dviland $3.6 billion, respectively, and the noticermounts of forward contracts we held to
sell U.S. Dollars in exchange for other major intfonal currencies were $1.2 billion and $2.0dwil) respectively. The fair values of our
outstanding foreign currency forward contracts wesminal at May 31, 2015 and 2014.

Included in our non-operating income (expense)wet $60 million, $(69) million and $(64) milliaf net gains (losses) related to these
forward contracts for the years ended May 31, 280%4 and 2013, respectively. The cash flows rélaighese foreign currency contracts are
classified as operating activities.

The effects of derivative and nalerivative instruments designated as hedges oaicert our consolidated financial statements weréoldows
as of or for each of the respective periods presebelow (amounts presented exclude any incomeftagts):

Fair Values of Derivative and Non-Derivative Instrunents Designated as Hedges in Consolidated Balarkeets

May 31, 2015 May 31, 2014
(in millions) Balance Sheet Locatio Fair Value Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fae& hadge: Other asset $ 74 Other asset $ 15
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fa@ kiadge: Not applicable $ — Prepaid expenses and other current s $ 8
Other non-current
Cros:-currency swap agreements designated as cash fldges liabilities $ (244) Other asset $ 74
Notes payable, n-
Foreign currency borrowings designated as net tmerst hedg: current $ 981) Notes payable, n--current $ 1,11¢6)

Effects of Derivative and Non-Derivative Instrumens Designated as Hedges on Income and Other Compreiséve Income (OCI) or
Loss (OCL)

Amount of (Loss) Gain Recognized it Location and Amount of (Loss) Gain Reclassified frm
Accumulated OCI or OCL (Effective Portion) Accumulated OCI or OCL into Income (Effective Portion)
Year Ended May 31, Year Ended May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Cross-currency swap agreements
designated as cash flow hed: $ (319) $ 74 Non-operating income (expense), $ (349 $ 69

Foreign currency borrowings
designated as net investment

hedge $ 20¢€ $ (39 Not applicable $ — $ —
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Location and Amount of Gain (Loss) Location and Amount of (Loss) Gain on Hedged Iten
Recognized in Income on Derivative Recognized in Income Attributable to Risk Being Hdged
Year Ended May 31, Year Ended May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fa& hadge: Interest expen: $ 51 $ (18) Interest expens $ (51) $ 18

12. COMMITMENTS AND CERTAIN CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities, furniture and equipterder operating leases. As of May 31, 2015, futnmimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdiead non-cancelable subleases were as follows:

(in millions)
Fiscal 201¢ $ 33
Fiscal 2017 27C
Fiscal 201¢ 20¢
Fiscal 201¢ 15€
Fiscal 202( 107
Thereatfte! 17t
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,245
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (71)
Total future minimum operating lease payments, $ 1,17¢

Lease commitments included future minimum rent payts for facilities that we have vacated pursuamir restructuring and merger
integration activities, as discussed in Note 9.h&ee approximately $61 million in facility obligatis, net of estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatlons in our consolidated balance sheet at MayG15.

Rent expense was $290 million, $278 million and38illion for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respeelyy net of sublease income of
approximately $45 million, $55 million and $69 rolh, respectively. Certain lease agreements congéaiewal options providing for extensic
of the lease terms.

Unconditional Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, which are agreements that are
enforceable, legally binding and specify terms|uding: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchasied, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the pagym&/e utilize several external manufacturers toafiacture sub-assemblies for our
hardware products and to perform final assemblytasting of finished hardware products. We als@aiobindividual components for our
hardware systems products from a variety of indigldsuppliers based on projected demand informa8anh purchase commitments are b
on our forecasted component and manufacturing rexpgints and typically provide for fulfilment withegreed upon lead-times and/or
commercially standard lead-times for the particplar or product and have been included in the amsdoelow. Routine arrangements for
other materials and goods that are not relatedit@xternal manufacturers and certain other supgpdied that are entered into in the ordinary
course of business are not included in the amdgitav as they are generally entered into in ordeseture pricing or other negotiated terms
and are difficult to quantify in a meaningful way.
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As of May 31, 2015, our unconditional purchase egdain other obligations were as follows (in roitis):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 713
Fiscal 2017 19E
Fiscal 201¢ 124
Fiscal 201¢ 85
Fiscal 202( 64
Thereaftel —

Total $ 1,18

As described in Note 8 and Note 11 above, as of 8132015 we have senior notes of $42.0 billiort thature at various future dates and
derivative financial instruments outstanding thatleverage to manage certain risks and exposures.

Guarantees

Our software, cloud and hardware systems prodiles sgreements generally include certain provisfonsixdemnifying customers against
liabilities if our products infringe a third partyintellectual property rights. To date, we haveinourred any material costs as a result of such
indemnifications and have not accrued any matgaillities related to such obligations in our colidated financial statements. Certain of our
product sales agreements also include provisiaenmifying customers against liabilities in the mvwee breach confidentiality or service
level requirements. It is not possible to deterntiremaximum potential amount under these inderatifin agreements due to our limited anc
infrequent history of prior indemnification clairasd the unique facts and circumstances involvezhah particular agreement.

Our software license and hardware systems prodigresements also generally include a warranty thapmducts will substantially operate as
described in the applicable program documentatiom fperiod of one year after delivery. Our sofevas a service, platform as a service and
infrastructure as a service agreements generallyde a warranty that the cloud services will bqrened in all material respects as defined ir
the agreement during the service period. We alsoanwathat services we perform will be providegimanner consistent with industry
standards for a period of 90 days from performaridhe services.

We occasionally are required, for various reastmenter into financial guarantees with third pegtin the ordinary course of our
business including, among others, guarantees ddlatioreign exchange trades, taxes, import liceasal letters of credit on behalf of parties
with whom we conduct business. Such agreementstavead a material effect on our results of openat financial position or cash flows.

13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. Ore@éer 18, 2014, we announced that
our Board of Directors approved an expansion ofsbock repurchase program by an additional $13lidri Approximately $9.2 billion
remained available for stock repurchases as of 81ay015, pursuant to our stock repurchase progréencepurchased 193.7 million shares
for $8.1 billion (including 2.2 million shares f805 million that were repurchased but not settl28D.4 million shares for $9.8 billion and
346.1 million shares for $11.0 billion in fiscal 28 2014 and 2013, respectively, under the stoglrohase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquiations and dividend payments, our debt repayrobligations or repurchase of our debt,
our stock price, and economic and market
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conditions. Our stock repurchases may be effected fime to time through open market purchasesimsyant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our
stock repurchase program may be accelerated, sispetelayed or discontinued at any time.
Dividends on Common Stock

During fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, our Board ofebiors declared cash dividends of $0.51, $0.4858r8D per share of our outstanding
common stock, respectively, which we paid durirggghme period.

In June 2015, our Board of Directors declared atqus cash dividend of $0.15 per share of our aunding common stock payable on July 29
2015 to stockholders of record as of the closeusfriess on July 8, 2015. Future declarations afldids and the establishment of future re
and payment dates are subject to the final detetiim of our Board of Directors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated otimeprehensive loss, net of income
taxes:

May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
Foreign currency translation losses and other $ (85)) $ (8)
Unrealized losses on defined benefit plans, (309 (159
Unrealized gains on marketable securities, 124 65
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, 35 5
Total accumulated other comprehensive $ (996 $ (169

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Plans

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bauitentive Plan, which provides for the issuantean-qualified stock options and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchiagds, stock appreciation rights, and long-ternfgrenance awards, including restricted stock
based awards, to our eligible employees, officatsdirectors who are also employees or consultamdependent consultants and advisers. In
fiscal 2011, our stockholders, upon the recommeodatt our Board of Directors (the Board), approvied adoption of the Amended and
Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan gB@0 Plan), which extended the termination dath®f000 Plan by ten years and
increased the number of authorized shares of statkmay be issued by 388,313,015 shares. In f&@H, our stockholders, upon the
recommendation of our Board, approved a furthereiase in the number of authorized shares of stwtkmhay be issued under the 2000 Plan
by 305,000,000 shares.

Under the terms of the 2000 Plan, options to pgeltmmmon stock are granted at not less than fakehvalue, become exercisable as
established by the Compensation Committee of treed(generally 25% annually over four years underonrrent practice) and generally
expire no more than ten years from the date oftgtaimg-term full value awards are granted in ttvaf of restricted stock units (RSUs) and
performance stock units (PSUs). The vesting sclesituIRSUs is established by the Compensation Ctteenand generally requires vesting
25% annually over four years. The vesting scheftul®SUs is also established by the Compensationmitiee and currently requires vesting
over four fiscal years, if at all, based on relatperformance. For each share granted as a fulkaklard under the 2000 Plan, an equivalent c
2.5 shares is deducted from our pool of sharedadblaifor grant. As of May 31, 2015, the 2000 Hiad stock options to purchase 401 million
shares of common stock outstanding of which 21%anishares were vested, 24 million unvested RSuistanding and
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3 million unvested PSUs outstanding. As of May &115, approximately 409 million shares of commamtistwere available for future awards
under the 2000 Plan. To date, we have not issugdtank purchase rights or stock appreciation siginder the 2000 Plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DiretStock Plan (the Directors’ Plan), which providesthe issuance of non-qualified stock
options and other stock-based awards, including R &Unon-employee directors. The Directors’ Plas tiom time to time been amended anc
restated. Under the terms of the Directors’ Pl&mlllion shares of common stock are reserveddsunance (including a fiscal 2013
amendment to increase the number of shares ofomimon stock reserved for issuance by 2 millioneflaiOptions are granted at not less
fair market value, vest over four years, and expaanore than ten years from the date of grant. f@tnted under the Directors’ Plan also
vest over four years. The Directors’ Plan proviftgsautomatic grants of stock awards to each nopleyee director upon first becoming a
director and thereafter on an annual basis, asasedutomatic nondiscretionary grants for chaidgngice chairing certain Board committees.
The Board will determine the particular terms of anch stock awards at the time of grant, butehes will be consistent with those of stock
awards granted under the Directors’ Plan with resfmevesting or forfeiture schedules and treatnoentermination of status as a director. As
of May 31, 2015, options to purchase approximadetyillion shares of common stock (of which approaiely 2 million were vested) and
64,000 unvested RSUs were outstanding under the D#8ctors’ Plan. As of May 31, 2015, approximgt2Imillion shares were available for
future stock awards under this plan.

In connection with certain of our acquisitions, assumed certain outstanding stock options and o#isénicted stock-based awards under eacl
acquired company’s respective stock plans. Thesk stfptions and other restricted stock-based awgedsrally retain all of the rights, terms
and conditions of the respective plans under wiliely were originally granted. As of May 31, 201fack options to purchase 8 million shares
of common stock and 1 million shares of restrictetk-based awards were outstanding under thess.pla

The following table summarizes stock option acyivnd includes awards granted pursuant to Oaased stock plans and stock plans asst
from our acquisitions for our last three fiscal geeanded May 31, 2015:

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Shares Unde Average
(in millions, except exercise price Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 201 42z $ 22.6¢
Grantec 11¢ $ 29.9(
Assumec 9 $ 3252
Exercisec (83) $ 17.3¢
Cancelec (20 $ 28.9¢
Balance, May 31, 201 447 $  25.4¢
Grantec 131 $ 31.0Z
Assumec 5 $ 9.0z
Exercisec (95) $ 21.5]
Cancelec (26) $  30.6(
Balance, May 31, 201 462 $ 273
Grantec 34 $ 40.5¢
Assumec 3 $ 21.9¢
Exercisec (70) $ 24.4¢
Cancelec (16) $  33.7¢
Balance, May 31, 201 41% $ 28.6¢
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Options outstanding that have vested and thabgrected to vest as of May 31, 2015 were as follows:

Weighted

Weightec Average In-the-Money Aggregate

Outstanding Average Remaining Options as of Intrinsic

Options Exercise Contract Term May 31, 201t Value ()
(in millions) Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 22% $ 25.5¢ 5.07% 222 $ 4,03
Expected to ve«? 17¢ $32.17 7.7 17¢ 1,98¢
Total 39¢ $ 28.4¢ 6.2¢ 397 $ 6,02(

() The aggregate intrinsic value was calculateddasethe gross difference between our closing spoite on the last trading day of fiscal 2015 08%9 and the exercise prices for all
“in-the-money’ options outstanding, excluding tax effe«

(@ The unrecognized compensation expense calculaigier the fair value method for shares expectess$b (unvested shares net of expected forfeita®sf May 31, 2015 was
approximately $804 million and is expected to lmgmized over a weighted average period of 2.16syégproximately 15 million shares outstanding®ay 31, 2015 were not
expected to ves

Restricted stock-based award activity and the nurobeestricted stock-based awards outstanding wetsignificant prior to fiscal 2015. The

following table summarizes restricted stock-basedrds activity, including service-based awards pedormance-based awards and including

awards granted pursuant to Oracle-based stock plahstock plans assumed from our acquisitionsdoffiscal year ended May 31, 2015:

Restricted Stocl-Based Awards Outstanding
Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date

(in millions, except fair value) Shares Fair Value
Balance, May 31, 201 1 $ 35.2¢
Grantec 28 $ 40.7:
Cancelec (1) $ 39.52
Balance, May 31, 201 28 $ 40.6:

The total grant date fair value of restricted stbalsed awards that vested in fiscal 2015 was $#2BmiAs of May 31, 2015, total
unrecognized stock compensation expense relatednevested restricted stotlased awards was $774 million and is expected tedmgnize
over the remaining weighted-average vesting pesfdi22 years.

In fiscal 2015, 3 million PSUs were granted whigstwupon the attainment of certain performanceiosesind service-based vesting. Based
upon actual attainment relative to the “target’fpenance metric, certain participants have theitgtitb be issued up to 150% of the target
number of PSUs originally granted, or to be issoedPSUs at all. As of May 31, 2015, no PSUs hatkdeand 3 million remained outstandii
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StockBased Compensation Expense and Valuation of Steckrds

We estimated the fair values of our stock optiosiagithe Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing moaehjch was developed for use in
estimating the fair values of stock options. Optiatuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Marbptionpricing model, require the inp
of assumptions, including stock price volatilityha@hges in the input assumptions can materiallychffes fair value estimates and ultimately
how much we recognize as stock-based compensatimmse. The fair values of our stock options wstemated at the grant dates or at the
acquisition dates for options assumed in a busio@sbination. The weighted average input assumgtised and resulting fair values of our
stock options were as follows for fiscal 2015, 2@l 2013:

Year Ended May 31,

2015 2014 2013
Expected life (in years) 5.1 4.9 5.C
Risk-free interest rat 1.7% 1.3% 0.7%
Volatility 23% 27% 31%
Dividend yield 1.2% 1.5% 0.8%
Weightec-average fair value per she $ 9.62 $ 7.4i $ 7.9¢

The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free interest rate input is based or
U.S. Treasury instruments, the annualized dividgaltl input is based on the per share dividendated by our Board of Directors and the
volatility input is calculated based on the impligaatility of our publicly traded options.

We estimated the fair values of our restrictedlstosed awards that are solely subject to senasedb vesting requirements based upon their
intrinsic values as of the grant dates.

The fair values of our PSUs were also measureueatintrinsic values as of their respective grdaties. The vesting conditions and related
terms of our PSUs were communicated to each paatioig employee as of their respective grant datelsincluded attainment metrics that
were defined, fixed, and based upon consistent GAAP metrics or internal metrics that are definfidded and consistently determined, and
that require the employee to render service. Thesethese awards meet the performance-based alaasification criteria as defined within
ASC 718.

Stock-based compensation is included in the follmwperating expense line items in our consolidatatements of operations:
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Sales and marketir $ 18C $ 16t $ 137
Cloud software as a service and platform as ace 10 8 1C
Cloud infrastructure as a servi 5 4 8
Software license updates and product sug 21 22 2C
Hardware systems produ 6 5 3
Hardware systems supp 6 6 5
Services 30 29 23
Research and developmt 522 38t 352
General and administrati 14¢ 171 164
Acquisition related and oth 5 10 33
Total stocl-based compensatic 93: 80t 75&
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (299 (260) 245
Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefit $ 63¢ $ 54t $ 51z
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Tax Benefits from Exercise of Stock Options andtWesof Restricted StocBased Awards

Total cash received as a result of option exeraisesapproximately $1.7 billion, $2.0 billion andl.4 billion for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of amtiexercised and vesting of restricted stock-basedds was $1.3 billion, $1.5 billion and
$1.3 hillion for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, regpety. In connection with these exercises andimgstf restricted stock-based awards, the ta
benefits realized by us were $396 million, $480lionl and $410 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 20fespectively. Of the total tax benefits
received, we classified excess tax benefits fraraksbased compensation of $244 million, $250 millamd $241 million as cash flows from
financing activities rather than cash flows froneming activities for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 20E3pectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (PurctesgtPat allows employees to purchase sharesmframn stock at a price per share that
is 95% of the fair market value of Oracle stoclofithe end of the semi-annual option period. AMal 31, 2015, 57 million shares were
reserved for future issuances under the Purchase Rle issued 3 million shares under the Purchiasei®each of fiscal 2015, fiscal 2014 ¢
fiscal 2013.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidn plan expense was $362 million,
$357 million and $353 million for fiscal 2015, 2024d 2013, respectively. The number of plan paxaicis in our benefit plans has generally
increased in recent years primarily as a resudtdafitional eligible employees from our acquisitions

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings awveéstment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%hefr eligible compensation on a per-pay-periodsas defined by the Oracle 401(k) Plan
document or by the section 402(g) limit as defibgdhe United States Internal Revenue Service (IR& match a portion of employee
contributions, currently 50% up to 6% of comper@atach pay period, subject to maximum aggregatehimg amounts. Our contributions to
the Oracle 401(k) Plan, net of forfeitures, werd4illion, $134 million and $129 million in fisc2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiampto certain key employees whereby they mayrdefmrtion of their annual base and/or
variable compensation until retirement or a datcsgd by the employee in accordance with the ql&referred compensation plan assets ani
liabilities were each approximately $408 millionaidMay 31, 2015 and were each approximately $38lfomas of May 31, 2014 and were
presented in other assets and other non-currdmilitiies in the accompanying consolidated balaroeess.

We sponsor certain defined benefit pension plaasate offered primarily by certain of our foreigubsidiaries. Many of these plans were
assumed through our acquisitions or are requirelddaf regulatory requirements. We may deposit uiod these plans with insurance
companies, third party trustees, or into governmmeamhaged accounts consistent with local regulategquirements, as applicable. Our total
defined benefit plan pension expenses were $6%mil$64 million and $81 million for fiscal 2015024 and 2013, respectively. The aggre
projected benefit obligation and aggregate netlitplffunded status) of our defined benefit plaasof May 31, 2015 was $1.0 billion and $59¢
million, respectively, and as of May 31, 2014 w&853% million and $436 million, respectively.
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15. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdoegore the provision for income taxes:
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Domestic $ 513 $ 5397 $ 6,61«
Foreign 7,69¢ 8,301 7,28¢

Income before provision for income tay $ 1283 $ 13,700 $ 13,89

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Current provision
Federa $ 2,150 $ 161 $ 1,72
State 31C 337 254
Foreign 981 1,04 1,11¢
Total current provisiol $ 344/ $ 2997 $ 3,09
Deferred benefit
Federa $ (408 $ ©8 $ (@179
State (46) (100 82
Foreign (94) (80) (20)
Total deferred benef $ (548 $ (245 $ (119
Total provision for income taxe $ 289% $ 2,74¢ $ 2,97
Effective income tax rat 22.6% 20.1% 21.4%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 4490 $ 479 $ 486!
Foreign earnings at other than United States (1,627 (1,790 (1,637
State tax expense, net of federal ber 17¢€ 154 29¢
Settlements and releases from judicial decisiodsssatute expirations, n (85) (16¥¢) (149
Domestic production activity deductis (18¢) (179 (15%)
Other, ne 12¢ (69) (25%)
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,89 $ 2,74¢ $ 2,97
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The components of our deferred tax liabilities andets were as follows:

May 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Acquired intangible asse (1,87¢ (1,809
Unremitted earning (64€) (510
Other (11 —
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ (2,66¢€ $ (2,449
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance $ 421 $ 44C
Employee compensation and bene 1,12: 1,062
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 33t 21C
Depreciation and amortizatic 15E 243
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 2,64¢ 2,81(
Other — 96
Total deferred tax asse $ 4,68 $ 4,861
Valuation allowanct $ (1,029 $ (1,059
Net deferred tax asse $  99¢ $ 1,364
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 662 $ 914
Non-current deferred tax asst 79t 837
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (85) (129
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (in other r-current liabilities) (380 (25¢)
Net deferred tax asse $  99¢ $ 1,364

We provide for United States income taxes on thdistnibuted earnings and the other outside basipdeary differences of foreign
subsidiaries unless they are considered indefinfihvested outside the United States. At May2R1,5, the amount of temporary differences
related to undistributed earnings and other outisas temporary differences of investments inifprsubsidiaries upon which United States
income taxes have not been provided was approxiynd®8.0 billion and $8.4 billion, respectively.tiiese undistributed earnings were
repatriated to the United States, or if the othdside basis differences were recognized in a taxadnsaction, they would generate foreign
credits that would reduce the federal tax liabitissociated with the foreign dividend or the otheewaxable transaction. At May 31, 2015,
assuming a full utilization of the foreign tax citsdthe potential net deferred tax liability assted with these temporary differences of
undistributed earnings and other outside basis ¢eanp differences would be approximately $11.8dmiland $2.7 billion, respectively.

Our net deferred tax assets were $993 million dnd Billion as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, respetyivé/e believe it is more likely than not
that the net deferred tax assets will be realinatié foreseeable future. Realization of our nétrded tax assets is dependent upon our
generation of sufficient taxable income in futueas in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtaindderirom the reversal of temporary
differences, net operating loss carryforwards amdctedit carryforwards. The amount of net defeteedassets considered realizable is subjec
to adjustment in future periods if estimates ofifattaxable income change.
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The valuation allowance was $1.0 billion and $1illlo at May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Sabsally all of the valuation allowances
as of May 31, 2015 and 2014 relate to tax asstdbleshed in purchase accounting. Any subsequelnicten of that portion of the valuation
allowance and the recognition of the associatedbéaefits associated with our acquisitions willreeorded to our provision for income taxes
subsequent to our final determination of the vatuaallowance or the conclusion of the measurermeribd (as defined above), whichever
comes first.

At May 31, 2015, we had federal net operating tasyforwards of approximately $958 million. Thdgsses expire in various years between
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2034, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had state netmagpiag loss carryforwards of approximately
$2.9 billion at May 31, 2015, which expire betwdiscal 2016 and fiscal 2034, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had total
foreign net operating loss carryforwards of appmadely $1.6 billion at May 31, 2015, which are |dbjto limitations on their utilization.
Approximately $1.4 billion of these foreign net oping losses are not currently subject to exmratiates. The remainder of the foreign net
operating losses, approximately $216 million, egietween fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2035. We had teditcarryforwards of approximately
$904 million at May 31, 2015, which are subjeclitmtations on their utilization. Approximately $37nillion of these tax credit carryforwards
are not currently subject to expiration dates. fémainder of the tax credit carryforwards, appraatiefy $331 million, expire in various years
between fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2034.

We classify our unrecognized tax benefits as eitierent or non-current income taxes payable iratewmpanying consolidated balance
sheets. The aggregate changes in the balance gf@es unrecognized tax benefits, including actjaiss, were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ju $ 3,83 $ 3,601 $ 3,27¢
Increases related to tax positions from prior fisesrs 11¢ 94 27¢
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears a7 (11€) (22%)
Increases related to tax positions taken duringeoctifiscal yea 31¢€ 307 312
Settlements with tax authoritir (30) () (72)
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (549) (53 (72)
Cumulative translation adjustments and other (139 7 1
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ma $ 403 $ 3,83 $ 3,60

As of May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, $2.8 billion,@8gillion and $3.6 billion, respectively, of unmemized benefits would affect our effective
tax rate if recognized. We recognized interestgemhlties related to uncertain tax positions inprowrision for income taxes line of our
consolidated statements of operations of $102onill$24 million and $31 million during fiscal 201H)14 and 2013, respectively. Interest anc
penalties accrued as of May 31, 2015 and 2014 $/&6 million and $693 million, respectively.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing authlesriare currently examining income tax return®wdcle and various acquired entities for
years through fiscal 2013. Many issues are at sarexkd stage in the examination process, the rmgrsfisant of which include th

deductibility of certain royalty payments, trangfeicing, extraterritorial income exemptions, dotieproduction activity, foreign tax credits,
and research and development credits taken. Gibges are related to years with expiring statutésigation. With all of these domestic au
issues considered in the aggregate, we believastreasonably possible that, as of May 31, 20E5gtbss unrecognized tax benefits related t
these audits could decrease (whether by payméedse or a combination of both) in the next 12 theby as much as $426 million ($358
million net of offsetting tax benefits). Our U.®deral and, with some exceptions, our state indameeturns have been examined for all year:
prior to fiscal 2003 and we are no longer subjecudit for those periods.
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Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norslurisdictions are also examining returns affecbur unrecognized tax benefits. We
believe it was reasonably possible that, as of Blgy2015, the gross unrecognized tax benefits dodetrease (whether by payment, releas
a combination of both) by as much as $172 milli®86 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to trans
pricing. Other issues are related to years withragxpstatutes of limitation. With some exceptiong are generally no longer subject to tax
examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for year®pto fiscal 1997.

We believe that we have adequately provided und8r GAAP for outcomes related to our tax auditswileer, there can be no assurances as
to the possible outcomes or any attendant finasté@ément effect thereof.

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280,Segment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting informatiooua operating segments. Operating segments areededs
components of an enterprise about which separsedial information is available that is evaluategularly by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision making group, in deciding howaltocate resources and in assessing performanoechief operating decision makers are
our Chief Executive Officers. We are organized gapbically and by line of business. While our Chigecutive Officers evaluate results in a
number of different ways, the line of business ngamaent structure is the primary basis for whichathecation of resources and financial
results are assessed.

We have three businesses—software and cloud, heedsyatems and services—which are further dividéal ¢ertain operating segments. Our
software and cloud business is comprised of thpegating segments: (1) new software licenses anticdoftware subscriptions, which
includes our cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings, (2)dalofrastructure as a service and (3) softwaenke updates and product support. Our
hardware systems business is comprised of two tpgrsegments: (1) hardware systems products gritafAware systems support. All other
operating segments are combined under our servicgRess.

Our new software licenses and cloud software sigigmms line of business markets, sells and detiver application and platform
technologies, including our SaaS and PaaS offefmgsSaaS and PaaS offerings are collectivelymedeto as cloud software subscriptions),
which provide customers a choice of software apgiims and platforms that are delivered via a clbased IT environment that we host,
manage and support, and the licensing of our sodétweoducts including Oracle Applications, Orackt@base, Oracle Fusion Middleware and
Java, among others.

The cloud infrastructure as a service line of besénprovides comprehensive software and hardwamageaent and maintenance services fo
customer IT infrastructure for a fee for a statunt that is hosted at our Oracle data center fiesi|iselect partner data centers or physically o
premises at customer facilities; deployment andagament offerings for our software and hardwarerataded IT infrastructure including
virtual machine instances that are subscriptioreté@nd designed for computing and reliable andreeahject storage; and certain of our
Oracle Engineered Systems and related supporirgfethat are deployed in our customers’ data ceifice a monthly fee.

The software license updates and product suppariof business provides customers with rights fiwswoe product upgrades and maintenanc
releases, patches released, internet access todaictontent, as well as internet and telephoesscto technical support personnel during the
support period.

The hardware systems products line of businessgeeracle Engineered Systems, servers, storageorking, industry specific hardware,
virtualization software, operating systems inclggihe Oracle Solaris Operating System and managesnéiware to support diverse IT
environments, including cloud computing environnsent

Our hardware systems support line of business gesviustomers with software updates for the sofwamponents that are essential to the
functionality of our hardware products, such asol@r&olaris and certain other software productd,cm include product repairs, maintenance
services and technical support services.
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Our services business is comprised of the remaiofdeur operating segments and offers consultidgaaced customer support services and
education services. Our consulting line of busin@srarily provides services to customers in buséinend IT strategy alignment, enterprise
architecture planning and design, initial produepiementation and integration and ongoing prodobaacements and upgrades. Advanced
customer support provides support services, bothremises and remote, to our customers to enatieased performance and higher
availability of their products and services. Edigraservices provide training to customers, pagi@erd employees as a part of our mission of
accelerating the adoption and use of our softwadeh@rdware products and to create opportunitiggde our product revenues.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetefigrating segment.
The following table presents summary results faheaf our three businesses and for the operatiggsets of our software and cloud and
hardware systems businesses:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
New software licenses and cloud software subsoript
Revenue(!) $ 10,02  $10,54.  $ 10,35(
Cloud software as a service and platform as aseexpense 74z 437 313
Sales and distribution expens 5,812 5,66¢ 5,227
Margin () $ 3471 $ 443 $ 481
Cloud infrastructure as a servit
Revenue: $ 60¢ $ 45¢ $ 457
Cloud infrastructure as a service exper 32¢ 304 29¢
Sales and distribution expens 89 61 61
Margin @) $ 19C $ 91 $ 10C
Software license updates and product sup|
Revenued!) $ 18,85t  $ 18,20¢  $ 17,15¢
Software license updates and product support erg 1,13( 1,111 1,12(
Margin @) $17,72¢  $17,09¢  $ 16,03¢
Total software and cloud busine
Revenued!) $ 29,490  $29200 $ 27,96
Expense: 8,10z 7,57¢ 7,015
Margin @) $ 21,38  $21,62¢ $ 20,94¢
Hardware systems produc
Revenue: $ 2,82 $ 2,97¢ $ 3,03
Hardware systems products exper 1,46t 1,51¢ 1,49¢
Sales and distribution expens 864 94C 88t
Margin @ $ 49 $ 520 $ 65C
Hardware systems suppc
Revenued?) $ 2,38 $ 2400 $ 232
Hardware systems support exper 783 80z 857
Margin @ $ 1,600 $ 1,608 $ 1,47C
Total hardware systems busine
Revenue{1) $ 520¢ $ 538 $ 5360
Expense: 3,112 3,25¢ 3,24(
Margin @ $ 2091 $ 2128 $ 2,12
Total services busines
Revenued?) $ 355: $ 3716 $ 3,93
Services expenst 2,81¢ 2,822 3,051
Margin @ $ 73 $ 894 $ 87¢
Totals:
Revenued{1) $38,25!  $3830¢ $ 37,25
Expense: 14,03: 13,65¢ 13,30¢
Margin @ $ 2422. $ 2464 $ 23,94
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(1) New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptievenues for management reporting includechtsgrelated to cloud SaaS and PaaS contractwdinit have otherwise be
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeanities but were not recognized in the accompangonsolidated statements of operations in the amsaf $12 million, $17 millio
and $45 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013 pesgively. Software license updates and produgpesrpevenues for management reporting includedmaes related to software
support contracts that would have otherwise beeorded by the acquired businesses as independirgshut were not recognized in the accompangmgsolidated statements of
operations in the amounts of $11 million, $3 milliand $14 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 20¥%pectively. In addition, we did not recognize fark systems support revenues
related to hardware systems support contractswhald have otherwise been recorded by the acqbiusthesses as independent entities in the amotifitsraillion, $11 million and
$14 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respaty. See Note 10 for an explanation of these stdjents and the table below for a reconciliationwftotal operating segment

revenues to our total revenues. Our new softwaentie and services revenues for management repatsio differ from amounts reported per our comnfstéd statements of operations

for the periods presented due to certain insigaificeclassifications between these lines for mamagt reporting purpose

(@ The margins reported reflect only the direct oolfable costs of each line of business and ddnbide allocations of product development, marigeind partner programs, and
corporate, general and administrative and inforomatechnology expenses. Additionally, the margeported do not reflect amortization of intangitdsets, acquisition related and
other expenses, restructuring expenses, -based compensation, interest expense or certaén ioifome (expense), ni

The following table reconciles total operating segtirevenues to total revenues as well as totahtipg segment margin to income before
provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Total revenues for operating segme $ 38,25 $ 38,30¢ $ 37,25!
Cloud software as a service and platform as acereivenue® (12 ()] (45)
Software license updates and product support reas®) (12) (©)] (14)
Hardware systems support reven®) (4) (172) (14)
Total revenue: $ 38,22¢ $ 38,27¢ $ 37,18(
Total margin for operating segmel $ 24,227 $ 24,647 $ 23,94t
Cloud software as a service and platform as acereivenue® (12 (17) (45)
Software license updates and product support reas®) (11) ©)] ()]
Hardware systems support reven®) 4 (12) (14)
Product developmel (4,812 (4,590 (4,327
Marketing and partner program expen (520 (569 (597
Corporate, general and administrative and inforomatiechnology expens (1,496 (1,389 (1,427
Amortization of intangible asse (2,149 (2,300 (2,38%)
Acquisition related and oth (217) (47) 604
Restructuring (207) (189 (352
Stoclk-based compensatic (92¢) (795) (722)
Interest expens (1,149 (919 (797)
Non-operating income (expense), | 10€ (147 11
Income before provision for income tay $ 1283 $ 13,700 $ 13,89

@) New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptievenues, software license updates and predppbrt revenues and hardware systems supportueséor manageme
reporting included revenues that would have otheswieen recorded by our acquired businesses geimdfent entities but were not recognized in thempanying consolidated
statements of operations for the periods presehtedo business combination accounting requiremBafer to footnote one to our business and opgyaggments summary results
table above in this Note 16 for additional inforioat
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Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoinrafor each country that comprised greater thaeetipercent of our total revenues for an
fiscal 2015, 2014 or 2013.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

2015 2014 2013

Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenues Assetsd) Revenues Assets(t) Revenues Assets(t
United State: $17,328 $ 3,347 $16,80¢ $ 299 $ 16,000 $ 2,921
United Kingdom 2,38¢ 30¢ 2,30¢ 23€ 2,16¢ 203
Germany 1,46¢ 33 1,48: 35 1,30¢ 44
Japar 1,43: 33¢ 1,55¢ 414 1,77(C 42¢€
Canads 1,28¢ 58 1,19(C 31 1,232 34
France 1,04¢ 33 1,14¢ 28 1,05¢ 17
Other countrie: 13,28¢ 1,007 13,77¢ 87¢ 13,64¢ 86¢
Total $ 3822« $ 511¢ $3827F $ 461¢ $ 37,18 $ 451

@) Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible assegsitg investments and deferred taxes, which aretotated to specific geographic locations as itvipracticable to do s

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingnu@me for the period by the weighted average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share mmated by dividing net income for the period by weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus theiddweffect of outstanding stock options, restrcstock-based awards and shares issuable
under the employee stock purchase plan using ¢lasury stock method. The following table sets fimthcomputation of basic and diluted
earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2015 2014 2013
Net income $ 9,93¢ $ 10,95! $ 10,92!
Weighted average common shares outstan 4,40¢ 4,52¢ 4,76¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 99 76 75
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 4,50: 4,60¢ 4,84«
Basic earnings per she $ 2.2¢ $ 2.4z $ 2.2¢
Diluted earnings per sha $ 2.21 $ 2.3¢ $ 2.2¢
Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options aglricted stock-based awards excluded from

calculation® 37 76 20¢

(@) These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutivelstiptions and restricted stoblased awards as calculated using the treasury stettlod and could be dilutive in the future. Se¢eNat
for information regarding the exercise prices of outstanding, unexercised optio

18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Hewlett-Packard Company Litigation

On June 15, 2011, Hewlett-Packard Company (“HR&gfa complaint in the California Superior Couru@ity of Santa Clara against Oracle
Corporation alleging numerous causes of actiorutioly breach of contract,
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breach of the covenant of good faith and fair aegldefamation, intentional interference with pextjive economic advantage, and violatiol
the California Unfair Business Practices Act. Thenplaint alleged that when Oracle announced on Magcand 23, 2011 that it would no
longer develop future versions of its softwareun on HP’s Itanium-based servers, it breachedteeseint agreement signed on September 2
2010 between HP and Mark Hurd (the “Hurd Settlenfggreement”), who was both HP’s former chief examubfficer and chairman of HP’s
board of directors. HP sought a judicial declaratbthe parties’ rights and obligations underlthed Settlement Agreement, and other
equitable and monetary relief.

Oracle answered the complaint and filed a crossptaimt, which was amended on December 2, 2011 ahtended cross-complaint alleged
claims including violation of the Lanham Act. Oracllleged that HP had secretly agreed to pay fotebntinue to develop and manufacture
Itanium microprocessor, and had misrepresentedgtomers that the Itanium microprocessor had atoagmap, among other claims. Oracle
sought equitable rescission of the Hurd Settlemgnéement, and other equitable and monetary relief.

The court bifurcated the trial and tried HP’s causkaction for declaratory relief and promissosyoppel without a jury in June 2012. The
court issued a final statement of decision on Atg8s2012, finding that the Hurd Settlement Agreatrequired Oracle to continue to
develop certain of its software products for uséHétis Itanium-based servers and to port such prsdatano cost to HP for as long as HP sells
those servers. Oracle has announced that it isaipgehis decision. The issues of breach, HP'$égoerance, causation and damages, HP's tol
claims, and Oracle’s cross-claims will all be trieefore a jury. As of April 8, 2013, the trial imged pending Oracle’s appeal of the court’s
denial of its anti-SLAPP motion, which is fully bfed, although oral argument has not yet been sidéedWe cannot currently estimate a
reasonably possible range of loss for this actiga.believe that we have meritorious defenses agiissaction, and we will continue to
vigorously defend it.

SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely, Oracle) filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern Ditiof California against SAP AG, its wholly-ownedbsidiary, SAP America, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc., (the B&ubsidiary, and collectively, the SAP Defendaali€ging that SAP unlawfully
accessed Oracle’s Customer Connection support teedosil improperly took and used Oracle’s intellacproperty.

After lengthy judicial proceedings, including ayurerdict in Oracle’s favor, on August 2, 2012, €esand the SAP Defendants stipulated to a
judgment of $306 million against the SAP Defendaws recorded a $306 million receivable in our aidated balance sheet and
recognized a corresponding benefit to our restltperations for the first quarter of fiscal 2023ter further proceedings, including an appeal
on November 14, 2014, final judgment was enterddracle’s favor in the amount of $356.7 million plpost-judgment interest of
approximately $2.5 million. During the second geadf fiscal 2015, Oracle received the total payhoémpproximately $359.2 million, of
which $306 million was applied against the receleabcorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2013 éimel excess of $53 million was recorded
benefit to our results of operations. This act®naw concluded.

Other Litigation

We are party to various other legal proceedingscaichs, either asserted or unasserted, which arige ordinary course of business,
including proceedings and claims that relate taiaitipns we have completed or to companies we lageired or are attempting to acquire.
While the outcome of these matters cannot be pietiiwith certainty, we do not believe that the oute of any of these matters, individually
or in the aggregate, will result in losses thatraegerially in excess of amounts already recognidezhy.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions Translation
Charged to Adjustments
Beginnning Operations or and Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts Write -offs Other Balance
Allowances for Doubtful Trade Receivab
Year Ended
May 31, 201% $ 328 $ 11¢€ $ (167) $ 22 $ 29€
May 31, 201< $ 29€ $ 122 $ (120 $ 8 $ 30€
May 31, 201F $ 30€ $ 56 $ (86) $ 9 $ 28¢
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

Date: June 25, 2015

Date: June 25, 2015

ORACLE CORPORATION

By:

By:

/s/ SAFRAA. CATZ

Safra A. Cat:

Chief Executive Officer and Directt
(Principal Executive and Financial Office

/s/ MARKV. HURD

Mark V. Hurd

Chief Executive Officer and Direct:
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

Name

Title Date

/s/ SAFRAA. CATZ

Safra A. Cat:

/s/ MAaARKYV.HURD

Mark V. Hurd

/sl WiLLiAM COREYW EST

William Corey Wes

/s/ L AwRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol

/s/ JeFFrReYO. HENLEY

Jeffrey O. Henle

/s!/  JEFFREYS. BERG

Jeffrey S. Ber

/s/ H.RAYMOND B INGHAM

H. Raymond Binghar

/s/ MICHAEL J. BOSKIN

Michael J. Boskir

/s/ BRUCER. CHIZEN

Bruce R. Chizel

/s/ GEORGEH. C ONRADES

George H. Conrade

/s/ HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA

Hector Garci-Molina

/s/ LEONE. PANETTA

Leon E. Panett

/s/  Naowmi O. SELIGMAN

Naomi O. Seligmal

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Exgive and Financial Office June 25, 201

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Exgive Officer)

June 25, 201

Executive Vice President, Corporate Controller @hief Accounting Officer June 25, 201

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, CHiethnology Officer and June 25, 201

Director

Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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The following exhibits are filed herewith or areamporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikeith the U.S. Securities and Exchange

ORACLE CORPORATION

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Commission.
Exhibit Incorporated by Reference
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit  Filing Date Filed By
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatidhkK 12G: 000-51788 3.1 2/6/06 Oracle Corporation
of Oracle Corporation and Certificate of Amendn
of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Oracle Corporatic
3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle 8-K 000-51788 3.02 7/14/06 Oracle Corporation
Corporation
4.01 Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stoc S-3 ASR 33:-16664: 4.04  5/7/10 Oracle Corporatiol

4.02

4.03

4.04

4.05

4.06

4.07

4.08

4.09

Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Ozark  8-K 000-14376 10.34

Holding Inc., Oracle Corporation and Citibank, N

Form of Old 2016 Note, together with the Officers’ 8-K 000-14376 10.35

Certificate issued January 13, 2006 pursuant to the
Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation (formerly known as Ozark Holding It
and Citibank, N.A

Form of New 5.25% Note due 20 S-4/A 33z13225(C

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 S-3 ASR 333-14279¢
among Oracle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The
Bank of New York Trust Company, N.;

Forms of 5.75% Note due 2018 and 6.50% Note due3-K 000-51788
2038, together with Officers’ Certificate issued
April 9, 2008 setting forth the terms of the No

Forms of 3.75% Note due 2014, 5.00% Note due 8-K 000-51788
2019 and 6.125% Note due 2039, together with

Officers’ Certificate issued July 8, 2009 setting fc

the terms of the Note

Forms of Original 2020 Note and Original 2040 10-Q 000-51788
Note, together with Office’ Certificate issued
July 19, 2010 setting forth the terms of the N¢

Forms of New 2020 Note and New 2040 N S-4 33217640~
138

4.4
4.3

4.09

4.08

4.08

4.5

1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati

1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati

4/14/06
5/10/07

4/8/08

7/8/09

9/20/10

8/19/11

Oracle Corporatiol

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporatiol
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Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed By

Filed
Herewith

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

10.01*

10.02*

10.03*

10.04*

10.05*

Forms of 1.20% Note due 2017 and 2.50% Note dug&K
2022, together with Officers’ Certificate issued
October 25, 2012 setting forth the terms of thee

Forms of 2.25% Note due 2021 and 3.125% Note 8-K
due 2025, together with Officers’ Certificate isdue
July 10, 2013 setting forth the terms of the Nc

Forms of Floating Rate Note due 2019, 2.375% No&K
due 2019 and 3.625% Note due 2023, together with
Officers’ Certificate issued July 16, 2013 setting

forth the terms of the Note

Forms of Floating Rate Note due 2017, Floating | 8-K
Note due 2019, 2.25% Note due 2019, 2.80% |

due 2021, 3.40% Note due 2024, 4.30% Note due
2034 and 4.50% Note due 2044, together with
Officers’ Certificate issued July 8, 2014 settiogtfh

the terms of the Note

Forms of 2.50% Notes due 2022, 2.95% Notes dued-K
2025, 3.25% Notes due 2030, 3.90% Notes due
4.125% Notes due 2045 and 4.375% Notes due .
together with Officers’ Certificate issued May 5,

2015 setting forth the terms of the No

Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation 10-Q
Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plad0-K
(1992), as amended and restated as of October 1,
2009

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 10-Q
Directors’ Stock Plan, as amended and restated on
September 4, 201

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity 10-Q
Incentive Plan, as approved on October 31, -

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 10Q
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity
Incentive Plan for U.S. Executive Vice Presidents

and Section 16 Officel

000-51788

001-35992

001-35992

001-35992

001-35992

000-51788

000-51788

001-35992

001-35992

000-51788
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4.10

411

4.12

4.13

4.13

10.01

10.02

10.03

10.04

10.05

10/25/12

7/10/13

7/16/13

7/8/14

5/5/15

3/23/09

7/1/10

12/20/13

12/20/13

12/23/11

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

Filed By

Filed
Herewith

10.06*

10.07*

10.08

10.09

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

12.01
21.01
23.01

31.01

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Oracle
Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Directors’
Stock Plar

Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and 10Q 000-51788 10.07 12/23/11
Executive Officer:

Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 8-K 000-51788 10.2 2/9/06
relating to the $3,000,000,000 Commercial Paper
Program

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between 8-K 000-51788 10.09 4/26/13
Oracle Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association dated as of April 23, 2(

Offer letter dated February 2, 2010 to John Fowler10-Q 000-51788 10.26  3/29/10
and employment agreement dated February 2,

Offer letter dated September 2, 2010 to Mark V.  8-K  000-51788 10.28  9/8/10
Hurd and employment agreement dated Septeml|
2010

Oracle Corporation Executive Bonus P 8-K 00C-51788 10.29 10/13/10

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive 10-Q 000-15086 10.1 2/6/08
Plan

$3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreemer-K  000-51788 10.14  4/26/13
dated as of April 22, 2013 among Oracle Corpor:
and the lenders and agents named the

Oracle Corporation Stock Unit Award Deferred  10-Q 001-35992 10.15 9/23/14
Compensation Pla

Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Award  10-Q 001-35992 10.16 9/23/14
Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2000

Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan for Section 16

Officers

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
under the Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated
1993 Director’ Stock Plar

Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chat
Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal
Executive Officel
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Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporatiol

Sun Microsystems, Inc.

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed By Herewith
31.02 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal X
Executive and Financial Offict
32.01 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive X
Officers and Principal Financial Offic:
101 Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of X

Regulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as
of May 31, 2015 and 2014, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended

May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years
ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity for the gear
ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,

(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
years ended May 31, 2015, 2014 and 2!

(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and
(vii) Financial Statement Schedule

*  Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer
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ORACLE CORPORATION
DIRECTORS’ STOCK OPTION GRANT
THIS OPTION IS NOT TRANSFERABLE

Optionee: Number of Share:
Address: Exercise Price per Share: $
Grant Date Expiration Date:

Oracle Corporation, a Delaware corporation (therfpany”), hereby grants to the optionee named aff@gtionee”) a non-qualified
stock option (this “Option”) to purchase the tataimber of shares of Common Stock of the Companfostt above (the “Shares”) at the
exercise price per share set forth above (the ‘E&sePrice”), subject to all of the terms and ctinds attached hereto (the “Option Terms and
Conditions”) and incorporated herein by referengki¢h, together with this page, shall constitute 1Grant”), and subject to the terms and
conditions of the Company’s Amended and Restat®3 THrectors’ Stock Plan (the “Plan”). Unless othise defined herein, capitalized terms
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the é#éhe Option Terms and Conditions.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the PlanthisdGrant, this Option may be exercised in inaata on or after each “Vest Date”
specified below, provided that it must be exerciskat all, on or before the Expiration Date sfied above.

Exercisable on or after:

(“Vest Dat") But before: Number of Share

The Company and Optionee hereby agree to the tefrthés Grant.

ORACLE CORPORATION OPTIONEE
(Authorized Signature (Optionee Signature
Name Name

Title: Dated

(mm/ddlyyyy)
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DIRECTORS’ STOCK OPTION GRANT
Terms and Conditions

Restrictions on Exercis€his Option may not be exercised (i) unless su@rase is in compliance with the Securities Ac1683, as

amended (the “Securities Act”), and all applicadikgte securities laws as they are in effect or#te of exercise, and the requirements ¢
any stock exchange or national market system onhwthie Company’s Common Stock may be listed atithe of exercise, and (ii) until
the Plan, or any required increase in the numb&hafes authorized under the Plan, is approveté$tockholders of the Company.
Notwithstanding anything else in this Grant or Bien, this Option shall expire on the Expiratiortdset forth on the first page of tl
Grant and must be exercised, if at all, on or efbe Expiration Date. In addition, no part of tBigtion will become exercisable prior to
six (6) months following the Date of Gra

Termination of Option Except as provided below in this Section, thigi@pshall terminate and may not be exercised iidyge ceases

to be a member of the Board of the Company (a “Bd&ember”). The Committee shall have discretiodétermine whether Optionee
has ceased to serve as a Board Member and théwaffdate on which such service terminated “Termination Dat”).

a) Termination of Status as a Directdf an Optionee ceases to serve as a Board Merbean, she may, but only within three (3) month:s
after the date he or she ceases to be a Board Mahtie Company, exercise his or her Option toetkient that he or she was entitled tc
exercise it at the date of such termination. Ndtst@nding the foregoing, in no event may the Opltierexercised after the Expiration
Date. To the extent that Optionee is not entittedxercise an Option at the date of such terminatodoes not exercise such Option
(which he or she is entitled to exercise) withia time specified herein, the Option shall terminate

b) Disability of Board MemberNotwithstanding the provisions of Section 2(apwah in the event Optionee is unable to contingeohi
her service as a Board Member with the Companyrasut of his or her total and permanent disgb{is defined in Section 22(e)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendedQibde”)), Optionee may, within six (6) months frahe date of such termination,
exercise his or her Option to the extent such @ptiovas entitled to exercise it at the date of seichination. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in no event may the Option be exercaftel the Expiration Date. To the extent that Opd® is not entitled to exercise the
Option at the date of termination, or if Optionees not exercise such Option (which he is entitbegixercise) within the time specified
herein, the Option shall terminate.

c) Death of Optioneeln the event of the death of Optionee:

(i) If Optionee dies during the term of the Optioma Board Member at the time of death and has e€ontinuous Status as a
Director (as defined in the Plan) since the datgraht of the Option, the Option may be exercideahg time within six (6) months
following the date of death by the Optionee’s estatby a person who acquired the right to exertiseéDption by bequest or inheritance,
but only to the extent the Optionee is entitleéxercise the Option at the time of death. Notwithding the foregoing, in no event may
the Option be exercised after the Expiration Date.

(ii) If Optionee dies within three (3) months afthe termination of Continuous Status as a Dire¢ta Option may be exercised at
any time within six (6) months following the datedeath by the Optionee’s estate or by a personacaoired the right to exercise the
Option by bequest or inheritance, but only to tkieet the Optionee is entitled to exercise the @péit the date of termination.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event may @pion be exercised after the Expiration Di



3.

Manner of Exercise

a)

b)

c)

d)

Exercise Agreemen(This Option shall be exercisable by deliveryite Company of an executed written Directors Stopkdd

Exercise Agreement (the “Exercise Agreement”) i fibrm attached hereto as Exhibit A, or in sucteotbrm as may be
approved by the Committee, which shall set forthi@e’s election to exercise some or all of théi@yp the number of Shares
being purchased, any restrictions imposed on tlaeeStand such other representations and agreeregatsling Optionee’s
investment intent and access to information as neasequired by the Company to comply with appliea#curities laws

Payment Payment of the exercise price upon exercise piGrtion shall be made (i) by cash or check; (igvided that a publi
market for the Company’s stock exists, throughaars day sale” commitment from the Optionee ancidrrdealer that is a
member of the National Association of SecuritieglBes (an “NASD Dealer”) whereby Optionee irrevdgadiects to exercise
the Option and to sell a portion of the Shareswscohmased to pay for the exercise price and whetteNASD Dealer irrevocab
commits upon receipt of such Shares to forwarcettezcise price directly to the Company; (iii) prded that a public market for
the Company'’s Stock exists, through a “margin” cdtmrant from the Optionee and an NASD Dealer whertéleyOptionee
irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and &algé the Shares so purchased to the NASD Deademiargin account as
security for a loan from the NASD Dealer in the amioof the exercise price, and whereby the NASDI&deevocably
commits upon receipt of such Shares to forwarcettexcise price directly to the Company; (iv) whpeemitted by applicable
law, by tender of a full recourse promissory naewsed by collateral other than the Shares havioh terms as may be
approved by the Committee and bearing interestateasufficient to avoid imputation of income un&ection 484 and 1274 of
the Code, provided that the portion of the exerpisee equal to the par value of the Shares mugtlkin cash or other legal
consideration; or (v) in any combination of theefgoing.

Withholding Taxes Prior to the issuance of the Shares upon exeofiggs Option, the Optionee shall pay in cash applicable
federal, state or local income and employment talxhelding obligations of the Company, if applicek

Issuance of Share®rovided that such notice and payment are in famchsubstance satisfactory to counsel for the @omhe
Company shall issue the Shares registered in tine wd Optionee or Option’s legal representativ

Transferability of OptionThis Option may not be transferred in any mannleeiothan (i) by will, or (ii) by the laws of des¢eand

distribution, provided however, a U.S. Optionee rirapsfer a vested portion of the Option for nosideration to or for the benefit of ¢
or more members of the Optionee’s Immediate Fafmigluding, without limitation, to a trust for tHeenefit of the Optionee’s Immediate
Family) (a “Transferee”), subject to such limitstae Committee may establish, and such Transféraéremain subject to all the terms
and conditions applicable to the Option prior totstransfer. The Optionee will continue to be ®eads the holder of the Option for
purposes of the Company’s record keeping and faerqturposes deemed appropriate by the Companygding the right to consent to
amendments to this Grant Notice; notwithstandirag the economic benefits and dispositive contrsltheen transferred to the
Transferee. Optionee agrees, on behalf of eactsfarge, to exercise the Option upon the directimharangement of payment by such
transferee and further agrees to forward all infation provided by the Company (including |



5.

6.

not limited to those required under the U.S. séiesriaws) with respect to the Option to the Transé. In the discretion of the
Committee, the foregoing right to transfer shalplgfo the right to transfer ancillary rights asisded with the Option. The term
“Immediate Family” shall mean the Optionee’s spougmlified same-sex domestic partner, parentfireim, stepchildren, adoptive
relationships, sisters, brothers and grandchil@@en, for this purpose, shall also include the @me). Optionee acknowledges that the
Optionee will continue to be liable for any taxesurred in connection with the exercise of the Qni

Changes in Capitalization; Change of Con.

a) Adjustment of Sharedn the event that the number of outstanding Shisrehanged by a stock dividend, stock split, rexe
stock split, combination, reclassification or simnithange in the capital structure of the Compaitlyout consideration, the
number of Shares subject to this Option shall lnp@tionately adjusted, subject to any requiretbadby the Board or
stockholders of the Company and compliance witHiegiple securities laws; provided, however, thatedificate or scrip
representing fractional Shares shall be issuedaapdesulting fractions shall be ignor:

b) Change of Contralln the event of a dissolution or liquidation bétCompany, a merger in which the Company is ret th
surviving corporation (other than a merger withtzolly-owned subsidiary or where there is no sulishohange in the
stockholders of the Company and the obligationhefCompany under the Plan are assumed by thessarasorporation), the
sale of substantially all of the assets of the Camypor any other transaction described under @ed24(a) of the Code wherein
the stockholders of the Company give up all ofrteguity interest in the Company (except for theuésition of all or
substantially all of the outstanding shares of@loenpany), this Option shall accelerate and becosséd in full prior to the
consummation of such dissolution, liquidation, neergr sale of asset

C) Acceleration Upon Unfriendly TakeoveNotwithstanding anything in Section 5(b) herantte contrary, if fifty percent
(50%) or more of the outstanding voting securitéthe Company become beneficially owned (as ddfineRule 13d-3
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Comomissly a person (as defined in Section 2(2) of3beurities Act and in
Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) in a trarnisaocdr series of transactions expressly disappriyeithe Board, then this
Option shall automatically and immediately accekegnd become vested in f

Interpretation Any dispute regarding the interpretation of {&ismnt shall be submitted by Optionee or the Comgartiiwith to the
Board or the committee thereof that administersPfam, which shall review such dispute at its megular meeting. The resolution of
such a dispute by the Board or committee shallrzd &nd binding on the Company and on Optiol

Optionee Acknowledgment©Optionee hereby acknowledges receipt of a cogg@Plan and the prospectus relating to the Plan,
represents that Optionee has read and understamtisrins and conditions thereof, and accepts thim@subject to all the terms and
provisions of the Plan and this Grant. Optioneeaekedges that there may be adverse tax consecquapoa exercise of this Option or
disposition of the Shares and that Optionee shoafdult a tax advisor prior to such exercise opaision.

Entire AgreemeniThe Plan, the prospectus relating to the Plan lamdNbtice and Exercise Agreement are incorporageelif by
reference. This Grant, the Plan and the Exercisedigent constitute the entire agreement of theégsaaihd supersede all prior
undertakings and agreements with respect to thiecumatter hereo

These terms and conditions apply to grants madw® after May 31, 201¢



EXHIBIT A

ORACLE CORPORATION

STOCK OPTION EXERCISE NOTICE AND AGREEMENT

Exercise of Optionl, the undersigned “Optionee,” hereby elect tereise my option to purchase shares of Common Stock
(“Shares”) of Oracle Corporation (the “Company”)den and pursuant to the Company’s Amended and ®dst893 Directors’ Stock
Plan (the“Plar”), and the Stock Option Grant dal (the“Gran™). Exercise Price per Shar

Representation of the Optioneleacknowledge that | have received, read and nsholed the Plan, the Grant and the prospectusnglad
the Plan and agree to abide by and be bound bytéreis and condition:

Compliance with Securities Laws$ understand and acknowledge that the exercismyfights to purchase Shares is expressly
conditioned upon compliance with the Securities éfct933, as amended, and all applicable stateitesudaws. | agree to cooperate
with the Company to ensure compliance with suctsli

Tax Consequences$ understand that | may suffer adverse tax camseces as a result of my purchase or disposititheoShares. |
represent that | have consulted with any tax cdast(k) that | deem advisable in connection withplirchase or disposition of the Shi
and that | am not relying on the Company for anyadvice.

Delivery and Payment herewith deliver to the Company the aggregatelpase price of the Shares that are specifieaein t
accompanying Oracle Corporation Stock Option Exeréiorm, and | have made provision for the payragaty federal and state
withholding taxes required to be paid or withhejdtihhe Company

Insider Trading | acknowledge that | have received, read and tsholed the Compang’policy against trading in Company stock whil
the possession of inside information (i.e., materampublic information). | agree to sell or othéserdispose of the Shares strictly in
compliance with this Company policy and all relasedurities laws

Proceed: | understand that it is my responsibility to nust the broker where/how my proceeds should heiloliged.

Certificates. | understand that any certificate(s) represergimgyres sold must be delivered directly to the éirc



9. Entire Agreementl acknowledge the following: The Plan and ther@e incorporated herein by reference; this Agwed, the Plan,
the prospectus relating to the Plan and the Gramdtiute my entire agreement with the Companysapérsede all prior undertaking and
agreements between us with respect to the subgteniereof; this Agreement is governed by Delavaw except for that body of law
pertaining to conflict of laws. Optionee agreeiditute any legal action or legal proceedingtietato the Grant, the Plan or this
Agreement in state court in San Mateo County, @alif or in federal court in San Francisco, Catifar Optionee agrees to submit to the
jurisdiction of and agrees that venue is propgh@aforesaid courts in any such action or proceg

Optionee’s Name (please print):

Optionee’s Signature: Date




Exhibit 10.17

ORACLE CORPORATION
DIRECTORS’ STOCK UNIT AWARD NOTICE
THIS AWARD IS NOT TRANSFERABLE

Participant Number of Share:
Address:

Grant Date

Oracle Corporation, a Delaware corporation (therfpany”), hereby grants to the Director named al{t®articipant”)an award of stoc
units (this “Award”) pursuant to which the Partiaig may acquire the number of shares of Commork®tbthe Company set forth above (the
“Shares”), subject to all of the terms and condiiget forth in the attached Directors’ Stock Umitms and Conditions (“RSU Terms and
Conditions”) and incorporated herein by referengki¢h, together with this page, shall constitute tAward Terms”), and subject to the terms
and conditions of the Company’s Amended and Rebte83 Directors’ Stock Plan (the “Plan”). Unlessaywise defined herein, capitalized
terms shall have the meanings ascribed to thehmeiftan or the RSU Terms and Conditions.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plantaaddward Terms, this Award shall vest and becpayable in increments on each
“Vest Date” specified below.

Exercisable on or after:

(“Vest Dat(") Number of Share

The Company and Participant hereby agree to therd\Wwarms.

ORACLE CORPORATION PARTICIPANT
(Authorized Signature (Participant Signature
Name Name

Title: Dated

(mm/ddlyyyy)



ORACLE CORPORATION
AMENDED AND RESTATED
1993 DIRECTORS’ STOCK PLAN

DIRECTORS’ STOCK UNIT
TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Grant. Oracle Corporation (the “Company”) has grantetheDirector (the “Participant”) named in the dpable Directors'Stock Unit
Award Notice (the “Notice”) the number of stock tenget forth in the Notice (the “Award”) under tBempany’s Amended and
Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan (the “PlanBisTAward is subject to the Award Terms and thenPlia the event of a conflict
between the terms of the Plan and the Award Tettmsterms of the Plan shall govern. All capitalizedns not defined herein shall
have the meanings ascribed to them in the PlaneoNbtice.

Companis Obligation to Pay Each stock unit represents the right to receiskaae of Common Stock (a “Share”) on the datestbek
unit vests. Unless and until the stock units haasted in accordance with Section 3, Participarithaive no right to settlement of any
such stock units. Prior to the actual settlemertnyfvested stock units, such stock units will espnt an unsecured obligation of the
Company, payable (if at all) only from the genexrsgets of the Compar

Settlement of the AwardThis Award will be settled on the date(s) thecktonits vest or as soon thereafter as adminigélsti
practicable, but in any event within a period otgi(60) days following the applicable vesting dakethe time of settlement, Participi
will receive one whole Share for each vested stotk The Company may, at its sole discretion, 8tilie an equivalent amount of cash
if the distribution of Shares is not reasonablycficable due to the requirements under applicaie in which case, the amount of cash
will be determined on the basis of the Fair MaNalue of the Common Stock on the applicable vediaig.

No Rights as Stockhold. The stock units underlying this Award do not garoting rights or rights to cash dividends. Paptnt shall
have no rights as a stockholder of the Companyssrded until the stock units are settled by issG@hgres to the Participal

Termination of Award Notwithstanding any contrary provision of theseURTerms and Conditions, if Participant ceasesta b
Director for any or no reason, any stock units tieate not vested and Participant’s right to acqaing Shares hereunder will
immediately terminate. The Committee shall haveréison to determine whether Participant has cetissdrve as a Director and the
effective date on which such service termina

Changes in Capitalization; Change of Con.

a) Adjustment of Sharedn the event that the number of outstanding Shisrehanged by a stock dividend, stock split, rexe
stock split, combination, reclassification or simnithange in the capital structure of the Compaitlyout consideration, the
number of stock units subject to this Award shallpiboportionately adjusted, subject to any requéaretibn by the Board or
stockholders of the Company and compliance witHiegiple securities laws; provided, however, thatedificate or scrip
representing fractional Shares shall be issuedaapdesulting fractions of a Share shall be ignc

b) Change of Contralln the event of a dissolution or liquidation bétCompany, a merger in which the Company is ret th
surviving corporation (other than a merger withtzolly-owned subsidiary or where there is no sulishohange in the
stockholders of the Compa




and the obligations of the Company under the Plaraasumed by the successor corporation), thetaléstantially all of the
assets of the Company, or any other transactiocritdesl under Section 424(a) of the U.S. InternaldReie Code (the “Code”)
wherein the stockholders of the Company give upfalheir equity interest in the Company (excepttfe acquisition of all or
substantially all of the outstanding shares ofGeenpany), this Award shall accelerate and becorsteden full prior to the
consummation of such dissolution, liquidation, negrgr sale of asset

C) Acceleration Upon Unfriendly TakeoveNotwithstanding anything in Section 6(b) heranthe contrary, if fifty percent
(50%) or more of the outstanding voting securitifthe Company become beneficially owned (as ddfineRule 13d-3
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Comomisdly a person (as defined in Section 2(2) of3beurities Act and in
Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) in a trarnsaocdr series of transactions expressly disappriyeithe Board, then this
Award shall automatically and immediately acceleatd become vested in ft

Compliance with Laws and Regulatiarhe issuance and transfer of Shares shall beuioj compliance by the Company and
Participant with all applicable requirements ofdeal, state, local or foreign securities and others and with all applicable
requirements of any stock exchange or national etaystem on which the Common Stock may be listéleatime of such issuance or
transfer.

Transferability of Award This Award may not be transferred in any manrleeiothan (a) by will, (b) by the laws of descemnd a
distribution, or (c) by proof to the Company’s sé&dttion, in the event of Participandeath, that the beneficiary is entitled to ree¢he
Award.

Tax Withholding Participant acknowledges that, regardless ofaatipn taken by the Company, the ultimate liabifdy all income tax
(including federal, state, local and foreign teegcial insurance, payroll tax, fringe benefits f@ayment on account or other tax-related
items related to Participant’s participation in #lan and legally applicable to Participant or deéry the Company in its discretion to
be an appropriate charge to Participant even #llg@pplicable to the Company (“Tax-Related Itejn& and remains Participant’s
responsibility. Participant further acknowledgestttihe Company (a) makes no representations orriakitegs regarding the treatment
of any Tax-Related Items in connection with anyegspf this Award, including, but not limited tdne grant, vesting or settlement of
this Award, the subsequent sale of Shares acqpireshant to such settlement and the receipt oflangiends; and (b) does not commit
to and is under no obligation to structure the geafithe grant or any aspect of this Award to redoiceliminate Participant’s liability
for Tax-Related Items or to achieve any partictdarresult. Further, if Participant is subject axIRelated Items in more than one
jurisdiction between the date of grant and the datny relevant taxable or tax withholding evétarticipant acknowledges that 1
Company may be required to withhold or accounfliax-Related Items in more than one jurisdicti

The Company shall have the right but not the okibgeto require the Participant to remit to the Q@@amy an amount of cash sufficien
satisfy any applicable federal, state or local meaand employment tax withholding requirementsrgodhe delivery of the Shares.

If the Company determines to withhold taxes, Pidict agrees that the Company may satisfy suchhaitting by one or a combination
of the following: (1) electing to have the Compamghhold from Participant’s other cash compensagaid to Participant by the
Company; (2) electing to have the Company withtigdth proceeds of the sale of Shares acquired upsting of the Award, either
through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory aalanged by the Company (



10.

11.

12.

13.

Participant’s behalf pursuant to this authorizatiam (3) electing to have the Company withhold i@kaotherwise issuable upon
settlement of the Award. If the obligation for thax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding ire8s, the Company will withhold or
account for Tax-Related Items by considering applie minimum statutory withholding rates. If theaBts are sold to cover the Tax-
Related Items obligations, the Company may user athyglicable withholding rates, including maximuppbcable rates, in which case
Participant will receive a refund of any over-wighth amount in cash and will have no entitlementheocommon stock equivalent.
Further, if the obligation for the Tax-Related It®in satisfied by withholding in Shares, for taxgmses, Participant is deemed to have
been issued the full number of Shares subjectaadisted stock units underlying this Award, notatéimding that a number of the
Shares are held back solely for the purpose oingatyie Tax-Related Iltems due as a result of angcagyf Participant’s participation in
the Plan.

Finally, Participant shall pay to the Company ampant of TaxRelated Items that the Company may be requiredtttheld or accour
for as a result of Participant’s participation e tPlan that cannot be satisfied by the meansqurslyi described. The Company may
refuse to deliver the Shares or the proceeds fhensale of Shares if Participant fails to complthwiis or her obligations in connection
with the Tax-Related ltems as described in thiicec

Entire Agreement; Interpretatiomhese RSU Terms and Conditions, the Plan, thepaaus relating to the Plan and the Notice
constitute the entire agreement of the partiessapgrsede all prior undertakings and agreemenisrespect to the subject matter
hereof; these RSU Terms and Conditions are goveémpdaelaware law except for that body of law panitag to conflict of laws.
Participant agrees to institute any legal actiolegal proceeding relating to these RSU Terms ammt@ions or the Plan in state cour
San Mateo County, California, or in federal conrSan Francisco, California, United States of AawrParticipant agrees to submit to
the jurisdiction of and agrees that venue is prapéne aforesaid courts in any such action or @eong.

Electronic Delivery The Company may, in its sole discretion, decadédliver any documents related to current or fuparticipation
in the Plan by electronic means or to request &patint’'s consent to participate in the Plan by tetedc means. Participant hereby
consents to receive such documents by electrotiiedg and, if requested, to agree to participattéhie Plan through an on-line or
electronic system established and maintained bZtrapany or any third party designated by the Cawyg

Severability The provisions of these RSU Terms and Conditaorsseverable and if any one or more provisionsieremined to be
illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole opart, the remaining provisions shall neverthelesbihding and enforceabl

409A Disclaimer These RSU Terms and Conditions shall be intezgdrigt accordance with, and incorporate the terrdscanditions
required by, Section 409A of the Code. The Compasgrves the right, to the extent the Company demwmsssary or advisable in its
sole discretion, to unilaterally amend or modifggh RSU Terms and Conditions or adopt other pslaiel procedures (including
amendments, policies and procedures with retroaetffect), or take any other actions, including adments or actions that would
result in a reduction in benefits payable underAtvard, as the Company determines are necessaypoopriate to ensure that this
Award qualifies for exemption from, or complies wihe requirements of, Code Section 409A or mitigaty additional tax, interest
and/or penalties or other adverse tax consequénaemay apply under Section 409A of the Code; iolexd, however, that the Comp:
makes no representation that this Award will bengiefrom, or will comply with, Section 409A of tigode, and makes no undertaki
to preclude Section 409A of the Code from applytmthis Award or to ensure that it complies witlct@n 409A of the Code. For the
avoidance of doubt, Particips



hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Compahlganvi no liability to Participant or any other fyaif the grant, vesting or
settlement of this Award and the issuance of Shareash or any other transaction under these R8hJ and Conditions are not
exempt from, or compliant with, Code Section 408Afor any action taken by the Company with respieeteto.

14.  Additional Terms The Company reserves the right to impose ottegrirements on Participant’s participation in tharPlio the extent
the Company determines it is necessary or advigablegal or administrative reasons, and to regj@articipant to sign any additional
agreements or undertakings that may be necessapctmnplish the foregoin

15. Waiver. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the @amy of breach of any provision of these RSU Teanmé Conditions shalll
not operate or be construed as a waiver of any pifowision of these RSU Terms and Conditions,fany subsequent breach by
Participant or any other participa

These terms and conditions apply to grants madwe after May 31, 2015.



Exhibit 12.01

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONOSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Unaudited)
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Earnings @
Income before provision for income tay $12,83: $13,70¢ $13,89¢ $12,96. $11,41:
Add: Noncontrolling interest 112 98 112 11¢ 97
Add: Fixed charge 1,19( 96¢ 85( 827 87E
Total earning: $14,137 $14,77(C $14,86( $13,90¢ $12,38!
Fixed Charges(®
Interest expens $114: $ 914 $ 797 $ 766 $ 80¢
Estimate of interest in rent exper 47 54 53 61 67
Total fixed charge $119C $ 96 $ 85C $ 827 $ 87E
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 12x 15x 17x 17x 14x

(@) The term “earnings” means the amounts resulting filee following: (a) our income before provisiom focome taxes, plus (b) the
noncontrolling interests in the net income of owjonity owned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed des.

(@ The term “fixed charges” means the amounts reguftiom the following: (a) our interest expensedisa(b) our estimate of the interest
component of rent expens

We do not report any shares of preferred stock@audiéng in our consolidated financial statementsabese our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsiéisriOur ratio of earnings to combined fixed chaayes preferred dividends for any given
period is equivalent to our ratio of earnings t@fl charges.



Name of Subsidia

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle Global Holdings, In
Oracle America, Inc

Oracle Technology Compai
OCAPAC Holding Compan
OCAPAC Research Partn
OCAPAC Distributor Partne
OCAPAC Hardware Partni

ORACLE CORPORATION
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit 21.01

Place of Incorporatic
California

Delaware
Delaware
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland

Ireland



Exhibit 23.01

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Form S8

Form S-8

Form ¢-8
Form ¢-8
Form S-8

Form &-8
Form &-3
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form ¢-8
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form S-8

Form &4
Form S-8

Form S-8

333202870

333-199617

33:-195502
33:-194705
333-193006

33E-187924
33E-187919
333-186971

333-184062

33:-181023
333-179586

333-179132

333-176986

335176405
333-171939

333-169089

Datalogix Holdings, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plas amended, Connection Engine, Inc. 2010 Eqgndgritive
Plan

1706045 Ontario Limited StOgikion Plan, LiveLOOK, Inc. 2008 Equity IncentiveaR, MICROS Systems, Inc.
1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended, TOA Techndodyie. Fourth Amended and Restated 2003 InceRtian

Blue Kai, Inc. 2007 Stock Plan, TrackSimple, In@08 Equity Incentive Pla
Responsys, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan, as amended, Regpdnc. 2011 Equity Incentive Pl

Oracle Corporation AmendedRestated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Planz&itMobile Inc. 2011 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amend

Acme Packet, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive P

Oracle Corporation AmendedRestated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, Eloqua Lich2806 Stock Option Plan,
Eloqua, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Incentive F

Vitrue, Inc. 2006 Stock Optod Incentive Plan, as amended, Vitrue, Inc. 28tbtk Option and Incentive Plan,
Xsigo Systems, Inc. 2004 Stock P

Taleo Corporation 2004 Stock Plan, Taleo Corponai@09 Equity Incentive Ple

RightNow Technologies, InQ2B8quity Incentive Plan, as amended and restRigthtNow Technologies, Inc.
Amended and Restated 1998 L-Term Incentive and Stock Option PI

Endeca Technologies, Inc. 31068k Incentive Plan, Endeca Technologies, InceAded and Restated 1999
Stock Incentive Plan, GoAhead Software, Inc. 20@ISPlan

FatWire Corporation 2007 Stopkon Plan, as amended , FatWire Corporation is®éonended 1999 Stock
Option Plan, as amended, InQuira, Inc. AmendedRestated 2002 Stock Plan, InQuira, Inc. Amended and
Restated 2002 Stock Plan for Officers and Direc

Oracle Corporation AmendedRestated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive PlanTathnology Group, Inc.
Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan, Ashii@ogy Group, Inc./Primus Knowledge Solutiong,. In
1999 Stock Incentive Compensation P

Phase Forward Incorporatedntliect and Restated 2004 Stock Option and Incentarg Eonvergin, Inc. Israeli
2001 Stock Option Plan, as ament



Form S8

Form &-8
Form &-8
Form &-8
Form S-8

Form &-8
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form S-8

333164734

335-163147

33E-157758

335-153660
333-151045

33E-147400
333-145162

333-142776

333-142225

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive PRam Microsystems, Inc. 1990 Long-Term Equity Inoen
Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. Equity Compensatioguigition Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1988 Direg'to
Stock Option Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1997 émne®tock Option Plan, Afara Websystems, Inc. 20Q0ity
Incentive Plan, Cobalt Networks, Inc. Amended ardtRted 1997 Employee Stock Plan, Forte Softwace,1199¢
Stock Option Plan, Forte Software, Inc. 1997 StOgkion Plan, Gridware, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentiar®
HighGround Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan, Inno8aérnational, Inc. 1992 Stock Incentive Plamd8oft
International, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan,dsolnc. Stock Option Plan, Kealia, Inc. Amended &estated
2001 Stock Plan, Large Storage Configurations, fna@ted 1992 Stock Option Plan, MySQL AB Globah&h
Option Plan 2005, Neogent, Inc. 2001 Stock Incenfilan, Pirus Networks, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan
SeeBeyond Technology Corporation 1998 Stock Plawe®sSpace, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan, Star Division Corporation 1998 &tBtan, Amended and Restated Storage Technology
Corporation 1995 Equity Participation Plan, Stordigehnology Corporation 2004 Long Term IncentivarP|
Tarantella, Inc. 2002 Incentive Stock Option Plearantella, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan, Wavesehnelogies,
Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan, SilveelCSystems, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive F

GoldenGate Software, Inc. 2002 Equity IncentivenPés amende
Primavera Software, Inc. Amended and Restated 388k Option Pla
AdminServer, Inc. 2003 Stock Option PI

BEA Systems, Inc. 1995 Flex@tbck Incentive Plan, BEA Systems, Inc. 1997 IStocentive Plan, BEA
Systems, Inc. 2000 NoQualified Stock Incentive Plan, BEA Systems, IN@0& Stock Incentive Plan, The Thei
Center Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option/3¢sclance Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 1997 Equity
Incentive Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 2002 Stelgn

Bridgestream 1999 Stock Plan, Logical Apps, InQ28&quity Incentive Pla

Agile Software Corporation39$8ck Option Plan, Agile Software Corporation @dnstatutory Stock Option
Plan, The Digital Market, Inc. 1995 Stock P

Hyperion Solutions Corporafi64 Equity Incentive Plan, Hyperion Solutions @woation 1999 Stock Option
Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stocki@p&tock Issuance Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corfama
1992 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Software Corporafi991 Stock Plan, Hyperion Software Corporati®ll
Stock Plan, Decisioneering, Inc. 1997 Stock Opktan, SQRIBE 1995 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Safav
Corporation 1991 Non-Employee Director Stock Opfdan, Brio Software, Inc. 2000 Non-Executive Dicgc
Stock Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Stogkion Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Directors’ &dDption
Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Non-Executive St@ion Plan, Arbor Software Corporation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Pl

Hyperion Solutions Corporafi64 Equity Incentive Plan, Hyperion Solutions @woation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and the Arbor Softwamp@ration 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance |



Form S8

Form ¢-8
Form ¢-8
Form S-8

Form ¢4
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form -4

333-139901

33:-139875
33:-138694
333-136275

33E-132250
333-131988

333-131427

33:-129139

Stellent, Inc. 1994-1997 Stock Option and Compéamsdlan, InfoAccess, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan a
amended September 29, 1999, InfoAccess, Inc. 189k ®ption Plan as amended September 29, 1998 18te
Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Option and Compensatian,Ptellent, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, StellInc.
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock InceRtaug Stellent, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997ciuire
Stock Option Plan, Optika Imaging Systems, Inc.4L.88ck Option /Stock Issuance Plan, Amendmentiok@
Imaging Systems, Inc. 1994 Stock Option/Stock Iasa&lan, Optika Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Stock IneemPlan,
Optika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Amendmen®iptika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Stelldnt. 2005
Equity Incentive Plan, French Annex to the Stellémt. 2000 Stock Incentive Pl:

MetaSolv, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, MetaSolg, loon¢-Term Incentive Pla
SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2005 Option Plan, SRborldGroup Holdings, LLC 2004 Equity Incentive P!

Portal Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plant&@&oftware, Inc. 2000 Supplemental Stock Opftam, Porta
Software, Inc. 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Pda amended and succeeded by the 1999 StocKilrecen
Plan)

Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996t dutentive Plan, Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996 Supplgal Stock Option, Siebel
Systems, Inc. 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, IntendetiVorkPlace, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan, Janrstie®ys Inc
Amended and Restated Share Compensation Plan,eQuftware, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Option and
Compensation Plan, OnLink Technologies, Inc. 19@8ISOption Plan, OnTarget, Inc. 1999 Stock AwalahP
OpenSite Technologies, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Piates.Com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, OgtiGmante(
Outside of Sales.com, Inc. 1999 Equity IncentivenPBalesRepsOnline.com, Inc. 2000 Stock OptionkSto
Issuance Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1991 Statio®Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1995 Directpti@h
Plan

Oracle Corporation AmendedRestated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Planc@r&orporation Amended
and Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, Oraclg@mation 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amen@edcle
Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (1992)nasded and restated, ProfitLogic, Inc. Secondrted
and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as ameRaeg|esoft, Inc. Amended and Restated 1989 Stiack P
Peoplesoft, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, Peoplesoft,2600 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, Peoplesott, 11992
Directors’Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoft, Inc. 2003 Directticck Plan, Intrepid Systems, Inc. 1992 Stock O
Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Incentive Stopkdd Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Nonqualifie
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of our reports dated June 25, 2015, with respetttd@onsolidated financial statements and schexfulizacle Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of Oracle Corporation included in this Amh&eport (Form 10-K) of Oracle
Corporation for the year ended May 31, 2015.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

San Jose, California
June 25, 2015



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark V. Hurd, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nlaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 25, 2015 By: /s/ MARKV.HUurRD

Mark V. Hurd
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL ~ OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nlaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 25, 2015 By: /s/ SAFRAA.CATz

Safra A. Catz
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive and Financial Office



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @eaCorporation for the purpose of

complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}leé Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio® 3% hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Safra A. Catz, the Chief Executive Officer (Priradixecutive Officer and Principal Financial Offizef Oracle Corporation, and Mark V.
Hurd, the Chief Executive Officer (Principal ExeigeatOfficer) of Oracle Corporation, each certiftbat, to the best of his or her knowledge:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of Oracle

Corporation.
Date: June 25, 2015 By: /s/ SAFRAA.CATz
Safra A. Catz
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive and Financial Office
Date: June 25, 2015 By: /s/ MaRrkV.HUrRD

Mark V. Hurd
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer



